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Chairman’s welcome  

 
Welcome to the annual report for 2013/14. The past year was a very challenging one for 

Medway NHS Foundation Trust, though daily examples of outstanding patient care 

continued across the hospital. 

 

Since joining, I have spent much time visiting many areas of the hospital and meeting our 

dedicated staff. Without exception I have been impressed by their skill and commitment. 

However we can’t escape the fact that the Trust has significant issues of both quality 

standards and financial performance that need to be urgently resolved. Previous Board 

leadership has failed to address these issues, and urgent action is now needed to secure the 

long-term future of services at this important hospital. My job, as the new Chairman is to lead 

the board in developing a new vision for a sustainable future. This will require significant 

change in the way we do things, and support from our staff, commissioners, and the local 

community. 

 

I joined the Trust as Chairman with our Chief Executive Nigel Beverley in February 2014 

following intervention by Monitor, so we both have a focus on the future whilst wishing to 

learn from what has happened in the past. I know Nigel’s introduction will concentrate on 

looking ahead so I will focus on looking back over some of the events of the past year.  

 

By April 2013 the Trust had for some time, with its commissioners and regulators, been 

concerned about the need to improve mortality indicators (HSMR) and quality. 

 

As early as February 2013 NHS England had announced its intention of reviewing 14 trusts 

with mortality standards higher for two years than the national standard. In May this 

culminated in an inspection visit to the Trust by a team led by Professor Sir Bruce Keogh, 

NHS England’s Medical Director.   

 

Outcomes of the Keogh review into the quality of care and treatment by 14 hospital trusts in 

England were published on 16 July. In a statement to the House of Commons, Health 

Secretary Jeremy Hunt gave the background to the independent review undertaken by 

Professor Sir Bruce Keogh.  

 

For 11 of the trusts reviewed, including this one, special measures were announced to 

support the delivery of improvement plans. As a result, the delivery of the Quality 

Improvement Plan formed an undertaking on our license with Monitor. 
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On 19 and 20 August a team from the Care Quality Commission visited the Trust’s maternity 

department with a follow-up out of hours visit on 22 August. 

 

The Trust stepped up to major incident status on 5 September following a 130 car accident 

on the Sheppey Bridge.  Casualties from that accident came to Medway Maritime Hospital 

and fortunately there were no fatalities.  The swift response of hospital teams to the incident 

was commended by our partners. 

 

The report of the unannounced CQC visits to maternity in August was published on 23 

October. It required some improvements by 31 December. The report confirmed that: “All the 

women that we talked with expressed their satisfaction with the standards of care they 

received and spoke highly of the midwives and other staff who attended to them.” 

 

On 18 November there was a Keogh risk review summit, to assess progress on our quality 

improvement plan.  

 

At the time of writing (April 2014) the Trust is in the process of re-establishing key priorities 

to improve patient care and at the same time use taxpayers’ money wisely. 

 

The five immediate key priorities agreed by the March 2014 Board are, I know, covered by 

Nigel’s introduction so I will look a little further ahead. 

 

Beyond the immediate priorities for spring and summer 2014 we need to ensure the future 

viability of the Trust to be able to provide high quality services for our communities.  

 

To this end the Board commissioned a review into future clinical and financial sustainability. 

From this we will work with our commissioners and everyone in our local communities to 

agree a viable and important future for the Trust.  

 

The Board will continue to update you on this as we move forward over the coming months. 

 

 

 

Christopher Langley 

Interim Chairman, Medway NHS Foundation Trust 

28 May 2014 
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Chief Executive’s message – looking forward  
 
Monitor, the health service regulator, announced the appointment of Christopher Langley 

and myself as Chairman and Chief Executive respectively in early February 2014. This was 

in response to ongoing concerns about quality and financial performance at the Medway 

NHS Foundation Trust. Since then, we have been working hard with colleagues to address 

those concerns and get the Trust back on track by tackling our immediate priorities and 

implementing a major programme of change, Transforming Medway. We are already seeing 

the benefits of this approach, though we recognise that we are only at the start of our 

journey and we still have a long way to go. 

Based on my experience of working with troubled trusts similar to Medway, I firmly believe 

that running a hospital is about doing the simple things well, with an obsession for 

excellence and a sustainable approach to providing high quality care and value for money. 

That means getting back to basics and making sure that all our activities add value to the 

services that we provide to patients. We fully endorse and wholeheartedly embrace the five 

domains of the CQC inspection process – that our services should be safe, caring, 

responsive, efficient and well-led.  

At our March 2014 board meeting, we agreed the following five immediate priorities – cross 

cutting measures which we want everyone in the Trust to understand and work to.  They are: 

 Basic Standards. We must get the basic standards right for our patients as a prelude 

to raising the bar. Basic standards are crucial to service quality and it is everyone’s 

responsibility – clinical and non clinical colleagues – to get the basic standards of 

care right.  

 Flow. We must ensure that our patients are in the right beds and are discharged 

promptly as soon as is clinically appropriate.  Our achievement of the emergency 

access target in March 2014 shows the immediate benefit to patients of getting this 

right. But we cannot be happy until this is sustained over the longer term. That 

means better internal working. It also means closer working with partners in the local 

community to help with discharge.  

 Recruitment. We must recruit more high quality nurses and clinical staff, and we must 

do it quickly. Historically, we have been too reliant on expensive agency and locum 

staff. The cost of one agency nurse will pay for two NHS employed nurses. 

 Financial Control.  Our objective is to provide high quality care and to use taxpayers’ 

money wisely. We must re-establish control over our costs and cut out waste.  This is 

an urgent priority to ensure the financial sustainability of the Trust and to protect 

services.  
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 Clinical leadership. Good hospitals are run by good clinicians – doctors, nurses and 

other health professionals. Working together with good managers they get the basics 

right and always put the patient first. As an important first step in that direction, we 

are moving to a new divisional structure in May. The four new Divisional Directors are 

all clinicians and will join the Trust Board as non-voting members, increasing the 

clinical membership on the Board to eight.    

These five priorities will underpin all of our activities in the months to come.  If we can make 

the hospital a better place for our staff, it will inevitably become a better place for our 

patients. There is an inextricable link between staff experience and patient experience and 

our focus is, and will remain, on both. 

There are some early signs that we are beginning to get it right. In April 2014 I was able to 

report that, thanks to a great team effort, we achieved the important emergency access 

target of at least 95 per cent of patients waiting no more than four hours for treatment. At the 

same time, a BBC survey showed that we are leading the way in developing seven day 

services (7DS). While many English hospitals have one doctor working at the weekend for 

every 10 doctors they have working during the week, Medway has four doctors working at 

the weekend for every ten doctors working during the week.  

We have also embarked on Transforming Medway, a programme to deliver change to what 

we do, how it is done, and the environment in which it takes place. As part of that 

programme, in March we started work on redeveloping the hospital’s Emergency 

Department, including the creation of an acute assessment unit for patients who do not need 

an inpatient stay. Our plans will see all our emergency services brought together in one 

area, and under one roof.  Key sections will be completed in time for winter 2014/15.  

Since arriving at Medway, I have been impressed by colleagues’ willingness to embrace 

change. I sense a real understanding and acceptance of the challenges facing us and a 

desire to do what we do well even better. I also sense an honest and open acknowledgment 

of the problems we have faced and the challenges ahead. I am encouraged by the reaction 

of colleagues and I am confident that working together as a team we can harness our 

undoubted skills and expertise and return Medway to a hospital where staff are proud to 

work and patients want to be treated. 

 

 

 

Nigel Beverley 

Interim Chief Executive, Medway NHS Foundation Trust  

28 May 2014 
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Strategic report 
 
About us 

Medway NHS Foundation Trust is one of four hospital trusts in Kent. It serves a population of 

just over 268,000 in Medway and almost 138,000 in Swale. The Medway towns incorporate 

the areas of Gillingham, Chatham, Rochester, Strood and Rainham and healthcare needs in 

the region are greater than in most other parts of Kent. Both Medway and Swale have 

witnessed a steady increase in population year on year and it is anticipated that this trend 

will continue, a result of both organic growth and inward migration. 

 

At the end of March 2014, the Trust employed around 4,115 members of staff, making it one 

of Kent’s largest employers. The Trust enjoys the support of 350 active volunteers, 25 

governors and currently has a total of 14,552 members, comprising 10,846 public members 

and 3,706 staff members. 

 

The Trust is committed to bringing its patients healthcare services in line with some of the 

best in the country. The Medway Maritime Hospital site is home to a Macmillan Cancer Care 

unit, the West Kent Vascular Centre, a state-of-the-art obstetrics theatre suite, the Neonatal 

Intensive Care Unit, a Foetal Medicine Centre, a dedicated stroke unit and the West Kent 

Centre for Urology.  

 

Although the Trust has experienced a number of challenges over the past 12 months, it has 

nonetheless delivered some notable achievements, not least with a greatly reduced and 

enviable low rate of hospital acquired infections. At the time of writing this report, the Trust 

had embarked on a major programme of change, Transforming Medway, designed to 

change ways of working across the organisation as well as the environment within which that 

work takes place. We have also developed plans to transform the work of the Emergency 

Department, bringing all emergency services together on one level and under the same roof. 

  

The vision for the Trust is to become a centre of effective, modern healthcare delivery for the 

growing communities it serves. The aim is for the Trust to be recognised as a high-

performing provider of core and specialist health services with a distinctive, patient centred 

and responsive philosophy. The communities and patients who rely upon the Trust deserve 

nothing less. The Transforming Medway programme of change is designed to help the Trust 

and its people achieve just that. 
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The hospital currently has five main clinical directorates under which individual services sit. 

These are:   

 Adult Medicine, including Emergency Department 

 Surgery and Anaesthetics 

 Children and Women 

 Diagnostics 

 Facilities and Clinical Support Services 

 

In May 2014, the Trust will move to a new, more efficient and more patient focused structure 

with four clinical divisions. Those divisional heads, all clinicians, will all sit on the Trust’s 

executive board as non-voting members.  

 

In April 2008, Medway NHS Trust became a foundation trust which means that patients and 

the public can become a member of the organisation and get involved with some of the 

hospital’s work. Including staff members, the Trust now has a membership of over 14,500 

and has embarked on a programme to drive member engagement. 

 

We really value the benefits of foundation trust status and the opportunities it offers. Over 

the past few years, we have built valuable relationships with our local community to improve 

the standards of our services further. We are proud to have a dedicated team of governors 

who are committed to seeing the Trust excel and our membership base is increasing.  

 

Through members and the governors, the Trust is in a better position to listen and respond 

to the views of local people, patients and our staff. As a foundation trust, we remain firmly 

part of the NHS, but have greater freedom from central government control. 

 

Operational performance 

The Trust met the main targets and indicators in relation to patient experience during the 

year. However, we did not meet the maximum waiting time target of four hours in the 

Emergency Department from arrival to admission/transfer/discharge (89 percent achieved 

against a target of 95 percent). We recognise the importance of meeting this key target and 

are putting in plans to effect a satisfactory ongoing solution. 

 

The referral to treatment waiting times should be less than 18 weeks and for non-admitted 

patients, the Trust achieved 97 percent against a target of 95 percent. For admitted patients, 
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the Trust achieved 93 percent against a target of 90 percent. For patients on the incomplete 

pathway, the Trust achieved 96 percent against a target of 92 percent. 

 

Two main safety targets relate to hospital acquired infections. The Trust had a target of no 

cases of MRSA and only one case occurred. The Trust did achieve the target relating to 

clostridium difficile as there were 13 cases against a target of no more than 25. 

 

Targets are in place to measure timeliness of a first outpatient appointment for patients 

suspected of having cancer and for subsequent treatments if cancer is diagnosed. Patients 

suspected of having cancer should be seen within two weeks of a referral being made. The 

Trust saw 94 percent of patients within two weeks against a target of 93 percent. The five 

targets for the timeliness of subsequent treatment have all been achieved. 

 

Financial performance  

The Trust has experienced a very difficult year financially, both in terms of deficit and cash 

flow. It delivered a year end deficit of £10.2m which was adverse to the planned year end 

deficit of £2.1m.   

During the financial year the Trust faced increasing pressures on its resources following the 

announcement of the findings from the Keogh review and the resulting action plan which has 

led to the appointment of additional clinical and nursing staff, on a permanent and temporary 

basis. 

The hospital was subject to two unannounced Care Quality Commission (CQC) visits one in 

Maternity and one in Emergency Department.  The action plan resulting from the Maternity 

review focused on the delivery of the 1:29 midwife to birth ratio.  This required significant 

investment in the service and recruitment to a number of new posts some of which were 

covered by bank and agency in the interim period to ensure delivery of the ratio.   

The Trust had a number of key clinical vacancies in the year which increased the use of 

agency to cover these roles resulting in the Trust using agency to the value of £14.9m in 

2013/14 compared with £6.8m for 2012/13.  

The Trust faced an increased level of pressure from emergency activity towards the end of 

the financial year which is directly related to demand management and an imbalance in the 

hospital’s management of admissions and discharges. This resulted in an increase in the 

numbers of patients remaining in hospital after they ceased to require acute medical care, 

and an increase in the number of cancellations of elective operations due to an absence of 
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available beds. The deficit of £10.2m was returned after the delivery of savings of £4m less 

than the plan of £12.6m.  

During the year the Trust made capital investments to the value of £12.8m against a plan of 

£15m. The investment included expenditure on such projects as the completion of a Gamma 

Camera project, the first phase of replacement of Magnetic Resonance Imaging equipment, 

the commencement of programmes to implement wireless technology within the hospital and 

the preparatory phase for the replacement of the Patient Administration System (PAS).  The 

Patient Administration System project has been the subject of an extensive review and the 

implementation programme will be re-phased to the end of next year. Wireless technology 

will be ongoing through 2014/15. The hospital’s power infrastructure was updated and 

significant structural improvements relating to the Emergency Department and the Acute 

Assessment Unit were completed during 2013/14.  

In order to assist the Trust’s cash flow, £7.9m of additional Public Dividend Capital (PDC) 

was made available in March 2014 to ensure that obligations of payments to creditors and 

salaries to staff could be met.  This injection of cash, offset by the adverse to plan financial 

position enabled the Trust to maintain its cash position. With regards to external validation of 

the Trust’s performance, Monitor assign risk ratings of between one and five to all foundation 

trusts with one being the lowest and five being the highest. During 2013/14 the Trust has 

scored a one.  The Trust was placed in further breach of the terms of its licence by Monitor 

in 2013/14 following the Keogh review and CQC visits. 

The Trust has collated a financial plan for next financial year using a ‘bottom up’ budget 

setting approach.  The Trust has built in a level of activity growth as agreed with the main 

commissioners. The tariff deflator has been applied at 1.5 percent.  The Trust has included 

investment for the Transforming Medway Programme which will see further investment in 

permanent nursing staff to enhance the services provided to patients. This will be supported 

by an extensive recruitment drive for nursing and medical staff to permanently recruit to a 

number of key vacancies. 

In light of the challenging year, the Trust board and senior management are increasing the 

focus on financial controls and control of costs as the Trust moves into 2014/15. Additional 

controls are being implemented to provide a robust level of probity for all elements of 

expenditure and financial management. 

The Trust has submitted the current financial plan to Monitor. However, in view of the scale 

of the financial challenge work has continued with Monitor in order to clarify both the 

requirement for and availability of any financial support. A revised plan will therefore be 

submitted in coming months. 
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Highlights of the year 

Nurses and midwives celebrated 

Nurses and midwives at Medway were celebrated as part of an international day of 

celebration to mark International Nurses’ Day and commemorate the life of Florence 

Nightingale on 8 May 2013. 

 

The atrium was taken over by information stands, homemade cake stalls, and a section 

dedicated to hospital nostalgia. At the heart of the proceedings were the recently launched 

the six Cs of nursing good practice – Care, Compassion, Competence, Communication, 

Courage and Commitment.  

 

Enhanced services for MS patients 

Also in May, multiple sclerosis patients responded positively to their three month experience 

of being able to have investigative treatment and diagnosis at Medway instead of as 

previously at King’s College Hospital.  

 

The repatriation of the MS service not only reduced stress for patients, who may find it 

difficult to travel to receive treatment, but waiting lists were also cut and patients seen more 

quickly. 

  

The introduction of the one stop shop benefited patients as they can now have all 

investigations completed in one day, such as blood tests and lumbar punctures, instead of 

having to schedule multiple appointments. 

 

Research success celebrated 

The research team at Medway Maritime Hospital was in the spotlight as the Trust celebrated 

International Clinical Trials Day.  

 

On 20 May research teams raised awareness of the work they do and promoted Medway as 

a research active organisation. Many departments within the Trust are already involved in all 

kinds of studies, which allow patients to have access to the very latest treatments. 

 

Involvement in one study resulted in the upgrading of an MRI scanner, which enabled people 

in Kent, as well as those in Surrey and Sussex, access to participation in meaningful 

research. Research has blossomed at the Trust over the last few years with a fourfold 

increase in the number of patients recruited into clinical trials.  
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Recognition for Hasib Ahmed 

The Trust congratulated Hasib Ahmed, Clinical Director – Women’s Health, who had been 

designated Visiting Professor to the Faculty of Health and Social Care at Canterbury Christ 

Church University. 

 

Professor Ahmed said: “I am very honoured by this privilege and this is just the beginning of 

a long and fruitful partnership. I am committed to life-long learning and training the 

gynaecological surgeons of the future”.  

 

Earlier in the year Professor Ahmed was awarded a distinction in Master of Science in 

Advanced Gynaecological Endoscopy from the University of Surrey. The Visiting 

Professorship was conferred in recognition of Mr Ahmed’s work in leading the 

gynaecological pathway of the Masters in minimally invasive surgery at Canterbury Christ 

Church University.  

 

Orthotics centre of excellence 

An award-winning department at the Trust dramatically reduced waiting times and improved 

its already exceptional service. 

 

Staff within orthotics worked with NHS Medway Clinical Commissioning Group, to find ways 

to speed up treatment. Patients could now be referred directly by their GP to the department 

for treatment. 

 

This new direct access pathway cut out around 20 stages, which previously stood between 

the GP and the orthotics team, benefitting staff, patients and the effectiveness of the service 

as a whole. It also resulted in waiting times being reduced by 15 weeks. These 

improvements in the service further enhance the department’s ‘South East Centre of 

Excellence’ status.  

 

Surgeons perfect new technique 

For the first time, surgeons at the Trust completed a delicate operation under local 

anaesthetic, a procedure previously carried out under general or epidural anaesthetic. 

The Trust is the only hospital in Kent carrying out percutaneous endovascular aneurysm 

repair (EVAR) for patients with abdominal aortic aneurysm and one of the few hospitals in 

the country performing the procedure under local anaesthetic. 
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Traditionally aortic stent grafts are inserted via surgical incisions in both groins. Surgeons at 

the Trust have been carrying out the procedure without any incision (percutaneous EVAR) 

since early 2012 but until July 2013 all the procedures were done under either general or 

epidural anaesthetic.  

 

Consultant Interventional Radiologist, Dr Anil Madhavan said: “This is a much simpler 

procedure because it is less invasive and, with no need for a general anaesthetic, the 

surgical risk is greatly reduced too.” 

 

New brain scanning technology at baby unit 

New brain scanning technology at the Trust was introduced to brighten the futures of babies 

cared for in the Oliver Fisher Neonatal Unit. The new technology allows the unit to scan the 

brains of babies born with an array of neurological problems and predict how each individual 

is likely to progress in the following years. 

  

This is all made possible using MRI-DTI (Diffusion Tensor Imaging) and MRS (Magnetic 

Resonant Spectroscopy) technology. The scanning is part of a study called MARBLE and 

was initially carried out only at University College Hospital, London. 

  

Medway hosts new network 

The Trust is the first to host a new network which aims to get hospitals in Kent, Surrey and 

Sussex working together and sharing expertise, to improve care for critically ill adults and 

babies.  

  

The Trust was successful in its bid to host the South East Coast Adult Critical Care and 

Neonatal Operational Delivery Network (ODN). The ODNs are one of a number of new 

networks and organisations that form part of the new NHS landscape. They focus on 

building relationships between hospitals, allowing them to share best practice, improve 

quality of care and enhance patient experience, for specific hospital services across a 

geographical area. 

Survey highlights Trust’s quality cancer care 

Cancer patients treated at the Trust provided positive feedback about their care in a national 

survey. The hospital was ranked in the top third of all 155 hospital who took part in the 

National Cancer Patients’ Experience Survey Programme 2012/2013. 

The survey, undertaken by Quality Health on behalf of NHS England, highlighted that 

patients who were cared for at Medway were positive about their experience. 
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New facilities in delivery suite 

All women who give birth at the Trust are now able to do so in a calm and tranquil setting 

thanks to a £225,000 refurbishment project. 

  

The Delivery Suite, which deals with more complex pregnancies, was transformed into an 

environment similar to the hospital’s highly praised midwifery-led unit, The Birth Place. 

  

The refreshed suite enables high risk women to experience the same relaxing surroundings 

as those with problem-free pregnancies. And those who are transferred from the Birth Place 

to the Delivery Suite now have a seamless transition between areas. 

  

Trust success marks Pressure Ulcer Day 2013 

Hard work at the Trust led to a reduction in patients with pressure ulcers – absent from many 

wards for more than a year. Medway staff have won a number of awards in recent years for 

their efforts in this area and the Trust marked their success at Stop Pressure Ulcer Day on 

21 November 2013. 

 

The hospital’s success in reducing pressure ulcers was thanks in particular to the hard work 

of tissue viability nurse specialists. 

 

No more plaster casts for some children with fractures 

From November 2013 some children coming to the Trust with fractured bones no longer 

have to be restricted in a cast, because of a new orthotic collection of boots and braces. 

Medway was specially selected by the brand, Medi Kidz Range from Medi UK, to pilot the kit 

because of the orthotic department’s centre of excellence status. 

 

Dedicated unit for patients with dementia 

In February 2014 the Trust officially opened the new eight bedded unit at the Trust – a 

dedicated unit for patients with dementia. The new unit is located inside Milton Ward with a 

dedicated doctor, occupational therapist and nurses to ensure patients receive tailored care. 

  

Amanda Gibson, Matron for Older People, said: “We’re very proud to be opening a 

dedicated unit to improve the way in which we care for patients with dementia – ensuring 

they have the specialists, facilities and dedicated care they need to support them during their 

hospital stay. This is the first milestone on our journey to improve dementia care across the 

organisation.” 
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Trust is an early adopter of 7 Day Services (7DS) 

Sir Bruce Keogh, Medical Director for NHS England announced the first cohort of early 

adopters as part of the Seven Day Services Improvement Programme (SDSIP) at the 

Delivering NHS Services, seven days a week event in Birmingham on 16 November 2013. 

There was an overwhelming response with over 70 expressions of interest from across the 

health and social care system received from multiples of organisations seeking to become 

early adopters. The Trust was thrilled to have been selected as one of 13 to help lead the 

way. 

 

Future developments 

The Trust has seen a number of successful developments in 2013/14, including the opening 

of the Bernard Dementia Unit, the opening of an improved Admission and Discharge Lounge 

and success in our bids to become both the first host of the South East Coast Adult Critical 

Care and Neonatal Operational Delivery Network, as well as an early adopter of seven day 

services. 

 

The Trust’s focus over the next two years is to be an excellent local hospital, providing the 

highest levels of safety, effectiveness and experience, with particular emphasis on the 

continuous improvement in the way we provide acute care. 

 

We have five immediate priorities: 

 

 Basic Standards.  We must get the basic standards right for our patients.  Basic 

standards are crucial to service quality. It is the responsibility of every single member of 

staff to get the basic standards of care right.  

 Flow. We must ensure that our patients are in the right beds and are discharged 

promptly as soon as is clinically appropriate. Achieving the March 2014 emergency 

access target shows the immediate patient benefit of getting this right. We will be striving 

to achieve the emergency access target throughout 2014/15. 

 Recruitment.  We must recruit more high quality nurses and clinical staff and we must 

do it quickly. 

 Financial Control.  Our objective is to provide high quality care and use taxpayers’ 

money wisely. We must re-establish control over our costs and cut out waste. This will 

ensure the financial sustainability of the Trust going forward.  

 Clinical leadership.  Good hospitals are run by good clinicians; doctors, nurses and 

other health professionals. Working together with good managers they get the basics 

right and always put the patient first. We are delighted to announce that our new 
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divisional structure will take effect from May – and that the four new divisional directors – 

all clinicians - will join the Trust Board.  As a result, the clinical membership on the Trust 

Board will increase to eight. 

 

Following the mutual decision with Dartford and Gravesham NHS Trust not to integrate in 

September 2013, the Trust is currently considering future strategic options. During 2014/15, 

the Trust will be developing its longer term strategic direction, as part of a five year plan. 

 

Trends and factors 

The Trust uses trends and takes into account factors affecting its local area and population, 

to inform its strategy and service development planning. These include demographic, social 

and health trend information. The Trust is committed to working with local stakeholders to 

manage and tailor services to meet the local population’s needs. 

 

Population 

The Office of National Statistics (ONS) produces population estimates based on census 

findings – the latest estimate was released in June 2013, for the 2012 mid-year figure. The 

overall populations of Medway and Swale in 2012 were estimated to be 268,200 and 

137,700 respectively. Figures are provided in the table below: 

 

Medway Swale 

Total Male (%) Female (%) Total Male (%) Female (%) 

268,200 49.6% 50.4% 137,700 49.5% 50.5% 

 
(Source: ONS website - www.neighbourhood.statistics.gov.uk) 

 

Population projections 

Medway Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (July 2013) states: 

 “Even though Medway has a slightly younger population than the national average, 

projections from 2011 to 2021 suggest that the number of people 65 years of age or over will 

increase by 28% to 47,700 and the number of people over 85 years will grow by 30% to 

5,700.The number of people over 65 years with a limiting long-term illness is expected to 

increase by 21% from 2012 to 2020, assuming the age-related prevalence from the 2001 

Census is constant in the future. This will have a significant impact on the demand for health 

services for the management of long term conditions such as dementia, heart disease and 

diabetes as the incidence of these conditions increases with age. There will also be a need 

to increase preventative programmes such as influenza vaccination for the over 65s.The 

http://www.neighbourhood.statistics.gov.uk/
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numbers in other age groups are all expected to increase over the same period with the 

exception of the 15-24 and 40-49 age groups.” 

 

Swale Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) Health Needs Assessment (September 2012) 

states: 

“The predicted trends for the [female] 0-4 and 5-19 age groups within Swale CCG are fairly 

static for the years 2011-2031. The largest predicted rise is in the 65+ population which is 

increasing by almost 8% and the 85+ population is predicted to rise by more than 2%, from 

1.7% to 3.7%. There is a similar picture for males as for females as again; the 0-4 and 5-19 

age groups in the Swale CCG area are fairly static. There is predicted to be a 7.5% increase 

in the 65+ population group and the 85+ age group for males is predicted to increase 

considerably from 0.8% to 2.6% by 2031. This means the projected 85+ male population 

would be three times the current. The very old in any population group will make the highest 

demands on health services. Nevertheless the biggest challenge for any CCG is to engage 

the 65+ age group in their health to prevent premature onset of chronic disease with the risk 

of related complications necessitating increased demand for secondary care based 

treatment. Where diagnoses of chronic diseases are made, it is essential that these 

conditions are identified early so that they can be managed effectively long term in primary 

and community care settings.” 

 

This suggests that the Trust should expect an increase in demand for elderly care services. 

With the population living longer, and therefore having a greater incidence of long-term 

conditions, the Trust will be working closely with primary care and community care providers 

to ensure that such conditions can be effectively managed in the community. 

 

Health and social trends 

In considering the population projections, health and social trends of both Medway and 

Swale, common themes arise. These have been taken into account by the Trust in its 

planning, and include: 

 growing populations with significant increases in the over 65s 

 significant variation in mortality rates and life expectancy across wards, linked to 

deprivation 

 unemployment is a significant issue across both Medway and Swale, which is seen 

as a key factor in driving health and wellbeing and is likely to play a key role in health 

inequalities seen across the populations 

 significant increase in long term conditions among the over 65s is expected, 

particularly around dementia, diabetes and heart disease 
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 the leading cause of death across Medway and Swale is cancer, with particularly 

high rates of lung cancer and colorectal cancer, and 

 circulatory diseases, such as heart attacks, strokes and heart failure, along with 

respiratory diseases, such as Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease (COPD), 

predominantly caused by chronic tobacco smoking, are the next two primary causes 

of premature death in Medway and Swale. 

 

These translate into key challenges for the local health economy over the next few years: 

 chronic conditions, particularly in relation to the increasing elderly population, are 

likely to result in an increase of demand for health and social care 

 management of long term conditions, such as diabetes, dementia, respiratory 

diseases and heart disease, needs to improve across health providers to reduce 

unnecessary hospital admissions and ensure that when these patients are admitted, 

they receive appropriate, high quality care, and 

 a focus on prevention, to reduce the incidence of diseases such as lung cancer 

resulting from smoking, diabetes due to obesity and avoidable emergency 

department attendances and admissions. 

 

The Trust is working with commissioners and other providers across the local health 

economy to review the expected demand for acute services and how provision could be 

improved, including the development of integrated care in the longer term. 

 
Arrangements to govern service quality  

Governance and risk management processes are covered in more detail within the Annual 

Governance Statement, which is presented towards the end of this Annual Report. The Trust 

has reviewed its approach to monitoring service quality and has established directorate and 

board level quality scorecards and has a Board to Ward governance approach through 

which both executive directors and non-executive directors visit clinical areas regularly. The 

Quality Committee supports the Board by gaining assurance on the development and 

monitoring of quality systems to ensure that clinical effectiveness, patient safety and patient 

experience are the key components of all activities of the Trust and there is an executive 

lead for each of these elements of the quality circle. The Quality Committee reviews internal 

and external reports and audits about the Trust’s services and ensures appropriate action is 

planned and implemented. 

 

Each directorate also has its own audit, governance and safety leads, and each directorate 

holds regular directorate governance meetings which are regularly attended by a member of 
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the central governance and risk team. This ensures there is a systematic and focused 

approach which is coordinated and consistent throughout all areas of the Trust.   

Each directorate is required to produce, through its management team and governance lead, 

a monthly statement of its compliance or otherwise with all relevant essential 

standards.  Action plans to address areas of actual or threatened non-compliance are 

completed, along with evidence to support the statements of compliance.  

 

Responsibility for overseeing the assessment of evidence in respect of the essential 

standards has been shared amongst the executive directors through a quarterly governance 

panel. Each governance lead comes before the panel to comment on the monthly 

statements produced by his/her directorate. The governance panel members challenge the 

governance leads and management teams and generally ensure that the information coming 

through from the directorates is robust and reliable.   

 

The panel format, and the allocation of responsibility for particular standards amongst the 

executives, ensures that there is an executive with particular knowledge of each of the 

standards and of the evidence produced by all of the directorates in respect of those 

standards.  

 

Principle risks and uncertainties 

The controls and assurances for managing risk are contained in the Board Assurance 

Framework (BAF) and the corporate risk register.  

 

At the start of 2013/14, the Trust’s BAF was revised in order to identify the principal risks to 

the achievement of the Trust’s strategic objectives for the year and set out mitigation 

plans. The BAF has been re-visited and updated throughout the year to ensure the Board is 

kept informed of threats to its strategic success and assured in respect of the measures in 

place to address those risks.    

 

The BAF is reviewed and updated bimonthly by the company secretary and the lead 

executive for each of the annual corporate objectives that he or she ‘owns’.  At the same 

time, progress against each of the strategic objectives is considered and the Board receives 

a bi-monthly report on both the risk and progress updates. 

 

The Trust’s BAF and associated processes were audited during 2013/14 by the Trust’s 

internal auditors.  
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The corporate risk register also continued to play a significant part in enabling effective risk 

management of the Trust. The corporate risk register was discussed at monthly meetings of 

each executive director and the head of governance and risk. Until October 2013 this was 

supported by monthly risk reviews led by the clinical and executive group and since that time 

at the Integrated Quality Committee. Recommendations are then made to the Board. 

 

Adult inpatient bed capacity 

Patient experience and outcomes arising from adult inpatient bed capacity and flow 

problems have been the most frequently cited top risk on the risk register. The Trust has put 

in place a full programme of measures to address capacity issues, including the 

refurbishment and expansion of the Admission and Discharge Lounge and revised the 

patient pathways in adult medicine to redesign the wards to incorporate short stay and 

specialty specific conditions. The Trust continues to review its resources and their use to 

ensure efficiency and has enlisted the support of the emergency care intensive support team 

in early 2013/14 to help address the capacity risks that have emerged within the Emergency 

Department this year. 

 

Patient care 

The Trust approach to patient safety has been entirely focused on reducing harm and 

avoidable deaths. The Board of Directors recognise that the Trust has an ongoing issue with 

Hospital Standard Mortality Ratio (HSMR) and we are fully committed to both identifying the 

causes and acting swiftly and comprehensively to make improvements. Our results 

demonstrate sustained improvement in certain elements of our patient safety metrics, such 

as swift recognition of patients who deteriorate and management of septic patients. We do, 

however, recognise that our HSMR has not improved correspondingly and we have set 

ourselves significant improvement targets for the year ahead. This improvement work has 

been supported internally by actively engaging with our staff utilising the Listening into Action 

programme, of which the Trust is a national pioneer. 

 

More information on patient safety indicators can be found in the Quality Report, presented 

later in this Annual Report. Complaints handling, staff and patient survey results, service 

developments and targets agreed with the commissions can be found in other sections of 

the report.  

 

Statement as to disclosure to auditors 

For each individual who is a director at the time that the report is approved: 
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 So far as the director is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the 

NHS Foundation Trust’s auditor is unaware; and 

 The director has taken all the steps that they ought to have taken as a director in 

order to make themselves aware of any relevant audit information and to establish 

that the NHS Foundation Trust’s auditor is aware of that information. 

 

Going concern 

International Accounting Standard 1 (IAS1) requires management to assess, as part of the 

preparation of annual accounts, the Trust’s ability to continue as a going concern. With 

regard to the application of this standard within the NHS, the financial statements should 

accordingly be prepared on a going concern basis unless management either intends or has 

no option but to apply to the Secretary of State for the dissolution of the Trust.  

For the year ended 31 March 2014, the Trust has reported a deficit of £10.2m. Prior to the 

end of the financial year the Trust negotiated and received an amount £7.9m Public Dividend 

Capital in order to support the ongoing operating expenses. The Trust is projecting a 

significant deficit for 2014/15. The Directors have prepared detailed cash projections for the 

twelve months to 31 March 2015 that are based on the projected income and expenditure for 

the year. The new Trust Board recognises the financial challenges the Trust faces and has 

initiated a full review of the financial plan for the year to 31 March 2015 in order to assess 

the long term financial sustainability of the Trust.  A revised two year plan to 31 March 2016 

will be submitted to Monitor at the end of June 2014.   

 

The weekly and monthly cash position, together with the detailed future cash flow projections 

are closely monitored by Trust management and the Trust Board. In accordance with this 

process and the revised projections, the Trust will be reviewing both the revenue and capital 

cash requirements.  This may lead to the Trust negotiating with the Department of Health 

and the Independent Trust Financing Facility (ITFF) in order to obtain cash support to assist 

the Trust’s long term funding plan that is supported both by Monitor and by the 

commissioning intentions of the Trust’s principal commissioners.  

 

The Directors are of the opinion that the Trust faces a significant challenge in delivering 

financial and clinical sustainability and is procuring the services of external consultants in 

order to assess the financial and clinical sustainability of the organisation and its long term 

plans for the provision of healthcare services in Medway.  
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The Directors have a reasonable expectation that the Trust will, as a result of this piece of 

work and current negotiations, secure sufficient resources in order to enable the continued 

adoption of the going concern basis in preparing the financial statements.   

 

Community relationships  

The Trust has good relationships with its stakeholders and is committed to maintaining and 

developing these. We have continued to keep in touch with our local MPs, partners and 

authorities.  

 

The Trust is committed to partnership working and wishes to nurture and develop 

relationships further in 2014/15. Through participation in joint working, the Trust intends to 

review how it provides services to patients and will make every effort to re-design and 

enhance services in order to respond to patient choice and commission strategies and 

ensure appropriate and optimum use is made of hospital capacity. The Trust will also utilise 

the valuable resource of its membership to progress these endeavours. 

 

There are numerous channels open to the Trust to capture the views and opinions of its 

stakeholders, including the Friends and Family Test (FFT) completed by patients, the Trust’s 

website, NHS Choices and various patient surveys. We will make full use of these in better 

understanding the needs of our patients and the wider community and make sure that they 

are reflected in future changes and enhancements to the services we provide. 

 

Handling and learning from complaints 

The Trust aims to give each and every patient the very best experience of its services 

possible, in terms of treatment, care and outcomes. However, there are inevitably times 

when the service we provide does not meet the levels that we commit to provide, or that our 

patients, their relatives and their carers quite rightly expect. We treat each complaint very 

seriously, undertaking a thorough investigation in line with the NHS complaints procedure 

and responding to the complainant in a timely, open and honest way that is best and most 

appropriate for them. That could be in writing or through a face to face meeting, sometimes 

both. 

 

We encourage and value feedback, both good and not so good, seeing it as a way of 

identifying areas of good practice and highlighting areas of concern. We capture those 

learnings arising from each complaint and seek ways to share those learnings across the 

Trust. Above all, we see effective complaints handling as a key component of service and 
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performance improvement. That is a message that we continually convey to our people, 

promoting patient feedback as a key driver for change. 

 

During 2013/14, the Trust received a total of 628 formal complaints, an increase of 59 or just 

over 10 percent year on year.  

 

Financial Year Total Number of Complaints Received 

2010-2011 552 

2011-2012 484 

2012-2013 589 

2013-2014 628 

 

Complaints as percentage of activity April 1013 through March 2014 

APRIL  0.09% 

MAY 0.11% 

JUNE 0.12% 

JULY 0.15% 

AUGUST 0.13% 

SEPTEMBER 0.14% 

OCTOBER 0.13% 

NOVEMBER 0.12% 

DECEMBER 0.14% 

JANUARY 0.18% 

FEBRUARY 0.17% 

MARCH  0.15% 

 

The year saw a high level of media coverage, reflecting in part the publicity following two 

CQC inspections. This inevitably increased concern within the local community; especially 

those patients regularly using the hospital’s services, negatively impacting the level of 

complaints. Eleven referrals were made to the Parliamentary Health Service Ombudsman 

during the year, a slight increase year on year. Two of those complaints were partly upheld 

with agreed action plans and two were resubmitted to the Trust for further resolution under 

the complaints process. There were six under investigation at the time of writing. The Trust 

continues to follow the Ombudsman’s Principles of Remedy, including keeping the 

complainant informed at all times. Despite its best intentions, the Trust has struggled to 

honour this commitment historically, but is now confident that this takes place consistently 

across the Trust. 
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We closely monitor the key themes and trends that emerge from those complaints the Trust 

receives. The key theme from complaints during 2013/14 was clinical care and treatment. 

Staff behaviour and communications also continue to be major contributory factors in the 

genesis of many complaints, with no fewer than 316 complaints (just over 50 percent of the 

total) citing communications as the principal or a major factor behind the complaint. The 

Trust recognises that good communication is essential to the quality of treatment and care 

provided to patients and accordingly this is reflected in the new training programme and 

workshops being developed. 

 

Those workshops will include advice and training on the handling of complaints at ward level 

to facilitate a prompt response and on the complaint investigation process in its entirety to 

ensure that concerns are properly and effectively addressed. The workshops also explore 

the emotional touch points of a patient’s journey, using real stories and case studies as a 

learning tool.  

 

We also carried out a review of the complaints process used at the Trust. As a result we 

have introduced changes to complaints handling and the quality of both the investigation and 

the responses provided to the complainant. Those changes include contacting the patient at 

the outset to discuss their concerns and to ensure that the Trust responds in the best and 

most appropriate way possible. We have increased the number of meetings with those who 

raise concerns to discuss and reassure at the initial response stage and, where possible, to 

rebuild confidence in our service. We have also developed a tool to help directorates 

manage the complaints that they receive. 

 

Those complainants who return to the Trust for further resolution of their complaint 

(returners) are monitored using the Datix system to establish the number and level of 

complainants who remain dissatisfied and the reasons why. We also contact the 

complainant, where possible, to discuss their complaint and the resolution they are seeking. 

 

Alongside complaints and direct comment from patients, we also value the feedback that we 

receive through the Friends and Family Test (FFT), a simple comparable test introduced by 

the Trust in April 2013, based on the net promoter score (NPS) to evaluate customer 

service. The quantitative data derived from the NPS is complemented with a second 

question asking the reason for the selection/choice. The resultant qualitative data about 

patients’ experience can inform the Trust where improvements need to be made. The 

Department of Health’s performance target of a 15 percent response rate over the year was 
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only achieved during the latter half of 2013/14, with March 2014 recording the highest 

response rate at 21.3 percent. 

 

During the coming year, the Trust proposes to make further changes with regard to patient 

feedback to ensure that those providing comment are helped in the best and most 

appropriate way for them. Our main emphasis will remain on rebuilding confidence in our 

services where possible while learning and making improvements from the feedback we 

receive. 

 
Sustainability and climate change 

The Trust recognises that due to the scale and diversity of its operations it has the potential 

to significantly affect the environment, both on a local and global scale, so measurement and 

monitoring consumption are key steps in identifying ways to reduce our impact. 

 

There was a slight increase in gas consumption during the 12 months from a total of 47,354 

MWh in 2012/13 to 47,658 MWh in 2013/14 but half of this was to supply our on-site 

combined heat and power plant. We actually reduced our import of electricity from the grid 

by two percent compared to the previous year, which means our overall carbon emissions 

from building use have remained the same, against the trend of an increase across the NHS 

as a whole. This is despite more activity in the year and a greater demand for cooling.  

 

This year was the second year of the Government’s Carbon Reduction Commitment scheme 

and, as we are a large user of electricity, the Trust will have to pay approximately £90,000 in 

2014/15 for the purchase of credits in relation to the carbon we emitted through our activities 

in 2013/14.  However, because our imported electricity was below the threshold for 

participation we are now out of phase 2 of the scheme which will save the Trust 

approximately £120,000 a year for the next five years. 

 

We continued with implementing further energy saving initiatives, including extensive work to 

re-fit and protect radiator controls, more LED lighting upgrades, motor controls, insulation of 

equipment and buildings, and air curtains in the front entrance to reduce heat loss.  We have 

also carried out programming improvements to the site wide building management system. 

 

Last year we continued with our workplace mentoring of a sergeant from Brompton Barracks 

RSME training for his clerk of works ticket. Over a six week period we were able to give real 

life experience of equipment and environmental controls to enable them to put into practice 

their academic training prior to being qualified to work in the field, UK or elsewhere. Last 

year our trainee designed a bespoke radiator bracket to protect thermostats from damage 
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from passing traffic which we have had manufactured and are installing across the site.  The 

energy team again assisted Mid Kent College in running their sustainability module and 

providing learning support in the classroom. 

 

Valuing our staff 

Workforce statistics 

We are one of largest employers in Kent with 4,115 staff from a variety of backgrounds. Sixty 

seven percent are clinical staff, comprising 30 percent qualified nursing, 12 percent medical 

and dental, three percent allied health professionals and 22 percent other clinical. Thirty 

three percent are non-clinical staff groups incorporating 11 percent maintenance and 22 

percent administrative and clerical staff. 

2013/14 data 

Ethnicity – Trust Data 

White 3114 75.67% 

Asian 434 10.55% 

Black or black British 149 3.62% 

Mixed 69 1.68% 

Other 349 8.48% 

Total 4115 100% 

 

The tables below show the national data by ethnicity 

Medical staff 

% White % Asian or Asian 

British 

% other ethnic 

group 

% unknown 

ethnicity 

33.13% 36.61% 20.25% 10.02% 

 

Non-medical staff 

% White % Asian or Asian 

British 

% other ethnic 

group 

% unknown 

ethnicity 

81.41% 7.03% 6.81% 4.74% 

 

Gender – Trust Data  

Female 3,342 81.22% 

Male 773 18.78% 

Total 4,115 100% 
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The tables below shows national data by gender 

Medical staff 

% Female % Male 

43.15% 56.85% 

 

Non-medical staff 

%  Female % Male 

86.35% 13.65% 

 

Age breakdown of staff employed 2013/14 

Age band   

20-24 254 6.17% 

25-29 498 12.10% 

30-34 461 11.20% 

35-39 493 11.98% 

40-44 530 12.88% 

45-49 549 13.34% 

50-54 588 14.29% 

55-59 436 10.60% 

60-64 218 5.30% 

65-69 71 1.73% 
Age 70 & 
above 5 0.12% 

Under 20 12 0.29% 

Grand Total 4,115 100% 
 

Board of Directors data by gender 

%  Female % Male 

32% 68% 

 

The table above reflects the gender diversity of the Board during 2013/14 which was subject 

to significant change. 
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Staff survey and other engagement mechanisms 

In 2013/14 the Trust employed a number of staff engagement mechanisms to continue 

improving the staff experience of working at the Trust, including the National Staff Survey, 

GMC Survey, Listening into Action methodology, cultural barometer checks and the 

introduction of a new online-forum called Inspire Medway.   

 

Our key principle is for transformational change to be driven from the bottom up, through the 

hearts and minds of staff wanting Medway to be a better place for colleagues to work and 

patients receive treatment.  Cultural barometer checks in 2013 showed improvements in 

eight out of 10 key areas around involvement and empowerment of staff in change since 

2012.   

 

The Trust also employs a wide range of internal communications channels for informing and 

involving colleagues, including a staff intranet, daily and weekly e-bulletins and e-mails, and 

a regular staff magazine. Medway also uses a monthly cascade briefing system led by the 

Chief Executive and there are regular open forums for all colleagues to attend and put 

questions to the Trust Chairman and Chief Executive. 

 

Staff Survey outcomes 

The Trust participated in the eleventh national staff survey from October to December 2013. 

This survey ranks the Trust compared to other acute trusts on 28 key findings. 

 

The Trust had an overall response rate of 46 percent in the National Staff Survey (compared 

with a response rate of 43 percent in 2012), providing statistically significant information in 

relation to the perceptions of our staff and the underpinning culture and behaviours.  Despite 

a tough year with attention and increased scrutiny arising from Keogh, CQC inspection 

outcomes and the media, the staff survey results were largely unchanged from 2012, with 

three statistically significant changes out of a possible 28 key findings. Overall engagement 

for 2013 was 3.64 (3.61 for 2012) compared with 3.74 nationally for acute trusts. 

 

The Trust improved in two areas: ‘support from immediate managers’ (now in the top 20 

percent of all trusts) and ‘work pressure felt by staff’. The Trust had one negative change in 

the ‘number of staff having health and safety training in the last 12 months’, which the Trust 

is immediately taking action on by aligning itself with the national skills for health 

recommendations from 1 April 2014, which requires all staff to have this training every three 

years.   
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Five top ranking scores 

 

Key factor Trust 2012 Trust 2013 
National 

average 2013 

Percentage of staff experiencing 
physical violence from patients, 
relatives or the public in the last 12 
months 

15% 12% 15% 

Score (out of 5) for staff receiving 
support from immediate managers 3.51 3.64 3.73 

Percentage of staff having well-
structured appraisals in the last 12 
months 

37% 43% 38% 

Percentage of staff saying hand 
washing materials are always 
available  

63% 63% 60% 

 
Staff job satisfaction score (out of 5) 3.51 3.61 3.60 

 

Five bottom ranking scores  

 

Key factor Trust 2012 Trust 2013 
National 

Average 2013 

Percentage of staff receiving health 
and safety training in last  

12 months 
69% 60% 76% 

Percentage of staff experiencing 
harassment, bullying or abuse from 

staff in last 12 months 
29% 30% 24% 

Percentage of staff appraised  
in last 12 months 82% 76% 84% 

Staff recommendation of the trust as a  
place to work or  

receive treatment (score out of 5) 
3.44 3.44 3.68 

Percentage of staff believing the trust 
provides equal opportunities for 

career progression and promotion 
88% 83% 88% 
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Disappointingly, while the percentage of colleagues who had experienced physical violence 

from patients, relatives or the public over the past 12 months was in the 20 percent of worst 

performing acute trusts, the percentage of staff reporting that they had experienced 

harassment, bullying or abuse from patients, relatives or the public and also from colleagues 

remained unchanged year on year – among the worst performing trusts. Those and other 

areas where the trust underperforms its peers will continue to be reviewed in more detail 

with appropriate actions and interventions overseen by the Workforce Committee. 

 

The Trust is committed to continuous improvement and managers are being encouraged to 

consider the findings of all their listening exercises and surveys (including the National Staff 

and GMC survey), and involve their staff in shaping local improvement plans to complement 

the corporate culture and people experience plan.   

 

Future priorities and targets 

The Trust continues to use the findings and data that emerge from the staff survey and other 

engagement mechanisms to inform its development plans and introduce changes, 

recognising that patient experience is inextricably linked to treatment and experiences of 

colleagues. 

 

Last year, our action plans included the introduction of a core set of behaviours for everyone 

working at Medway, the continuation of work to embed a new appraisal system across the 

Trust, and a revision of its approach to bullying and harassment by promoting respect. Some 

of that action has delivered real benefits, especially around well structured appraisals and 

support from immediate lines managers. However, despite some progress, the findings also 

highlight a number of areas for development over the year ahead. 

 

Those include further action around bullying and harassment, improved incident reporting 

and feedback, increased perception around equal opportunities in recruitment and 

promotion, appraisal and better communication between senior managers and staff. These 

and other actions will be driven by local as well as corporate action plans. Staff will continue 

to be fully involved in all of the actions emerging from the Staff Survey and other 

engagement interventions.  

 

Improving Working Lives 

The Improving Working Lives (IWL) standard is a commitment by the Trust to create a well-

managed flexible working environment which supports staff and respects the need to 

develop a healthy working environment. We believe that every member of staff has a right to 
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work in an organisation that commits to caring for and developing its staff. The Trust’s staff 

are its greatest asset and we realise that improving work/life balance contributes to 

enhanced patient care. 

The Trust has continued to reward the commitment and hard work of staff who go the extra 

mile to improve the experience patients have when they use our services through the team 

and employee of the month awards. These awards are presented by a member of the Trust 

Board and a member of the IWL group in the workplace. Staff are recognised amongst peers 

by way of verbal recognition from a member of the executive team, and receive a certificate 

and a small financial reward. 

The IWL group held the annual awards celebration evening where a number of individuals 

and teams were presented with awards to highlight the amazing work undertaken and also 

to celebrate long-service commitments to the Trust.  A staff member commented that “the 

awards night is an excellent opportunity for staff to be celebrated”.  The agenda for the 

coming year includes: 

 continuing to highlight and reward the excellent work undertaken by our staff  

 promotion of extensive list of discounts for Medway staff 

 working with the Trust Board to develop an action plan and implement any findings to 

improve the results of the staff survey 

 continue with commitment to deliver a work plan to improve the working lives of our 

staff – examples of these are investments in staff areas and projects suggested by 

staff 

 continue to develop an effective work plan to improve the working lives of our staff 

 supporting health and wellbeing initiatives such as healthy eating groups, and 

subsidised exercise classes via the occupational health team. 

 

The Trust will provide support and opportunities for staff to maintain their health, wellbeing 

and safety, and is keen to engage staff in decisions that affect them and the services they 

provide, individually, and through local partnership working.  All staff will be empowered to 

put forward ways to deliver better and safer services for patients and their families. 

 

Equality, diversity and human rights 

The Trust is committed to equality of opportunity for everyone and strives to provide an 

environment free from discrimination, harassment or victimisation and one where everyone 

receives fair and equal treatment regardless of race, sex, disability, age, religion or belief, 

sexual orientation, gender reassignment, pregnancy and maternity and marriage and civil 
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partnership, collectively known under the Equality Act 2010 as the protected characteristics, 

in relation to care, treatment and support. 

 

The Trust has again been awarded the Disability Symbol; part of this means that disabled 

applicants will be given an interview for a job if they meet the essential skills criteria for that 

post. The Trust is, therefore, committed to guaranteeing an interview for all disabled 

applicants meeting essential criteria for the role. In order for the individual to receive an 

invitation to attend for interview under this criterion, they must disclose that they have a 

disability on their application form. 

 

The Trust is committed to continuously improving the patient experience and treatment 

outcomes of the diverse community it serves. An important part of this is the development 

and harnessing of the skills of a diverse workforce to improve understanding of what is 

important to people who use the Trust’s services, based on their needs and preferences. 

 

The Trust published a revised Single Equality Scheme for 2011/2014 in March 2011. The 

scheme sets out the Trust’s commitment to taking equality, diversity and human rights into 

account in everything we do and supports the Trust’s strategic objectives, legislative 

responsibilities and the requirements of its regulators. It also delivers a coherent plan for 

embedding equality, diversity and human rights into the work of the Trust and ensuring that 

we have in place the systems needed to monitor progress and report on our outcomes and 

achievements.  

 

The Trust’s equality, diversity and human rights training needs analysis has been updated to 

ensure that training is required for all staff on a two yearly basis from April 2014. 

 

The above activities demonstrate the Trust’s commitment to delivering equality of 

opportunity for all service users, carers, staff and the wider communities, ensuring this 

commitment is at the heart of the Trust. 

 

Regulatory ratings  

Financial Risk Ratings (FRR) 

As a Foundation Trust, we are required to provide Monitor, the Foundation Trusts’ regulatory 

body, with quarterly reports on our performance. During 2013/14, Monitor replaced the 

Compliance Framework with the Risk Assessment Framework and the Trust’s declarations 

to Monitor were as follows: 
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 Plan Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 

Under the compliance framework    
Financial Risk 

Rating 
3 3 3   

Governance 
Risk Rating Amber 

Green 
Red Red   

Under the risk assessment framework    
Continuity of 

Services 
 

  2 2 

Governance    Red Red 

 

Financial Risk Ratings (FRR) and Continuity of Services Risk Rating (COSRR) 

During the first six months of 2013/14 the Trust achieved an FRR of three which meant that 

the Trust has delivered its FRR in accordance with the 2013/14 Annual Plan.  

 

From quarter 3 the Risk Assessment Framework replaced the Compliance Framework and 

as such the FRR was replaced by the COSRR.  The effect of this is where the FRR was 

intended to identify breaches of trusts’ terms of authorisation on financial grounds, the 

COSRR will identify the level of risk to the ongoing availability of key services. The COSRR 

is derived from two elements – liquidity which represents days of operating costs held in 

cash or cash-equivalent forms and capital servicing capacity, the degree to which the 

organisation’s generated income covers its financing obligations.  

 

The Trust achieved a COSRR Rating of 2 (from a score of 4 with 4 being the highest) in the 

final two quarters due to the reported financial position, which in terms of the risk rating, was 

a position whereby the Trust did not generate enough resources to cover its financing 

obligations of the PDC dividend, loan and lease repayments. 

 

The Trust has maintained its liquidity position during 2013/14. However, this was supported 

by a £7.9m non repayable injection of Public Dividend Capital. It remains the policy of the 

Trust to maintain trade creditors at the lowest and most effective operating levels whilst also 

maintaining effective levels of liquidity. Prioritisation is given to the payment of non NHS 

trade creditors in order to ensure continuity of supply at all times. 
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Governance risk ratings 

The Trust’s consistent ‘red’ governance risk rating throughout 2013/14 arose from the Trust 

being in significant breach of its 95 percent target for patients spending less than four hours 

in the Emergency Department (ED). 

 

Additionally, a new provider licence was introduced by Monitor in April 2013.  Conditions 

have been placed on the Trust’s licence in relation to both failure to meet the four hour 

emergency target and challenges with achieving the required financial position in 2013/14.  

In response, the Trust has developed and implemented an urgent care action plan and a 

financial governance plan in 2013/14 in order to address conditions placed on the provider 

licence.  There are ongoing conversations with Monitor to resolve issues and ensure that 

implemented actions are leading to embedded and sustainable improvement. 

 

For 2014/15, the Trust continues to focus on improving performance in relation to the four 

hour ED target.  The Trust is also continuing to develop a robust financial plan and position 

for the short to medium term in order to achieve a Financial Risk Rating of at least 3 on a 

sustainable basis.  Also the Trust is in the process of developing its long term strategy over 

the next five years to ensure clinical and financial stability and viability. 

  

Income disclosures required by Section 43(2A) of the NHS act 2006(As 

amended by the Health and Social care Act 2012) 

The Trust has complied with the requirement of section 43(2A) in that income from the 

provision of goods and services from the purposes of the health service in England is greater 

than its income from the provision of goods and services for any other purposes. The levels 

of other income received by the Trust has had little or no impact upon the its provision of 

goods and services for the purposes of the health service in England. 

 

 

 

 

Nigel Beverley 

Interim Chief Executive 

On behalf of the Board of Directors 

28 May 2014 
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Directors’ Report 

Board of Directors 
 
The Foundation Trust is run by a Board of Directors, comprising a non executive chairman 

and up to six other non executive directors and up to six executive directors. 

 

The Board meets monthly and its role is to determine the overall corporate and strategic 

direction of the Trust and ensure the delivery of the Trust’s goals. 

 

The Board of Directors is responsible for the day to day running of the hospital and 

delivering its key objectives and longer term strategic aims. 

 

The Board of Directors has reserved powers to itself covering: 

 Regulation and control 

 Appointments and dismissals of committees and members of committees that are 

directly accountable to the Board, executive directors, company secretary 

 Strategy, plans and budgets 

 Policy determination 

 Audit 

 Annual Report and accounts 

 Performance monitoring. 

 

The Board has an approved Scheme of Delegation which includes a schedule of items 

reserved to the Board. In turn the Board delegates some of its powers to its committees. The 

arrangements for delegation are set out in the Trust’s Standing Orders and Scheme of 

Delegation. The constitution and terms of reference of these committees and their specific 

powers are approved by the Board of Directors. The Board committees are all assurance 

committees with the exception of the Nominations and Remunerations Committee and the 

Integrated Audit Committee. The Board approves the terms of reference and the 

appointments to each of these committees which it has formally constituted. All Board 

committees have a non-executive chair. 

 

Decisions delegated to the Board of Directors 
 
During the year, the Clinical Executive Group (CEG), consisting of clinical directors and 

executive directors met monthly and was chaired by the chief executive. Its purpose was to 

ensure that the objectives agreed by the Board were delivered and to analyse the activity 

and performance of the Trust against the business plan to ensure that duties are 



 
 

34 
  

appropriately delegated to the senior management team and actions monitored. It also 

ensures that the key information from external bodies is discussed, actions identified and 

messages disseminated appropriately across the organisation. 

 

Since May 2014, the role and operation of the CEG has been reviewed and subsequently 

replaced by a formal Trust Management Team, led by the chief executive, with the executive 

directors, clinical and divisional representation 

 

During the last twelve months there have been considerable changes to the Board of 

Directors. The Board has given careful consideration to the range of experience and the 

skills required to run an NHS Foundation Trust and, as a result, has a good balance in place. 

However, it will continue to analyse its skills during the next financial year to ensure this 

remains the case. 

 

Directors of Medway NHS Foundation Trust 2013/14 
 

Christopher Langley Non Executive Director and Interim Chairman 
John Sands Non Executive Director 
Jan Stephens Non Executive Director 
Martin Jamieson Non Executive Director 
Colin Wilby Non Executive Director 
Shena Winning8 Non Executive Director 
Dr Andrew Burnett9 Non Executive Director 
Tony Moore10 Non Executive Director 
  
Nigel Beverley Interim Chief Executive 
Steve Hams Chief Nurse 
Jason Seez Director of Strategy and Infrastructure 

Phil Barnes Medical Director 
David Miekle Director of Finance 
Raj Bhamber Director of Organisational Development and 

Communications  
Mark Morgan Interim Director of Operations 
  
Andy Brown1 Interim Director of Human Resources 
Susan Osborne2 Interim Director of Nursing 
Gray Smith Laing3 Medical Director 
Jane Sutherland4 Interim Director of Operations 
Patrick Johnson4 Director of Operations/Deputy Chief Executive 
Mark Devlin5 Chief Executive 
Denise Harker6 Non Executive Director and Chairman 
Caroline Becher7 Non Executive Director 
 

1. Andy Brown, interim director of human resources until 3 May 2013. 
2. Raj Bhamber joined as the director of organisational development and 

communications on 7 May 2013. 
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3. Susan Osborne, interim director of nursing until 30 June 2013. Steve Hams 
commenced as chief nurse on 1 July 2013. 

4. Phillip Barnes, medical director, commenced in August 2013, replacing Gray Smith 
Lang who retired on 30 September 2013. 

5. Patrick Johnson, director of operations left the Trust on 30 September 2013 and was 
replaced by Jane Sutherland on an interim basis until 31 March 2013.  Mark Morgan 
was appointed as successor interim director on 10 February 2014.  

6. Mark Devlin resigned as chief executive on 31st January 2014 and was replaced by 
Nigel Beverley as an interim appointment on 11 February 2014. Mark Devlin was 
contracted until 31 March 2013. 

7. Denise Harker resigned as chairman on 31st January 2014 and was replaced by the 
interim appointment of Christopher Langley on 11 February 2014.Denise Harker was 
contracted until 31 March 2013. 

8. Caroline Becher commenced as a non executive director on 1 December 2013. 
9. Adrian Horwood was non-executive director until May 2013 and replaced by Shena 

Winning who was formally appointed on 1 December 2013. 
10. Graham Clayden was non-executive director until 31 January 2014.  Andrew Burnett 

joined as NED designate in December 2013, taking over from Graham as non-
executive director on 1 February 2014. 

11. Tony Moore was formally appointed on 1 December 2013 as NED designate until 
May 2014, when he replaced Colin Wilby as non-executive director. 

 

The performance of the Board is evaluated by annual appraisal. The annual skills audit was 

conducted and identified skills gaps was reviewed by the Nominations and Remuneration 

Committee and led to a number of new director appointments. The Committee also has 

responsibility for reviewing the size, structure and composition of the Board on an annual 

basis, and makes recommendations to the Board and Council of Governors for change. 

Directors have individual appraisals and professional development reviews. Development 

sessions have also been introduced after some Board meetings. The Board also held five 

Board away days during the year in order to consider strategic issues.  

 

Board Appointments and Directors in post on 31 March 2014 
 

Christopher Langley 

(Trust Interim Chairman and Non-Executive Director) 

Christopher Langley is an experienced chairman and CEO. In 2009 he was appointed by 

Monitor as turnaround chairman at Heatherwood and Wexham Park Hospitals Foundation 

Trust, where he led the transformation of a loss-making Foundation Trust hospital. More 

recent he was interim chairman at the Rotherham NHS FT where he rebuilt board 

governance and helped the Trust create a five year strategic plan. 

He made the leap from private industry following a period as a non-executive on the Board 

at the North Middlesex Hospital over six years ago. He has a unique perspective on the NHS 

following a successful career running some well-known high street retailers including the 

Dixons store chain where he was managing director. 
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Christopher is currently CEO of Asteral Ltd, a supplier of managed equipment services to 

hospitals, and runs a coaching and turnaround business advising NHS Boards.   

Appointment: 11 February 2014. 

Membership of committees: Nominations and Remuneration Committee & Performance & 

Investment Committee. 

 

Caroline Becher 

(Non-Executive Director and Deputy Chair (from December 2013)) 

Caroline has executive level board experience as chief nurse and director of nursing in three 

acute hospitals. Caroline’s career demonstrates accomplished strategic and operational staff 

management, major change, commissioning and chairing higher level committees. National 

surveys have shown high levels of patient and staff satisfaction in Trusts where she has 

been accountable.  

 

She has recently been a non-executive director for the Sussex Community Trust where she 

was also chair of their quality committee. She also provides freelance management and 

nursing consultancy predominantly in acute trusts. Caroline commenced with the Trust on 1 

December 2013.   Appointment: 1 December 2013 

 

Membership of committees:  Nominations & Remuneration Committee, Quality 

Committee, Workforce Committee. 

 

Martin Jamieson 

(Non-Executive Director) 

Starting as a sales and marketing professional, Martin has worked within the pharmaceutical 

and medical device industry for the majority of his career. Over the past 16 years he held a 

number of managing director roles within Smiths Group (an FTSE 100 company), notably as 

managing director for Portex Limited and Smiths Medical International Limited, which both 

have their headquarters in Kent. Throughout this period Martin was responsible for the 

commercial activity, manufacturing operations and research and development for the 

business in over 100 international markets. These included Europe, USA, Japan and 

increasingly China and India. As a result, he has extensive experience of a large number of 

healthcare systems across the world, not least the NHS. 
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Outside Martin’s daily working life he has been deputy and then chairman of the 

Confederation of British Industry (CBI) in the South East. For over ten years, Martin was also 

a director of the Smiths Industries pension fund. He then joined Country Land and Business 

Association as director general. 

 

Martin was recently appointed as chief executive at Rayner Intraocular Lenses. Rayner has 

an unparalleled history of uninterrupted manufacture of acrylic implants for cataract surgery 

for over sixty years. With the help of worldwide charity organisations, Rayner’s intraocular 

lenses have restored sight to hundreds of thousands in the developing world.  

Appointment: 22 December 2010 

 

Membership of committees: Performance and Investment Committee and Nominations 

and Remuneration Committee.  

 

Jan Stephens 

(Non-Executive Director) 

Jan joined Kent Police in 1975 and served for around 36 years as a police cadet, police 

officer and then as a police manager until November 2011. She first worked in the Medway 

towns in 1988 returning twice in the 90s and finally in 2006 when she was appointed as 

Medway’s area commander (chief superintendent) before retiring in 2008. Jan has also 

served in Swale as chief inspector of operations and then area commander between 2001 

and 2003. Her policing career was varied including senior management roles covering 

uniform operations, crime investigations and partnership working. 

 

After retiring as a police officer Jan was appointed as the policy and governance manager 

for Kent Police which included liaison with Kent Police Authority and coordination of the 

force’s policies. 

 

Jan has lived in Medway since 1988 and is a trustee of Medway Youth Trust (a charity 

delivering employment and career guidance services together with other development 

opportunities for young people). She is director of a local residents’ management company.  

Appointment: 1 August 2011 

 

Membership of committees: Nomination and Remuneration Committee, Quality 

Committee, Workforce Committee (chair), Integrated Audit Committee and non-executive 

lead for security.  
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John Sands 

(Non-Executive Director) 

John’s business background is in social housing in the local authority and voluntary sectors. 

 

Until his retirement John was chief executive of mhs homes group, a major Medway 

business. His particular interest in the Trust is the development of a brilliant patient 

experience. 

 

Among his other activities, John is chair of Gallions Housing Association and a member of 

the finance committee of the Dean and Chapter of Rochester Cathedral.   

Appointment: 7 July 2009 

 

Membership of committees: Integrated Audit Committee, Nomination and Remuneration 

Committee, Quality Committee (chair from January 2011), Workforce Committee, Patient 

Safety Committee, Patient Experience Committee.  

 

Colin Wilby 

(Non-Executive Director) 

Colin has a varied business background in manufacturing industries, working for large 

companies, including Lucas, Associated British Foods and Nestle, in personnel, operations 

and general management roles. Most recently, Colin was managing director of a business 

unit within RHM plc, based in Gillingham. 

 

Colin now holds a portfolio of non-executive roles, including appointments with Kent 

Probation, the RICS and the Office of the Independent Adjudicator for Higher Education. He 

was also chair of the independent remuneration panel for Tonbridge and Malling Borough 

Council, Sevenoaks District Council and Tunbridge Wells Borough Council from 2007 to 

2013. 

 

Colin is also the senior independent non-executive director for the Board of Directors.  

Appointment: 1 July 2007 to 1 May 2014 

 

Membership of committees: Performance and Investment Committee (chair), Integrated 

Audit Committee, Nomination and Remuneration Committee.  
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Shena Winning 

(Non-Executive Director) 

Shena Winning is a chartered accountant with more than 30 years commercial experience 

gained in the retail sector, latterly as CFO for Carpetright plc. 

 

Over the past eleven years Shena has been engaged in a portfolio of consultancy and non-

executive positions in listed, mutual, charitable and public sector organisations. Notably she 

was a non -executive director and chair of the audit committee for Swallowfield plc for the 

period from October 2003 to February 2005, and non-executive chair of the board from 

March 2005 to April 2011.  

 

Her first experience of working with the NHS was as a non-executive director and chair of 

the audit committee for South East Coast Community Health Trust for the period from March 

1996 to September 1998. She was appointed as a non- executive director and chair of the 

Audit Committee at Queen Victoria NHS Foundation Trust in October 2003 following grant of 

Foundation Trust status and continued to sit on the board until March 2014.  

On 1st January 2014 Shena was appointed as a strategic advisor to South London 

Commissioning Support Unit. 

 

Shena was appointed to the board of the Trust on 1 December 2013 and Chairs the 

Integrated Audit Committee for the Trust, is a member of the Performance & Investment 

committee and a member of the Nominations and Remuneration committee.  

Appointment: 1 December 2013 

Membership of committees:  Integrated Audit Committee (Chair), Performance & 

Investment Committee, Nominations & Remuneration Committee. 

 

Andrew Burnett 

(Non-Executive Director) 

Andrew is an experienced medical director and director for public health. His career has 

developed from GP principal, through director roles at Kent Family Health Services 

Authority, senior roles at the Department of Health and KPMG, executive director roles at 

Barnet PCT and an associate medical director role at Bart’s Health.  

 

With some 12 years recent executive director board-level experience, Andrew now provides 

interim public health consultant and postgraduate medical training services working with 

local authorities, CCGs, acute trusts and with Health Education England's London School of 

General Practice.   
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He commenced his post on 1 December as a designate non-executive director and became 

a full non-executive director during 2014.   

Appointment: 1 December 2013 

 

Membership of committees: Nominations & Remuneration Committee and Quality 

Assurance Committee. Andrew is also the designated NED for the Maintaining High 

Professional Standards Process. 

 

Tony Moore 

(Non-Executive Director designate) 

In April 2013, Tony relinquished his full-time position as vice-president Europe, Middle East 

and Africa with Kimberly-Clark Corporation. Tony was a Director and Chairman of Kimberly-

Clark Pension Trust Limited for eight years. In November 2013, he was appointed a Director 

of the Valley Invicta Academy Trust and appointed Chairman in May 2014.  

 

Tony, a chartered accountant, commenced as a designate Non-Executive Director on 1 

December 2013, and formally took up the appointment from 1 April 2014. 

Appointment: 1 December 2013 

 

Membership of committees: Nominations & Remuneration Committee, Performance & 

Investment Committee. 

 

Nigel Beverley 

(Interim Chief Executive) 

Nigel has a long and successful career in health management, mainly in the NHS, spanning 

40 years. During this time he has held a number of CEO level positions in acute trusts in 

London and the South East. He also has extensive experience in system- wide 

commissioner roles at a regional level.  

 

Latterly, Nigel has gained extensive experience in the commercial healthcare market in 

business development and sales roles in the IT sector. 

 

Recently Nigel has undertaken a number of interim CEO roles in the NHS, latterly in Ipswich 

Hospital.  Nigel’s specific areas of expertise span recovery/performance improvement, 

strategic system wide change management and transformation.  

Appointment:  11 February 2014 
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Raj Bhamber 
(Director of Organisational Development and Communications) 

Raj has obtained the following qualifications:  BA from the University of British Columbia, 

Vancouver and MSc in Human Resources Leadership. 

 

Raj has enjoyed a wide variety of roles in pharmacy, cable television, banking, the 

Manpower Services Commission and the Hotel and Catering Training Board. Raj has held a 

number of Board level workforce and organisational development appointments in both the 

NHS (acute, health authority and primary care) and further education as well as a 

secondment opportunity at the Department of Health.  She is a Fellow of the Chartered 

Institute of Personnel and Development; the Law and Business Faculties at Kingston 

University and is an ambassador of the Public Appointments Network for the Government’s 

Equalities Office.  

 

Raj is co-chair of the Medical Workforce Forum (NHS Employers) and a member of the 

Professional Standards Board (Department of Health). 

 

Raj joined the Trust in May 2013 as designate executive director for organisational 

development and communications for the proposed North Kent Hospitals Trust. Before 

joining Medway, Raj was director of workforce and organisational development at Ashford 

and St Peter’s Hospitals NHS Trust as well as the Trust's project director for the Monitor 

(independent regulator) phase of applying for foundation trust status.   

Appointment: 7 May 2013 

 

Mark Morgan 

(Interim Director of Operations) 

After originally training as a psychiatric nurse, Mark comes with significant experience of 

working at a senior level in the NHS, including four years as a chief executive. He is a long 

established operational executive, experienced at working in many hospitals, with hands-on 

experience in a number of areas.  

 

Mark has a highly visible management style and values good working relationships with 

nurses, clinicians and other frontline staff, as well as stakeholders in the local health 

economy, to ensure effective delivery of care for patients. 

 

Most recently a director of unscheduled care, Mark has experience of addressing key 

operational efficiency issues, including Emergency Department performance, ambulance 

turnaround times and capacity and flow of patients through hospital systems.   
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Appointment: 10 February 2014 

David Meikle 

(Director of Finance) 

David joined the NHS as a national finance trainee and following qualification, joined the 

private sector working as a consultant for KPMG and Coopers & Lybrand for a number of 

years. He returned to the NHS and has worked as a finance director in a number of trusts 

across England and Scotland. 

Appointment: 17 December 2012 

 

Steve Hams 

(Chief Nurse) 

Steve has obtained the following qualifications:  Registered Nurse (Adult), Diploma in 

Applied Health Studies, BSc (Hons) Nursing Studies, and  MSc Public Health. 

 

Steve has a wide range of experience in a variety of nursing, public health and clinical 

transformation roles in the NHS, private and voluntary sectors.  He is also currently a visiting 

lecturer at Canterbury Christ Church University and Anglia Ruskin University. 

 

Steve’s clinical background is in acute cardiology and he has written about the use of 

intuition in critical care nursing in conjunction with logical, rational decision making.  Steve 

has also written about how nurses can learn from patients and the importance of trust in the 

nurse-patient relationship. 

 

Steve is responsible for ensuring that nursing and midwifery teams at the Trust deliver the 

highest quality nursing and midwifery care to patients.  Steve is a member of the Nursing 

and Midwifery Council, Royal College of Nursing and serving Brother of the Order of St 

John.   

Appointment: 1 July 2013 

 

Jason Seez 

(Director of Strategy and Infrastructure) 

Jason joined the Trust in March 2013 from Barts Health NHS Trust, where he was associate 

director of strategic development. 

Jason has significant NHS experience having worked in both leading London teaching 

hospitals and district general hospitals in the home counties. Jason was also the mergers 

and acquisitions lead for NHS London in 2010/11. 
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Jason’s focus and skills lie in strategic business planning and project management, with a 

clear understanding of the need to work across both organisational and professional barriers 

to succeed. 

Appointment: 11 March 2013 

 

Phillip Barnes 

(Medical Director) 

Phil has obtained the following qualifications: BSc, PhD (Lond), BM BCh (Oxon), AKC FRCP 

 

Phil was born and brought up on the Isle of Sheppey and went to school in Rochester. 

 

Following a research degree in basic neuroscience at King’s College Hospital, London he 

graduated in medicine from the Oxford Clinical School in 1987. He trained as a neurologist in 

Birmingham, Oxford and Nottingham before becoming Consultant Neurologist at King’s 

College Hospital linked with various Kent hospitals in 1995.  

  

As well as running a busy general neurology practice, Phil set up the South East regional 

service for neuromuscular diseases. He was Director of Neurosciences at King’s from 1998 

to 2008 and was national lead for the Action on Neurology Programme in 2004-5.  

  

Phil left King’s to become the first Medical Director at the newly formed Western Sussex 

Hospitals, seeing it through to Foundation Trust status in 2013.  

Appointment: 1 August 2013 

 
 
Board Appointments - Directors who left the Trust during 2013/14 
 

Denise Harker (1 April 2012 – 31st January 2013). 

(Trust Chairman and Non-Executive Director) 

 

Graham Clayden (1 April 2007 – 31 January 2014) 

(Non-Executive director) 

 

Adrian Horwood (1 November 2005 – 31 May 2013) 

(Deputy Chairman and Non-Executive Director) 

 

Andy Brown (left the Trust on 3 May 2013) 

(Interim Director of Human Resources) 
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Mark Devlin (left the Trust on 31 March 2014) 

(Chief Executive) 

 

Patrick Johnson (left the Trust on 30 September 2013) 

(Director of Operations/Deputy Chief Executive) 

 

Jane Sutherland (left the Trust on 31 March 2014) 

(Interim Director of Operations) 

 

Susan Osborne 

(Interim Director of Nursing from 1 April until 30 June 2013) 

 

Gray Smith-Laing (retired as Medical Director on 30 September 2013) 

(Medical director) 

 

Board of Directors’ Register of Interests 

Under the terms of the Trust’s constitution, the Board of Directors are individually required to 

declare any interest, as soon as they become aware of it, which may under the terms of the 

constitution, conflict with their appointment as a director of Medway NHS Foundation Trust. 

 

A register of the directors’ interests is available to the public via the Trust’s website 

www.medway.nhs.uk or on request from the Company Secretary, Medway NHS Foundation 

Trust, Medway Maritime Hospital, Windmill Road, Gillingham, Kent  ME7 5NY. Details are 

also set out in the biographies within this report. 

 

Development of Working Relationships with the Council of Governors 

The Board of Directors and the Council of Governors have development/discussion sessions 

to discuss particular areas of interest and concern. With the considerable challenges facing 

the Trust, these sessions enable the views of both the Board of Directors and Board of 

Governors to be shared and thus improve the considerable understanding of the issues 

facing the Trust, and are therefore considered invaluable to all concerned. 

 

These sessions have been developed particularly during the latter part of the year and will 

continue for the future. 

 

In compliance with the ‘Monitor Code of Governance for NHS Foundation Trusts’, no 

executive director holds more than one non-executive directorship of an NHS Foundation 

Trust or other organisation of comparable size and complexity. 
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Arrangements for the termination of appointment of non-executive directors are set out in the 

Trust’s Constitution.  All non-executive directors are considered to be independent by the 

Board of Directors. 

 

Since becoming a Foundation Trust, non-executive directors have been appointed for a 

period of three years. 

 

Attendance at Board of Directors’ meetings in 2013/14 

Member Total 

Phillip Barnes  8 out of 8  

Caroline Becher 5 out of 5 

Nigel Beverley 2 out of 2 

Raj Bhamber 12 out of 13 

Andy Brown 1 out of 1 

Andrew Burnett 5 out of 5 

Graham Clayden 11 out of 11 

Mark Devlin 10 out of 11 

Steve Hams 9 out of 11 

Denise Harker 11 out of 11 

Adrian Horwood 2 out of 2 

Martin Jamieson 10 out of 13 

Patrick Johnson 5 out of 6 
Christopher Langley 2 out of 2 

David Meikle 13 out of 13 

Tony Moore 5 out of 5 

Mark Morgan 1 out of 1 

Susan Osborne 3 out of 3 

John Sands 12 out of 13 

Jason Seez 13 out of 13 

Gray Smith-Laing 6 out of 6 

Jan Stephens 12 out of  13 

Jane Sutherland 5 out of 7 

Colin Wilby 12 out of 13 

Shena Winning 5 out of 6 

 
During 2013/14 there were 11 Board meetings and two extraordinary Board meetings. 
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Committees of the Trust Board 

Integrated Audit Committee 

Members Committee role Attendance 

Adrian Horwood (Non-executive director) Chairman 3 out of 3 

Graham Clayden (Non-executive director) Interim Chair 5 out of 5 

John Sands (Non-executive director) Member 2 out of 3 

Jan Stephens (Non-executive director) Member 2 out of 3 

Colin Wilby (Non-executive director) Member 6 out of 6 

Shena Winning (Non-executive director) Chair from Feb 2014 1 out of 1 

 
The Integrated Audit Committee (IAC), which consists of not less than three non-executive 

directors of the Trust is required to meet at least three times a year and provides the Board 

with an independent and objective view on its financial and non-financial systems, financial 

and non-financial information and compliance with laws, guidance and regulations governing 

the NHS. Seven meetings were scheduled in order to provide adequate assurance to the 

Board. 

 

Its main responsibility is to provide the Board with assurances in respect of governance, risk 

management and internal control and effective systems across the whole of the 

organisation's activities (both clinical and non-clinical) that support the achievement of the 

organisation’s objectives. The Committee considered significant issues, in relation to 

financial statements, operations and compliance, as well as how to address these matters. 

The effectiveness of the external audit process and the appointment of external auditors are 

also within the remit of the Committee. 

 

At the commencement of each IAC meeting, a private session is held between the non-

executive directors, the internal and external auditors and the counter fraud specialists. 

 

The current contract for the provision of external audit services commenced in 2009/10 for 

an initial period of three years and in accordance with the original contract it was 

subsequently extended for a further two years with the existing providers BDO LLP.  The 

financial year 2013/14 has therefore been the final year of the original contract and in 

accordance with governance requirements and procurement guidelines the external audit 

service has been subject to a competitive tendering exercise in preparation for the financial 

year commencing April 2014. The Council of Governors is formally responsible for the 

appointment of external auditors and a result of the competitive exercise a recommendation 

was made to the Council that with effect from the 2014/15 Deloitte LLP is appointed as the 

external auditor for the Trust. The Council subsequently confirmed the decision that Deloitte 
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LLP is appointed for an initial contract period of three years commencing in 2014/15 with an 

option to extend for a further period of up to two years.  

 

Internal Auditors report to every meeting of the IAC to provide relevant assurances regarding 

the adequacy and effectiveness of internal controls. The IAC carries out an annual review of 

the adequacy of internal audit. External auditors attend every meeting of the IAC to provide 

progress reports and actions taken as part of the annual audit plan. They also contribute to 

discussions on systems and processes. 

 

Counter fraud specialists report to every meeting of the IAC to provide an update on current 

or new fraud cases and actions taken as a result of those cases. 

 

The IAC sets itself a rolling work plan, which it has continued to meet. It also carries out an 

annual self-assessment. 

 

The IAC has produced an Annual Report which has been presented to the Board and to the 

Council of Governors. 

 

The significant issues which the IAC has focused on during the year are: 

 Off payroll engagements – The committee has received reports highlighting the 

details of off payroll engagements and has asked for further reviews and a policy to 

be drafted and implemented 

 Aged Non NHS debtors – The committee considered reports on the value, aging and 

collection status of Non NHS debts and write offs of specific amounts where 

collection methods have become exhausted or where further action would not be 

cost effective, have been enacted. 

 Overpayments of Staff – The committee discussed reports on the levels of 

overpayments that have been made to Trust employees and a policy for collection of 

these amounts has been drafted. 

 Pay control mechanisms – The committee has reviewed controls around the incurring 

of staff costs, including the use of temporary staff and overtime payments to 

employees.  

 

During the year the IAC advised the Board and Council of Governors of the following: 

 The work of the internal auditors 

 The work of the local counter fraud specialist 

 The work of the external auditor 
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 The work of the Board’s Performance and Investment Committee 

 The compilation of the Trust’s Annual Accounts 

 The preparation of the Trust’s Annual Report 

 The preparation of the Annual Governance Statement 

 The work of the internal clinical audit. 

 

The IAC provides a report to the Board of Directors after every meeting. 

 

Quality Committee  

Members Committee role Attendance 

John Sands (Non-executive director) Chairman 10 out of 12 

Graham Clayden (Non-executive director) Member until January 2014 10 out of 10 

Jan Stephens (Non-executive director) Member 11 out of 12 

Mark Devlin (Executive director) Member until February 2014 6 out of 10 

Gray Smith-Laing (Executive director) Member until September 2014 6 out of 6 

Susan Osborne (Executive director) Member until June 2013 3 out of 3 

Patrick Johnson (Executive director) Member until September 2014 3 out of 6 

Steve Hams (Executive director) Member from August 2014 7 out of 8 

Phillip Barnes (Executive director) Member from August 2014 6 out of 7 

Jane Sutherland (Executive director) Member from Oct to Feb 2014 3 out of 5 

Caroline Becher (Non-executive director) Member from December 2014 3 out of 4 

Nigel Beverly (Executive director) Member from March 2014 1 out of 2 

Mark Morgan (Executive director) Member from March 2014 1 out of 1 

 

Note: The chairman is an ex-officio member of the committee. 

 

The Quality Committee, which consists of no less than three non-executive directors of the 

Trust and four executive directors, meets on a monthly basis. It is also regularly attended by 

the head of governance and risk: director of infection, prevention and control and the 

chairman of the Patient Safety Committee.   

 

The Quality Committee ensures an integrated and co-ordinated approach to the 

development and monitoring of the quality metrics (patient safety, patient experience and 

clinical effectiveness) at a corporate level, it leads on the monitoring of quality systems within 

the Trust to ensure that quality is a key component of all activities within the Trust and 

assures compliance with regulatory requirements and best practice with patient safety, 
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patient experience and clinical effectiveness. The Committee regularly receives assurance 

and seeks further guidance or actions on: 

 Reports on serious incidents 
 

 Infection control report 

 Outcomes from Clinical Audit 

 Compliance with NICE guidance and Safety Alerts 

 Reports on complaints and other matters relating to the experience of our patients. 

 

The Quality Committee provides a report to the Board of Directors after every meeting on its 

activities which includes reports on infection control. 

 

Performance and Investment Committee 

Members Committee role Attendance 

Colin Wilby (Non-executive director) Chairman 10 out of 10 

Nigel Beverley (Executive director) Member 2 out of 2 

Mark Devlin (Executive director) Member 7 out of 8 

Denise Harker (Non-executive director) Member 8 out of 8 

Adrian Horwood (Non-executive director) Member 2 out of 3 

Martin Jamieson (Non-executive director) Member 9 out of 10 

Patrick Johnson (Executive director) Member 5 out of 5 

Christopher Langley (Non-executive 

director) 

Member 2 out of 2 

David Meikle (Executive director) Member 7 out of 10 

Tony Moore (Non-executive director) Member 3 out of 3 

Mark Morgan (Executive director) Member 1 out of 1 

Jane Sutherland (Executive director) Member 3 out of 4 

Shena Winning (Non-executive director) Member 3 out of 3 

 

Note: The chairman is an ex-officio member of the committee. 

 

The Performance and Investment Committee, consisting of three non-executive directors 

and three executive directors, meets on a monthly basis and provides the Trust Board with a 

detailed and objective view on the resource utilisation and planning performed by the Trust 

including income and expenditure, cash flow and balance sheet management, business 

development and service improvement plans in the form of business cases. It scrutinises 



 
 

50 
  

performance management in detail each month and reports to the Board on an exception 

basis.  

 

During the year, the Performance and Investment Committee fully reviewed its terms of 

reference to more accurately reflect its role. It has regularly received and challenged the 

financial summaries, trends in service line reporting, the Transforming Performance 

programme, performance report, aged debts and has been fully involved in the budget 

setting process. It was also provided with an update on the progress of the patient level 

information costing systems. The Committee has also continued to challenge both support 

services and specialities on their strategic activities and forecasting. 

 

Workforce Committee 

Jan Stephens (Chair) Chair 4 out of 5 

Caroline Becher (Non-executive director) Member 1 out of 2 

Raj Bhamber (Executive director) Member 4 out of 4 

Andy Brown (Interim director of Human 
Resources) 

Member 1 out of 1 

Andrew Burnett (Non-executive director) Member 1 out of 1 

Graham Clayden (Non-executive director) Member 4 out of 4 

Steve Hams (Executive director) Member 3 out of 3 

Patrick Johnson (Executive director) Member 2 out of 3 

Mark Morgan (Executive director) Member 1 out of 1 

Susan Osborne (Executive director) Member 2 out of 2 

John Sands (Non-executive director) Member 4 out of 5 

Jane Sutherland (Executive director) Member 1 out of 1  

 

Note: The chairman is an ex-officio member of the committee. 

 

The Workforce Committee was established to oversee the development and implementation 

of an effective organisational development and workforce strategy. It also has a 

responsibility to provide assurance to the Board that the appropriate structures, processes 

and systems are in place to ensure an effective capable workforce to meet the Trust’s 

current and future needs. 

 
The Workforce Committee works to develop a systematic approach to the management of 

change and to establish ways to attract and retain a high performing workforce. It reviewed 
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the workforce strategy before it progressed to the Trust Board. It ensures there are robust 

performance processes in place for the effective management of the workforce to ensure the 

Trust meets its priorities. The Workforce Committee works to drive a positive culture of 

continuous improvement and high staff engagement and monitors the implementation and of 

workforce strategies as well as educational plans and performance.  

 

The Workforce Committee provides a report to the Board of Directors after every meeting on 

its activities which includes reports workforce data and outcomes for the Trust 

 

Nominations and Remuneration Committees and Remuneration Report 
Remuneration Report  

The Remuneration and Nominations Committee has tended to operate as one during the 

course of the year, although arrangements are currently in hand to separate the two.  The 

membership in both cases consists of the chairman and non-executives.  In the case of the 

Nominations Committee the chief executive is also a member, but not in the case of the 

Remuneration Committee. The Committee is chaired by the Trust chairman. 

 

The Nominations Committee is responsible for the appointment of the Executive Directors, 

whereas the Remuneration Committee deals with determining the remuneration packages 

relating to the Executive Director and any issues relating to performance and executive 

appraisals.  It also makes recommendations to the Board of Directors on the composition, 

balance, skill mix and succession planning of the Board. 

 

During the year, Monitor issued formal notices appointing a new Trust Chairman and Chief 

Executive, Mr Christopher Langley and Mr Nigel Beverley respectively.  Both appointments 

are interim and took effect from 11 February 2014. 
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Nominations and Remuneration Committee  

Members Committee role Attendance 

Denise Harker (Chairman) Chair 5 out of 5  

Christopher Langley (Chairman) Chair 1 out of 1 

Caroline Becher (Non-executive director) Member 3 out of 3 

Andrew Burnett (Non-executive director) Member  3 out of 3 
(One in 
attendance and 2 
as a member) 

Graham Clayden (Non-executive director) Member 5 out of 5 

Adrian Horwood (Non-executive director) Member 1 out of 1 

Martin Jamieson (Non-executive director) Member 5 out of 6 

Tony Moore (Non-executive director) Member 2 out of 3 

John Sands (Non-executive director) Member 5 out of 6 

Jan Stephens (Non-executive director) Member 4 out of 6 

Colin Wilby (Non-executive director) Member 5 out of 6 

Shena Winning (Non-executive director) Member 4 out of 6 

 

During the course of 2013/14, the Trust experienced a considerable amount of change, 

particularly regarding members of the Trust Board, both executive and non-executive 

directors.  There were a number of interim appointments during this period, and these have 

continued into 2014/15.  

 

It has been normal practice for permanent executive appointments to be paid a basic annual 

salary only. The Nominations and Remuneration Committee reviews salaries each year. In 

2013/14 the Committee decided that no inflationary pay award was appropriate. This is in 

line with overall increases in the NHS and that director salaries were within benchmarked 

salary ranges. 

 

When new appointments are made the salary is determined by reference to Foundation 

Trust Network (FTN) benchmarking of chief executive and executive director salaries, 

current market rates and internal relativities with executive directors/senior managers. This 

may involve consideration of advice from external advisors, including executive search and 

selection consultants.  
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Performance is reviewed annually at appraisal against objectives. Objectives are agreed at 

the appraisal and progress is reviewed at monthly one to one meetings. 

 

Executive directors hold substantive contracts with six-month notice periods. This does not 

affect the right of the Trust to terminate the contract without notice by reason of the conduct 

of the executive director. Depending on the circumstances of the early termination the Trust 

would, if the termination were due to redundancy, apply redundancy terms under Section 16 

of the Agenda for Change terms and conditions of service or consider severance settlements 

in accordance with current Department of Health and Monitor requirements and guidance. 

Any compensation would need to be approved by the Trust’s Nominations and 

Remuneration Committee. 

 

The following sections of the remuneration report are subject to audit. 
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Salary and pension entitlements of senior managers 
a) Remuneration 

Name and title 

2013/14 2012/13 

Salary  
Other 

Remun-
eration 

Life Time 
Pension 
Related  

Benefits, 
Increase 
in year 

Total Salary  
Other 

Remun-
eration 

Life Time 
Pension 
Related  

Benefits, 
Increase 
in year 

Total 

(bands 
of 

£5000) 

(bands of 
£5000) 

(bands of 
£5000) 

(bands 
of 

£5000)  

(bands 
of 

£5000) 

(bands of 
£5000) 

(bands of 
£5000) 

(bands 
of 

£5000) 

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Mrs D Harker, Chair 40-45 - - 40-45 40-45 -   40-45 

Mr C Langley, Interim Chair 15-20 - - 15-20 - -   - 

Mr G Clayden, Non-executive Director 10-15 - - 10-15 10-15 -   10-15 

Mr A Horwood, Non-executive Director 0-5 - - 0-5 10-15 -   10-15 

Mr C Wilby, Non-executive Director 10-15 - - 10-15 10-15 -   10-15 

Mr J Sands, Non-executive Director 10-15 - - 10-15 10-15 -   10-15 

Mr M Jamieson, Non-executive 
Director 

10-15 - - 10-15 10-15 -   10-15 

Ms J Stephens, Non-executive 
Director 

10-15 - - 10-15 10-15 -   10-15 

Ms S Winning, Non-executive Director 0-5 - - 0-5 - -   - 

Ms C Becher, Non-executive Director 0-5 - - 0-5 - -   - 

Mr T Moore, Non-executive Director 0-5 - - 0-5 - -   - 

Mr A Burnett, Non-executive Director 0-5 - - 0-5 - -   - 

Mr M Devlin, Chief Executive 150-155 - 20 - 25 175-180 150-155 - 20-25 175-180 

Mr N Beverley, Interim Chief Executive 40-45 -   40-45 - - - - 

Mr P Johnson, Director of Operations 
and Deputy CEO 

80-85 - 10 - 15 95-100 130-135 - 20-25 155-160 

Ms J Sutherland, Interim Director of 
Operations 

60-65 - 155 - 160 220-225 - - - - 

Mr M Morgan, Interim Director of 
Operations 

30-35 -   30-35 - - - - 

Mr D Meikle, Director of Finance 130-135 - (10-15) 120-125 70-75 - (0-5) 70-75 

Ms R Bhamber, Director of 
Organisational Development and 
Communications 

105-110 - 35-40 145-150 - - - - 

Ms J McKenna, Director of Nursing - - - - 100-105 - 15-20 115-125 

Ms S Osborne, Interim Director of 
Nursing 

50-55 - - 50-55 - - - - 

Mr S Hams, Chief Nurse 80-85 - 35-40 120-125 - - - - 

Mr J Seez, Director of Strategy & 
Infrastructure 

100-105 - 90-95 190-195 - - - - 

Dr G Smith-Laing, Medical Director 65-70 25-30 - 90-95 25-30 150-155   180-185 

Dr P Barnes, Medical Director 125-130 - 0-5 130-135 - - - - 

Band of Highest Paid Director's 
Total 

150-155 150-155 

Remuneration (£'000)                 

Median Total 22,636 22,676 

Remuneration (£'000)                 

Ratio 6.8 6.8 
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Notes: 

For the purposes of the remuneration report, senior managers are defined as those with 
voting rights at a Trust Board meeting. 
The salary figures included in the above table are based on the payroll information where the 
director is engaged through the payroll, and based on invoiced amounts for off payroll 
engagements. 
There are no benefits in kind 
Mr A Brown provided services as an interim director of human resources throughout the 
financial year 2012/13 and until 3 May 2014 he is employed by Dartford and Gravesham 
NHS Trust. Salary costs of £11,891 (£111,257 2012/13) for this period (including pension 
and employers’ costs) were recharged to the Trust by Dartford and Gravesham NHS Trust 

b) Pension benefits 

Name and title 

Real 
increase 

in 
pension 

and 
related 
lump 

sum at 
age 60 

Total 
accrued 
pension 

and 
related 
lump 

sum at 
age 60 at 
31 March 

2014 

Cash 
Equivalent 
Transfer 

Value at 31 
March 
2014 

Cash 
Equivalent 
Transfer 

Value at 31 
March 
2013 

Real 
Increase in 

Cash 
Equivalent 
Transfer 

  

(bands of 
£2500) 

(bands of 
£5000) 

      

  
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Mr M Devlin, Chief Executive 
5-7.5 

175-180 736 671 50 

Mr P Johnson, Director of Operations and Deputy CEO 0-2.5 10-15 157 134 13 

Mr D Meikle,  Director of Finance -0-2.5 175-180 900 888 -1 

Mr S Hams, Chief Nurse 7.5-10 80-85 273 231 29 

Ms R Bhamber, Director of Organisational 
Development 7.5-10 85-90 391 327 51 

Ms J Sutherland, Interim Director of Operations 27.5-30 165-170 0 674 -689 

Mr J Seez, Director of Strategy & Infrastructure 17.5-20 105-110 382 302 74 

Mr P Barnes, Medical Director 2.5-5 280-285 1341 1250 37 

 
The table above excludes directors who are paid via an off payroll arrangement and those 

who have drawn their pension. 

 
c) Exit Packages 

Name and title 
Lieu of 
Notice 

Lieu of 
Annual 
Leave 

Total 

  
(bands of 

£5000) 
(bands of 

£5000)   

  £0 £0 £0 

Mr M Devlin, Chief Executive 85-90 10-15 100-105 

Mr P Johnson, Director of Operations and Deputy 
CEO 

65-70 - 35-40 

 
The above table gives details of exit packages paid within the financial year to Directors. 

Other Directors who have left during year received no additional remuneration above the 

salary shown in table a) above. 
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d) Expenses of Governors and Directors 

The directors and governors receive reimbursement of travel and incidental expenses 

incurred as a result of their duties to the Trust, during 2013/14 10 directors received 

expenses totalling £9,010.46 (2012/13 £9,669.14) and 1 governor received expenses 

totalling £471.15 (2012/13 £1,025.66). 

 

The following section is not subject to external audit. 

 

e) Off payroll engagements 

As part of the review of Tax Arrangements of Public Sector Appointees, first published by the 

Chief Secretary to the Treasury in May 2012, public departments are now required to publish 

information relating to the number of off payroll engagements within the following three 

tables. 

 

Table 1: For all off-payroll engagements as of 31 March 2014, for more than £220 per day and 
that last for longer than six months  

 

No. of existing engagements 
as of 31 March 2014 

  19 

Of which...    

No. that have existed for less 
than one year at time of 
reporting. 

  4 

No. that have existed for 
between one and two years at 
time of reporting. 

  10 

No. that have existed for 
between two and three years 
at time of reporting. 

  3 

No. that have existed for 
between three and four years 
at time of reporting. 

  1 

No. that have existed for four 
or more years at time of 
reporting. 

  1 

 

Each of the above  appointees have or are being subject to a risk based assessment 

programme as to whether the individuals are paying  the right amount of tax. 
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Table 2: All new off-payroll engagements, or those that reached six months in 
duration, between 1 April 2013 and 31 March 2014, for more than £220 per day and 
that last for longer than six months  

 
No. of new engagements, or 
those that reached six 
months in duration, between 
1 April 2013 and 31 March 
2014 

 4 

No. of the above which 
include contractual clauses 
giving the trust the right to 
request assurance in 
relation to income tax and 
National Insurance 
obligations 

 4 

No. for whom assurance 
has been requested 

 0 

Of which...   

No. for whom assurance 
has been received 

 - 

No. for whom assurance 
has not been received 

 - 

No. that have been 
terminated as a result of 
assurance not being 
received. 

 - 

 
Of the four engagements stated above one has now been transferred to the payroll, a further 

two are similarly to be transferred to the payroll and for the fourth engagement  contractual 

terms allowing the Trust to seek the relevant assurances  are to be agreed with the relevant 

party.  

 

Table 3: For any off-payroll engagements of board members, and/or, senior officials 
with significant financial responsibility, between 1 April 2013 and 31 March 2014  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

No. of off-payroll engagements of 
board members, and/or, senior 
officials with significant financial 
responsibility, during the financial 
year. 

4 

No. of individuals that have been 
deemed “board members and/or 
senior officials with significant 
financial responsibility” during the 
financial year. This figure should 
include both off-payroll and on-
payroll engagements. 

25 
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Three of the engagements noted within table 3 above, that relate to the appointment of an 

Interim Chairman, Interim Chief Executive Officer and an Interim Director of Operations were 

made in accordance with terms of engagement that were determined by the Trust’s 

regulatory body, Monitor.  The final engagement related to the Interim Director of Nursing, 

whos terms of engagement were determined by the Chief Executive.  In accordance with the 

relevant disclosure requirements the commencement dates for each of the “off payroll” 

engagements are as follows: 

 
Interim Chairman: 11th February 2014, 

Interim Chief Executive Officer: 11th February 2014, 

Interim Director of Operations: 10th February 2014 

Interim Director of Nursing: 1st April 2013 until 30 June 2013 

 
 

 

 

Signed: Nigel Beverley  

Interim Chief Executive                                                    

Date:   28 May 201
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Council of Governors 
The Council is made up of elected and appointed Governors who provide an important link 

between the Trust, local people and key stakeholder organisations.  They share information and 

views that can influence and shape the way hospital services are provided by the hospital and they 

work together with the Trust’s Board of Directors to ensure that the Foundation Trust delivers a 

high quality of healthcare within a strict framework of governance whilst achieving financial balance 

and planning for the future.   

 

There are 25 seats on the Council of Governors, 19 of which are elected public and staff member 

representatives and six are appointed by the partner organisations.  A full breakdown of the 

Council of Governors is detailed later in the report. 

 

Constituencies 

There are three public constituencies that make up the catchment area for the Trust.  Medway and 

Swale are the main two constituencies, with the third covering the Rest of England and Wales.  

The third constituency is specifically designed for the catchment population that use the specialist 

services which are provided to anyone in England and Wales.  

 

Governors serve on the Trust’s Council of Governors, working as a team with governor colleagues 

and specifically representing one particular class in their own membership community.   The public 

governors each represent a constituency. Medway Constituency has nine public governors; Swale 

Constituency has 4 public governors; Rest of England and Wales has one public governor. 

 

The staff governors are elected to represent staff in each directorate of which there are five in the 

Trust: nursing and midwifery; allied health professionals, medical and dental; non-clinical; and 

management.  Stakeholder governors are appointed by their organisation to sit on the Council and 

link back to their organisation.   

 

Role of Governor 

Governors are required to attend regular meetings of the Council of Governors – normally seven a 

year which includes the Members’ Annual Meeting.   

 

The governors have some specific statutory requirements to fulfil as well as some generic 

responsibilities. These include to: 

• appoint or remove the chairman and non-executive directors 
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• approve the appointment of the chief executive 

• decide on remuneration for the chairman and non-executive directors 

• consider the patient experience 

• receive the annual accounts 

• appoint or remove the Foundation Trust’s auditor 

• receive feedback on chairman and non-executive director annual appraisals 

• hold non-executive directors and, through them, the Board to account 

• represent constituent members 

• consider the Foundation Trust’s forward plans and advise the Board of Directors on these. 

 

Governors are also expected to actively seek the views of the community they represent – this has 

typically been through members’ events but the Trust is looking at other ways of involving the 

membership. 

 

Structure of Council of Governors 

The Council meets seven times a year and in order to assist in its work and meet the Council’s 

statutory requirements, the Council has established three working groups and one committee.  

These are listed below with a brief overview of each group’s responsibilities. 

 

Membership Engagement Group: To develop, implement and review the Trust’s membership 

strategy as well as being accountable on behalf of the governors for ensuring that the elections are 

fair and true; review any issues brought to the Working Group’s attention that relate to the 

members and membership, including complaints from members about membership and 

adjudicating on any application for disqualification from membership and to be involved in 

overseeing the arrangements of the Trust’s Annual Members’ Meeting. 

 

Finance and Performance Working Group: To make recommendations to the Council of 

Governors with respect to the appointment of the Trust’s external auditor and to report to the 

Council of Governors with respect to the auditor’s Annual Report, the Trust’s forward plan and the 

Quality Accounts; to hold the Board’s Performance and Investment Committee and the Integrated 

Audit Committee to account. 

 

Non-executive director Nominations and Remuneration Committee:  To carry out an annual 

appraisal of the chairman, review the remuneration of the non-executive directors on an annual 

basis, and to be involved in the nomination process for all non-executive directors, including the 
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chairman. The formal process of Board evaluation by the Council of Governors of the non 

executive directors is through the Nominations and Remuneration Committee. 

 

Quality Working Group: To receive quarterly reports from the Board’s Quality Committee on the 

work around patient safety, patient experience and other aspects of quality including the Trust’s 

Quality Accounts; to scrutinise the decisions made, or actions taken, in connection with the Quality 

Committee; make recommendations to the Council of Governors arising from the outcome of the 

scrutiny process. 

 

Governor terms of office 

Public and staff governors 

All public and staff governors are elected for a maximum term of three years and are able to seek 

re-election. In order to avoid an election process every three years that would see the replacement 

of 14 public governors and five staff governors, it was agreed by the Trust to initially separate the 

terms of office for each governor in order to ensure business continuity and establishment of the 

Council.   

 

Partner governors 

Partner governors are nominated by their organisation and serve a term of office of three years. 

These governors can be replaced by their organisation during this time and existing 

representatives can be nominated to serve further terms of three years. 

 
Governor election activity 

The Trust took the decision to delay its 2013 elections pending the proposed integration with 

Dartford and Gravesham NHS Trust, which was due to take place later in the year.  Following the 

decision to cease integration, the election process was initiated for those seats that had been 

postponed, together with seats due for election in 2014.  Seven governors also announced their 

intention to retire in 2014.  Subsequently elections took place in March 2014 for eight Medway 

seats, three Swale seats, one Rest of England seat and three staff seats (medical and dental, 

management, and allied health professionals).   

 

The terms of office for the governors elected in March 2014 would either start on 1 April 2014 or 

1 July 2014, with the length of terms also staggered in order to ensure approximately a third of all 

seats become due for election each year.   
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The information below outlines details of all governors on the council during the year 2013/14, 

including the results of the March 2014 elections. The Council’s lead governor is Ruth Jenner. 

 

Name Constituency Term of office  
(elected June = Term of Office starting 1 July) 

Syed Ahamed Medway Elected June 2011 for 3 years 
Will be retiring on 30 June 2014 

Vivien Bouttell Medway Elected June 2010 for 3 years 
Term of office extended June 2013 until 31 March 2014 
Re-elected March 2014, for 3 years with effect from 1 
July 2014 (working in shadow for 3 months). 
 

Renee Coussens Medway Elected June 2008 for 3 years 
Re-elected June 2011 for 3 years 
Re-elected March 2014 for 2 years 6 months with effect 
from 1 April 2014 

Pam Gibbon Medway Elected June 2007 for 2 years 
Re-elected June 2009 for 3 years 
Re-elected June 2012 for 3 years 
Retired early on 31 March 2014 

Gillian Hammond Medway Elected June 2012 for 3 years 
Will be retiring early on 30 June 2014 

Margaret Ratcliffe Medway Elected June 2008 for 3 years 
Re-elected June 2011 for 3 years 
Re-elected March 2014 for 3 years with effect from 1 July 
2014 

Ann Richmond Medway Elected June 2007 for 1 year 
Re-elected June 2008 for 3 years 
Re-elected March 2014 for 3 years with effect from 1 July 
2014 

Ann Smart Medway Elected June 2012 for 3 years 

Lee Tribe Medway Elected June 2007 for 3 years 
Re-elected June 2010 for 3 years 
Term of office extended June 2013 until 31 March 2014. 
Retired 31 March 2014 

Paul Bennett Medway Elected March 2014 for 1 year and 3 months, with effect 
from 1 April 2014 

Stella Dick Medway Elected March 2014 for 2 years and 3 months, with effect 
from 1 April 2014 

Alan West Medway Elected March 2014 for 2 years and 3 months, with effect 
from 1 April 2014 

Debra Teasdale Medway Elected March 2014 for 3 years, with effect from 1 July 
2014 (working in shadow for 3 months) 

Sarah Drury Swale  Elected December 2010 for 2 ½ years 
Term of office extended June 2013 until 31 March 2014 
Retired 31 March 2014 

Christine Kite Swale Elected December 2010 for 2 ½ years 
Term of office extended June 2013 until 31 March 2014 
Re-elected March 2014 for 2 years and 3 months, with 
effect from 1 April 2014 

Ruth Jenner Swale Elected unopposed June 2009 for 3 years 
Re-elected unopposed June 2012 for 3 years 
Lead Governor 

Michael Moseley Seale Elected March 2014 for 2 years 3 months, with effect 
from 1 April 2014 

Paul Wood Swale Elected March 2014 for 1 year and 3 months, with effect 
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from 1 April 2014 

Richard Tripp Rest of England and 
Wales 

Elected unopposed June 2010 for 3 years 
Term of office extended June 2013 until 31 March 2014 
Re-elected March 2014 for 2 years 3 months, with effect 
from 1 April 2014 

Inmaculada Diaz-
Alonso 

Staff:  
Nursing and Midwifery 

Elected November 2012 for 2 ½ years 

Trish Marchant Staff:  
Management 

Elected unopposed June 2010 for 3 years 
Term of office extended June 2013 until 31 March 2014. 
Retired 31 March 2014 

VACANT Staff:  
Management 

 

John McLaughlin Staff:  
Allied Health 
Professionals 

Elected unopposed December 2010 for 2 ½ years 
Term of office extended June 2013 until 31 March 2013. 
Retired 31 March 2014 

Kevin Griffin Staff:  
Allied Health 
Professionals 

Elected March 2014 for 2 years and 3 months with effect 
from 1 April 2014 

Viv Parker Staff:  
Non Clinical 

Elected unopposed June 2012 for 3 years 

Dr Rosemary Toye Staff:   
Medical & Dental Class 

Elected June 2007 for 3 years 
Re-elected unopposed June 2010 for 3 years 
Term of office extended June 2013 until 31 March 2014. 
Retired 31 March 2014 

Dr Anil Madhavan Staff: 
Medical & Dental Class 

Elected unopposed March 2014 for 2 years and 3 
months, from 1 April 2014 

Cllr David Brake Medway Council Health 
and Wellbeing Board 

Appointed May 2013 for 3 years 

Cllr Jane Etheridge  Medway Council Appointed June 2009 for 3 years 
Re-appointed 2012 for 3 years 
Retired 16 May 2013 

Adrian Crowther Kent County Council Appointed June 2007 for 3 years 
Re-appointed June 2010 for 3 years 
Re-appointed June 2013 for 3 years 

Dr Peter Green NHS Medway Clinical 
Commissioning Group 

Appointed April 2013 for 3 years 

Professor Patricia 
Schofield 

Greenwich University Appointed June 2013 for 3 years 

John Spence Charities 
(League of Friends) 

Appointed June 2007 for 3 years 
Re-appointed June 2010 for 3 years 
Re-appointed June 2013 for 3 years 
Retired 31January 2014 

VACANT Charities Seat currently vacant 

VACANT NHS Swale Clinical 
Commissioning Group 

Seat currently vacant 
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Attendance at Council of Governors’ Meetings 1 April 2013/31 March 2014 
 

Attendee Attendance 

Syed Ahamed 6 out of 8 

Vivien Bouttell 8 out of 8 

David Brake 5 out of 7 

Renee Coussens  6 out of 8 

Adrian Crowther 4 out of 8 

Inmaculada Diaz-Alonso 2 out of 8 

Sarah Drury 3 out of 8 

Councillor Jane Etheridge 0 out of 1 

Pamela Gibbon 4 out of 8 

Peter Green 4 out of 8 

Gillian Hammond 7 out of 8 

Ruth Jenner 8 out of 8 

Christine Kite 4 out of 8 

Trish Marchant 7 out of 8 

John McLaughlin 0 out of 8 

Viv Parker 8 out of 8 

Margaret Ratcliffe 8 out of 8 

Ann Richmond 6 out of 8 

Ann Smart 8 out of 8 

Pat Schofield 4 out of 6 

John Spence 5 out of 7 

Lee Tribe 2 out of 8 

Rosemary Toye 7 out of 8 

Richard Tripp 6 out of 8 

 
 

A register of governors’ interests is held at the Trust’s offices.  Information regarding governors’ 

interests and whether they have undertaken any material transactions with Medway NHS 

Foundation Trust can be obtained by contacting the Governor and Membership Lead, Level 1 

Postgraduate Centre, Medway NHS Foundation Trust, Windmill Road, Gillingham, Kent, ME7 5NY, 

or email members@medway.nhs.uk.  The Trust is not aware of any other interests that might 

conflict with their responsibilities as governors. 

 
Membership 

Anyone aged 16 and over and is not employed by the Trust can become a public member.  Every 

member of staff automatically becomes a member unless they choose to opt out. 

 

As at 31 March 2014 the Trust had 10,846 public members and 3,706 staff members, a total of 

14,552 members. 

 

Membership strategy 

The membership strategy outlines the Trust’s vision in terms of recruiting, engaging and involving 

its members – the strategy provides a framework on how we aim to achieve this. The Trust wants 

mailto:members@medway.nhs.uk
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to review how it can best serve its members and also how members can become involved with 

communicating the needs of the local community to the Trust.    

 

Monitor (the Trust’s independent regulating body) requires the membership base to be 

representative of the local community.  

 

In order to ensure the members reflect the socio economic breakdown, the Trust has calculated 

the age, gender and ethnic breakdown of the population it serves into percentages and the aim is 

to reflect those percentage breakdowns across the public membership. 

 

The governor and membership lead regularly runs reports via the database software to determine 

which areas are under represented and require further recruitment drives. 

 

As the Trust has exceeded its target membership total of 10,500, the main focus within the 

membership strategy is now on membership engagement. 

 

Membership Recruitment  

A simple and cost effective method of face-to-face recruitment was orchestrated by the governor 

and membership lead. Methods included participation at university freshers’ and refreshers’ fairs, 

as well as college freshers’ fairs.   An advertisement on the Trust’s website encouraging visitors to 

become members is another successful exercise, producing on average eight new members per 

week. Each month staff who leave the Trust are also encouraged to remain members, with most 

opting to continue their support. 

 

In the last 12 months a total of 938 public members were recruited.   

 

Engagement between Members and Governors 

A programme of eight members’ events took place during 2013, with a large proportion taking the 

format of a listening event.  These events proved fruitful in obtaining the opinions of our members 

on a number of topics including a review of the Emergency Department and priorities to be 

included in the Trust’s forward planning and Quality Accounts.  The Trust has been successful in 

gaining press coverage for these Members’ events and the attendance has been steadily 

increasing.     
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The members’ quarterly newsletter is the Trust’s biggest form of communication and allows the 

opportunity to include surveys or questionnaires to collect the views of the community on specific 

topics, such as transport to the hospital.   

 

Monthly e-bulletins are also sent to members who have registered an email address with the 

membership office and provide an excellent link for communicating the upcoming events and latest 

news.  Approximately 2,500 members have registered an email address in order to receive e-

bulletins. 

 

The Trust’s website continues to be developed to ensure communication flows from members to 

their governors.  Presently the Trust provides a ‘contact your governor’ facility which sends the 

members’ comments to the membership office to be forwarded to the relevant governor.   

 

The Trust’s intranet site enables staff and governors to access the site away from the Trust’s 

premises and thus provides them with much more information. 

 

Engagement between governors and members is an evolving and ongoing feature for the Trust 

and governors are continually looking at ways to improve meeting members and ensuring that they 

their views are taken into consideration. 

 

The Trust also held its fifth Annual Members Meeting as a Foundation Trust in September 2013; 

this was an extremely successful event held at the hospital which also included a listening event.  

The governors were fully involved in the success of this event. 

Membership Base 

The breakdown of our public membership base per constituency is listed below.   

 

Constituency Total 

Medway 6,728 

Swale 1,870 

Rest of England and Wales 2,248 

Membership Total 10.846 
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The breakdown of our staff membership base per constituency is listed below. 

 

Constituency Total 

Nursing & Midwifery 1,724 

Medical and Dental 518 

Non clinical 1,163 

Allied Health Professionals 710 

Membership Total 4,115 

 

During the year the Trust has used a number of methods to ensure that Directors understand and 

are aware of views expressed by governors and members, for example at the Annual General 

meeting in September 2013. In December 2013, there was a listening into action event to engage 

governors and members in the development of the priorities for the annual plan 2014/15. 

 

The Council of Governors is chaired by the chairman of the Trust and its meetings are also 

attended by the chief executive, who presents a report on performance and current issues.  The 

chief executive is also available during the meeting to answer questions, which provides the 

opportunity for governors to express their views and raise any other concerns.  Other executive 

directors also attend Council of Governors meetings and working groups on a regular basis to 

provide updates as and when requested by the governors. 

 

The Council of Governors has undertaken scrutiny of a variety of subjects during the year 2013/14, 

including: 

 Proposed integration with Dartford and Gravesham Trust 

 Hospital Standardised Mortality Ratio (HSMR) 

 The Trust’s performance against the annual plan 

 The Trust’s performance against the Quality Accounts 

 Progress towards resolving the special measures imposed by Monitor 

 

The non-executive directors have an open invitation to attend the Council of Governors meetings 

and have attended regularly.  The non-executive directors who chair the Performance and 

Investment Committee, the Integrated Audit Committee and the Quality Committee regularly attend 

the Finance and Performance and Quality Working Group meetings to answer questions on the 
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performance of the Committees.  The Trust chairman chairs the governors’ NED Nominations and 

Remuneration Committee which is also attended by the senior independent director.  One non 

executive director attends the Membership Engagement Group to offer support and advice. 

 

Director Attendance at Council of Governors Meetings (including the annual members’ meeting) 

1 April 2013/31 March 2014 

 

Attendee Attendance 

Denise Harker, Chairman 7 out of 7 

Christopher Langley, Interim Chairman 1 out of 1 

Phil Barnes, Medical Director 3 out of 5 

Caroline Becher, Non Executive Director 2 out of 2 

Nigel Beverley, Interim Chief Executive 1 out of 1 

Raj Bhamber, Director of Organisational Development and 
Communications 

3 out of 6 

Andrew Burnett, Non Executive Director  1 out of 1 

Graham Clayden, Non Executive Director 1 out of 6 

Mark Devlin, Chief Executive 7 out of 7 

Steve Hams, Chief Nurse 3 out of 5 

Adrian Horwood, Non Executive Director 0 out of 1 

Martin Jamieson, Non Executive Director 4 out of 7 

Patrick Johnson, Director of Operations 0 out of 4 

David Meikle, Director of Finance 2 out of 7 

Tony Moore, Non Executive Director Designate 1 out of 1 

Mark Morgan, Interim Director of Operations 1 out of 1 

John Sands, Non Executive Director 3 out of 7 

Jason Seez, Director of Strategy and Infrastructure 4 out of 7 

Gray Smith-Laing, Medical Director 0 out of 3 

Jan Stephens, Non Executive Director 5 out of 7 

Jane Sutherland, Interim Director of Operations 1 out of 4 

Colin Wilby, Non Executive Director 6 out of 7 

Shena Winning, Non Executive Director 2 out of 2 

 

Non Executive Director Attendance at Governors’ Working Group/Committee Meetings 
1 April 2013/31 March 2014 
 

Attendee Attendance 

Denise Harker 4 out of 4 

Christopher Langley 1 out of 1 

Adrian Horwood 0 out of 1 

Tony Moore 1 out of 1 

John Sands 4 out of 5 

Jan Stephens 2 out of 4 

Colin Wilby 7 out of 8 

Shena Winning 1 out of 1 

Graham Clayden 2 out of 2 

 

Governors are also invited to take part in various Trust Groups and Committees in order to 

communicate the views and concerns of their members.  These Groups include: 

 Emergency Department Patient Focus Group 
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 Emergency Department CQC Inspection Steering Group 

 Maternity Department CQC inspection Steering Group 

 Equality and Fairness Steering Group 

 Outpatient Experience Group 

 Children’s Services Committee 

 Food Quality Improvement Group 

 Health and Safety Committee 

 

During the first half of the year, there was a programme of regular departmental visits, which took 

place at least four times a month with one governor accompanying an executive director and one 

non-executive director.  The purpose of these visits was to develop a picture of a department or 

ward in terms of patient experience, staff experience and patient safety.   

 

The Council of Governors has nominated a senior governor who met with the senior independent 

director to discuss the chairman’s annual appraisal.  The senior governor also has an open 

invitation to attend Board meetings, which she regularly attends together with one other nominated 

governor.   

 

There is a specific item on the Board agenda to allow the senior governor to raise questions and 

concerns directly to the Board.  The governors also keep a log of any queries raised with executive 

directors outside of their scheduled meetings and this log is presented each month at the Board 

meetings in order to update the Board of the types of concerns being reported. 

 

The senior governor reports back at each Council of Governors meeting on her observations. 

 

Power to require one or more of the directors to attend a governors’ meeting for the 

purpose of obtaining information about the foundation trust’s performance of its functions 

or the directors’ performance of their duties 

 

Governors are informed as soon as possible by email of any significant concerns or developments, 

which are then followed up with progress reports at Council of Governors’ meetings.   

The Trust Board continues to look at developing a stronger relationship with its governors to 

understand better their views and the views of their members. 
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Following a request from governors by email after the announcement via the media that the 

integration of Dartford and Gravesham and Medway Foundation Trust Hospital would not go 

ahead, a meeting for all governors was arranged.  Governors met and voiced their concern on a 

number of very serious issues.  It was agreed that every governor would have the opportunity to 

put forward a question, and that the questions would be addressed to the chief executive, senior 

independent director (SID) and Trust chairman.  Governors chose their questions around 

communication, senior management issues, finance, and equal treatment and respect for all 

governors, quite regardless of whom they represented. 

 

Governors requested that the senior governor should draft letters for each of the three people they 

wished to hold to account and circulate for approval.  The letters were delivered by hand, and 

signed for as instructed by governors. 

 

The meeting was arranged for 23 October 2013.  Nineteen members of the Council of Governors 

attended and each governor asked a question previously agreed appertaining to the areas of 

concern highlighted by governors. Minutes were taken by the interim company secretary ensuring 

impartiality and confidentiality. Monitor, the regulatory body, was informed before and after the 

meetings had taken place. 

 

Following the meeting, communication improved dramatically and governors were involved in and 

consulted on matters as appropriate and were generally satisfied with the assurance they sought, 

though subsequently they found they had not been given a full and frank account of the state of the 

hospital finances. 

 

Members may contact governors through the membership office, which is situated in the 

postgraduate centre.  They may contact the office by telephone 01634 825292, in writing to 

Membership Office, Level 1 Postgraduate Centre, Medway NHS Foundation Trust, Windmill Road, 

Gillingham, Kent, ME7 5NY, by email to members@medway.nhs.uk or via our website 

www.medway.nhs.uk.  

 

mailto:members@medway.nhs.uk
http://www.medway.nhs.uk/
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Code of governance compliance  
 
The Trust’s Board of Directors support and agree with the principles set out in the ‘NHS 

Foundation Trust Code of Governance’, first published by Monitor in 2006 and subsequently 

updated from time to time, the last occasion being in December 2013. 

 

The way in which the Board applies the principles and provisions is described within the various 

sections of the Report and the directors consider that, for the 2013/14 year, the Trust has been 

compliant with the Code.  

 

In light of the recent republication of the updated version of the Code of Governance, a review has 

been undertaken of the various disclosure requirements, and as a result statements have been 

made where appropriate in the various sections of the Report including, Board of Directors, Board 

Committees, and Council of Governors: 

 

The Board of Directors will be undertaking a detailed review of the Trust’s compliance with the 

Code during 2014/15. 

 

Annual governance statement  

Scope of Responsibility 
 
As Accounting Officer, I have responsibility for maintaining a sound system of internal control that 

supports the achievement of the NHS Foundation Trust’s policies, aims and objectives, whilst 

safeguarding the public funds and departmental assets for which I am personally responsible, in 

accordance with the responsibilities assigned to me. I am also responsible for ensuring that the 

NHS Foundation Trust is administered prudently and economically and that resources are applied 

efficiently and effectively. I also acknowledge my responsibilities as set out in the NHS Foundation 

Trust Accounting Officer Memorandum. 

 

The details set out in the Annual Governance Statement identify the considerable challenges the 

Trust has experienced during the course of the year, and which will continue into the coming 

twelve months.  In this regard the Trust was placed into Special Measures following a review by 

the Keogh Review Committee into failing hospitals in England which took account of the findings of 

a Care Quality Commission review which identified a high level of mortality rates and poor 

standards of quality of care. 
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The Trust has also remained in significant breach of the terms of its licence relating to financial and 

governance standards, and the Board has been subject to monthly performance review meetings 

to monitor progress being made to remedy the financial and governance issues. 

 

As a result of the ongoing poor financial performance and successive adverse CQC inspections, 

Monitor decided in February 2014 to take steps to appoint a new Interim Trust chairman and 

interim chief executive. 

 

The overall detail contained within the Annual Governance Statement should therefore be read in 

the context of the above. 

 

The Purpose of the System of Internal Control 
 
The system of internal control is designed to manage risk to a reasonable level rather than to 

eliminate all risk of failure to achieve policies, aims and objectives; it can therefore only provide 

reasonable and not absolute assurance of effectiveness. The system of internal control is based on 

an ongoing process designed to identify and prioritise the risks to the achievement of the policies, 

aims and objectives of Medway NHS Foundation Trust, to evaluate the likelihood of those risks 

being realised and the impact should they be realised, and to manage them efficiently, effectively 

and economically. The system of internal control has been in place in Medway NHS Foundation 

Trust for the year ended 31 March 2014 and up to the date of approval of the Annual Report and 

Accounts. 

 
Capacity to Handle Risk 
 
Leadership 

The governance and risk infrastructure introduced in 2011/12 has continued to operate throughout 

the year and supports the work of the Board. 

 

The overall responsibility for the management of risk lies with the chief executive as accounting 

officer. The Board of Directors, collectively and individually, ensures that robust systems of internal 

control and management are in place. Responsibility for leading the management of risk 

throughout the Trust has been delegated to the director of finance (for financial risk), to the medical 

director and chief nurse (for clinical risk) and the director of organisational development for 

governance and corporate risks at Board level. 
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The chief nurse has also been identified as the senior information risk owner (SIRO) to fulfil the 

requirements to have an executive director responsible for managing information governance (IG) 

and associated risks at Board level. 

 

During the course of the year the Clinical and Executive Group was chaired by the chief executive 

who provided the Board with reports setting out the activities of this Group. Assurance is also 

received by way of reports from the Trust’s Internal and External Auditors, the executives and 

various minutes from key sub-committees including infection prevention and control, health and 

safety, information governance, patient safety and patient experience. 

 

The Workforce Committee is a Board Committee which provides assurances that the appropriate 

structures, processes, and systems are in place to ensure an effective capable workforce to meet 

the Trust’s current and future needs. It also ensures that the organisational development and 

workforce strategy and associated plans are aligned and focused on meeting the needs of the 

clinical strategy. 

 

A non-executive director chairs the Quality Committee, which ensures an integrated and 

coordinated approach to the management and development of quality, patient experience and 

patient safety at a corporate level in the Trust. As part of this role, the Quality Committee had until 

October received the results of the national clinical audits and these are presented by the relevant 

directorate clinical audit lead. Since October, this function was transferred to the Integrated Audit 

Committee. 

 

The Trust also has an Audit Leads Committee that has been established to coordinate clinical audit 

within the Trust and to oversee progress towards the annual clinical audit plan and is chaired by 

the Trust clinical audit lead. Until October this reported to the Quality Committee, and since 

October, this function was transferred to the Integrated Audit Committee. My review is also 

informed by the following mechanisms: 

 Review and challenge from non-executive directors within committees and at the Board and 

the improvements in the risk management  process and Board Assurance Framework 

 The challenge of the corporate risk register and individual directorate risk registers at the 

monthly clinical and executive group which consists of all clinical directors and executive 

directors 

 Review and challenge at the governance panel on the Care Quality Commission's 

'Essential Standards of Quality and Safety 
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 Review of Trust's performance against the Quality Governance Framework and 

implementation of actions arising from the KPMG review. 

 External review bodies, e.g. Care Quality Commission 

 Discussions with Monitor and responses to Monitor to the quarterly Board declaration 

process 

 The clinical audit plan, which is regularly reviewed at the Integrated Audit Committee and 

national audits which are presented to the Quality Committee for discussion 

 The Quality Committee's regular review of the Quality Accounts 

 Medway Council's and Kent County Council's Overview and Scrutiny committees 

 Staff and patient surveys (both external and internal) 

 Liaison with key stakeholders, including CCGs, Council of Governors, partner trusts and 

representatives from patient groups and members 

 Complaints and Claims reports 

 Internal and external audit reports 

 NHS Litigation Authority and CNST assessments 

 
Since the beginning of the 2014/15, the Board has agreed five key priorities, which will start to 

address the financial position, and redress the issues involving agency staff. In summary, these 

priorities are as follows: 

 Basic Standards 

 Patient Flows 

 Recruitment 

 Clinical Leadership 

 Financial Control 

 

Progress against these priorities is being monitored by the Trust Board on a monthly basis. 

 

On a more general issue, under existing arrangements the governance manager receives a 

monthly report from the directorate governance leads (who are senior nurses and doctors) on their 

performance against the Care Quality Commission's 'Essential Standards of Quality' and also 

receives a signed compliance declaration. On a quarterly basis, this information is reviewed by the 

head of governance and risk after this has been signed off by the governance lead and the 

directorate's management team. 
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A Quarterly Governance Panel, consisting of the executive director leads for each of the CQC 

standards, supported by the head of governance and risk, met on three out of four occasions to 

challenge each directorate team on the evidence supporting their declaration. 

 

How Staff are Trained or Equipped to Manage Risk 

Board and senior managers throughout the Trust would normally receive annual risk awareness 

training, however in respect of the Board no such training was undertaken during 2013/14. This 

was partly due to the considerable changes that have taken at Board level and the priorities given 

to more pressing issues around the financial position of the Trust and quality issues identified by 

the CQC. 

 

During 2013/14 the focus was on subject specific topics across the core mandatory subjects such 

as information governance, safeguarding, fire safety and root cause analysis training. 

 

Additional training has also been cascaded throughout the Trust via the Directorate Governance 

leads on the use of risk registers and an e-learning risk management module which was 

introduced. 

 

Risks to data security are managed by providing annual information governance training and 

regular global emails to remind staff of the dangers of not securing information. Policies are also in 

place outlining appropriate use of email, internet and equipment and these are reviewed and 

updated. All known incidents are logged and reported to the Information Governance Committee. A 

quarterly briefing is provided to the Board outlining recent incidents, work undertaken by the 

committee and progress against the Information Governance Toolkit. 

 

The Risk and Control Framework 

Governance Structure and Risk Management 

The Trust's risk management strategy, which is available to all staff on the Trust's intranet site, 

outlines the Trust's overall processes for managing risk, corporate and directorate responsibilities 

for risk and the Trust's risk identification, evaluation and control system, as well as the risk 

management process.  An amended strategy was approved by the Board in September 2013 and 

a revised strategy is being developed with the support of external facilitators, and will be 

considered and approved by the Board in 2014/15. 

 

All directorate risk registers for the Trust are now centralized electronically on DATIX, the Trust’s 

risk management system. These are reviewed at monthly directorate governance meetings. Until 
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October 2013 this was supported by monthly risk reviews led by the Clinical and Executive Group 

and since that time at the January governance panel. 

 

The Integrated Audit Committee performs the key role of reviewing and monitoring the systems of 

internal control. It also receives regular reports on the work and findings of the external and internal 

auditors as well as from the local counter fraud specialist. Following each meeting feedback is 

given to the Board by the Committee Chair.  

 

During the year the Trust Board gained a degree of assurance from bi-monthly scrutiny of the 

board assurance framework and corporate risk register, however a review of the Board Assurance 

Framework identified the need for this to be revised and presented in a more objective and 

understandable manner.  This review exercise is being undertaken during the first three months of 

2014/15.  The Trust Board also receives reports from the Integrated Audit Committee and Quality 

Committee, both of which are chaired by Non-Executive directors. 

 

Incident Reporting 

The Trust's e-based reporting system, DATIX web, is now embedded across all wards and 

departments of the Trust so that incidents can be reported and input at source and data can be 

interrogated through ward, team and locality processes. This encourages local ownership and 

accountability for incident management. 

 

The Trust continues to apply the principles and strategies developed by NHS England and uses 

root cause analysis as a tool for undertaking structured investigations into serious incidents. 

 

The Trust has a 'being open' policy which ensures that patients, carers and visitors are involved in 

discussions following an incident. The Executive Team has a nominated director of the week who 

holds open door Sessions which allow staff free access to report and discuss concerns. In addition 

the chief executive and chairman hold regular forums to feedback and discuss issues with all staff 

welcome and encouraged to attend. 

 

Risk Appetite 

The Trust recognises that it is impossible to deliver its services and achieve positive outcomes for 

its stakeholders in a completely risk-free context. Indeed, most actions that result in benefit will 

involve some form of risk. The Trust does however take these risks in a controlled manner, thus 

reducing its exposure to a level deemed acceptable by the Board and, by extension, external 

inspectors, regulators and relevant legislation. 
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How Risks are Identified 

Risks are identified from a number of sources including directorate meetings, performance reports, 

serious incidents, claims and reports from external organisations, internal management reviews, 

complaints and external audits, risk assessments and internal auditors' reports. 

 

The Trust's corporate risk register incorporates finance and clinical risks. The highest rated major 

risks are discussed at monthly meetings of the executive directors and the head of governance and 

risk. Until October 2013 this was supported by monthly risk reviews led by the Clinical and 

Executive Group and since then at the Quality Committee.   Where necessary, recommendations 

are then made to the Board. 

 

The significant clinical risks on the risk register throughout 2013/14 have been in relation to patient 

falls, infection control (MRSA bacteraemia), missed and delayed medications, failure to detect that 

a patient is deteriorating and delayed/no action being taken to escalate this, and bed capacity 

issues where patients may at times be cared for 'out-of-specialty'. During the year these have been 

managed and action plans put in place to mitigate the risks of serious harm being caused. Where 

significant harm to a patient does occur then this is recorded as a serious incident and is fully 

investigated through a root cause analysis and remedial actions being taken. 

 

Risks are rated according to their severity based on a combination of the probability of occurrence 

and impact. 

 

The Trust is designated with NHS Litigation Authority Risk Management Standards for Acute 

Trusts and maternity Clinical Negligence Scheme for Trusts at Level Two. This position has 

continued during 2013/14. 

 

Level Two is described as having adequate policies and processes for managing risk and put into 

practice. 

 

Management of Data Security Risks 

The Information Governance Committee (IGC) oversees and monitors data security risks and 

information governance risks are included in the corporate risk register. Minutes of the IGC are 

provided to the Clinical and Executive Group on a regular basis. This year the Trust achieved an 

overall score of 80 percent and achievement of at least Level Two on all standards in the 

Department of Health's Information Governance Toolkit. 
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Attainment of the standards set out in the Information Governance Toolkit issued by 'Connecting 

for Health' is monitored by the IGC. The Integrated Audit Committee approved the 2013/14 Toolkit 

declaration on 31st March 2014 and no departure from these standards is anticipated. 

Data protection incidents have increased from 103 during 2012/13 to 122 reported during 2013/14. 

 
Stakeholder Involvement 

The Trust's Council of Governors and Non-Executive Directors participate in 

departmental visits throughout the hospital. Part of this role is to ensure that identified risks are 

being managed and to report any unidentified risks. Those participating in such visits submit 

observation forms, which are fed back to the department and where necessary also to the Quality 

Committee. The Trust has continued with the ‘comments’ system in outpatients and maternity 

which provides patients with the opportunity to provide suggestions on how the Trust could 

improve the standard of services. 

 

The Trust has developed the Friends and Family Test since its introduction in April 2013.  The 

response rates to questions raised with stakeholders relatively poor although the feedback 

received was in many instances positive and encouraging. Every effort is being made to improve 

the level of services, taking account of the comments received from stakeholders. 

 

The Trust's Patient Experience Manager attended LINks patient experience working groups for 

Medway and Swale before this group was disbanded.   

 

The Trust's complaints system has also identified areas and actions have been taken as a result of 

these.  

 
Equality Impact Assessments 

The Trust has a Corporate Equality Impact Assessment Programme which identifies priority impact 

assessments and is designed to improve both the quality and scope of the assessments 

undertaken. Impact assessments from the programme are quality assured by the Equality and 

Fairness Steering Group, through its monitoring of the Single Equality Scheme action plan. 

 

The Equality and Fairness Steering Group reports to the Clinical Executive Group and scrutinises 

annual diversity monitoring reports taking remedial action where necessary.  The Group ensures 

the Trust meets its legal obligations and makes a positive contribution to the equality, diversity and 

human rights agenda. 
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The Trust has enhanced workforce reports and developed patient reports covering access to 

services, how patients experience services and complaints assessed against the protected 

characteristics to comply with the single equality duty. 

 

Equality impact assessments and diversity monitoring reports show how the Trust's policies, 

processes and practices affect both staff and service users and are published on the Trust website. 

 

Equality, Diversity and Human Rights 

Control measures are in place to ensure that all the Trust’s obligations under equality, diversity and 

human rights legislation are complied with. 

 

NHS Pension Scheme 

As an employer with staff entitled to membership of the NHS Pension Scheme, control measures 

are in place to ensure all employer obligations contained within the scheme regulations are 

complied with. This includes ensuring that deductions from salary, employer's contributions and 

payments into the scheme are in accordance with the scheme rules, and that member pension 

scheme records are accurately updated in accordance with the timescales detailed in the 

regulations. 

 

Carbon Reduction Delivery Plans 

The Trust has undertaken risk assessments and carbon reduction delivery plans are in place in 

accordance with emergency preparedness and civil contingency requirements.  These are based 

on UKCIP2009 weather projects, to ensure compliance with the Trust’s obligations under the 

Climate Change Act and adaptation reporting requirements are complied with. 

 

Review of Economy, Efficiency and Effectiveness of the Use of Resources 

The Trust achieves economy, efficient and effectiveness by internally employing a range of 

accountability and control mechanisms and also obtains independent, external assurances. 

 

To ensure that resources are used economically, efficiently and effectively across clinical services 

the Trust carries out regular monitoring of clinical indicators on quality and safety. 

 

The Integrated Audit Committee, chaired by a non-executive director and reporting directly to the 

Board, receives independent assurance from internal and external audit and counter fraud 

specialists who support and provide regular reports. This committee also receives other external 

reports and investigations undertaken during the year. 
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The Integrated Audit Committee agrees and annual the work plan and monitors the work 

undertaken by the external and internal auditors, the counter fraud specialist and clinical audit and 

sets aside time with those parties in private so that any confidential items can be discussed if 

necessary.  

 

The committee continued with its programme of presentations during 2012/2013 on those areas in 

which assurance was being sought or on further information relating to particular areas of the 

service. These included complaints and PALS, the bed occupancy system and appointments and 

cancellations. 

 

A non-executive director chairs the Performance and Investment Committee which scrutinises 

performance management in detail each month and reports to the Board on an exceptional basis. 

 

The Board of Directors receives both performance and finance reports at each Board meeting, 

along with reports from each of its committees.  A balanced scorecard was introduced in 

September 2013 at both Board and directorate level to review and monitor performance in relation 

to quality, workforce, operational performance and finance. 

 

Annual Quality Report 

The Board of Directors are required under the Health Act 2009 and the National Health Service 

(Quality Accounts) Regulations 2010 (as amended) to prepare Quality Accounts for each financial 

year. In this regard, Monitor has issued guidance to NHS Foundation Trust Boards on the form and 

content of annual Quality Reports which incorporate the above legal requirements in the NHS 

Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual. 

 

The drawing up of the Quality Accounts is led by the chief nurse with the full support of the Trust 

Board and the Council of Governors. This work has involved discussion and consultation with the 

Board, staff, patients, and governors. 

 

To support this work, and to assure the Board that appropriate controls are in place to ensure 

accuracy of data, the Quality Account is reviewed throughout the year to monitor progress being 

made on the Trust's priorities for improvement. 

 

The Trust has a Clinical Quality Performance Committee, chaired by the deputy chief nurse, which 

reviews on a monthly basis the clinical quality indicators, including the metrics in the Quality 

Account, and reports to the Board’s Quality Committee on an exception basis, with a full report at 
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the end of the financial year. 

 

A quality performance indicator dashboard has been produced so that quality measures are seen 

together rather than dispersed in the operational performance dashboard. 

 

The Quality Account, which is coordinated by the chief nurse, has input from professionals who 

lead on different issues, for example, Clinical Audit and Paediatrics. This allows directors to take 

an objective view of the data being submitted. The Quality Account is subject to review throughout 

the year through the Quality Committee. 

 

The Quality Account 2013/14 is a comprehensive document and focuses on identifying and 

promoting quality issues. This is seen as the central document for the priorities for improvement in 

the quality of the Trust's services. 

 

Comments and advice relating to the Quality Accounts have been sought from clinicians, the 

Board, governors, members of the public, and other stakeholders including NHS Medway, Medway 

LINks and Medway Council's Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 

 

Review of Effectiveness 
As accounting officer, I have responsibility for reviewing the effectiveness of the system of internal 

control. My review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control is informed by the work of 

the internal auditors, clinical audit, the executive managers and clinical leads within the NHS 

Foundation Trust who have responsibility for the development and maintenance of the internal 

control framework. I have drawn on the content of the Quality Report included in this Annual 

Report and other performance information available to me. 

 

My review is also informed by comments made by the external auditors in their management letter 

and other reports. I have been advised on the implications of the result of my review of the 

effectiveness of the system of internal control by the Board, the Integrated Audit Committee, the 

Performance and Investment Committee and the Quality Committee and plan to address 

weaknesses and ensure continuous improvement of the system is in place. 

 

During the year, it became evident that the issues of agency nursing were not being properly being 

controlled or addressed resulting in a substantial increase in the number of agency staff being 

employed, which in turn led to a considerable financial burden contributing to the unsustainable 

financial results for the Trust by the end of 2013/14, and beyond. 
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In November 2013, KPMG performed an external review of the Trust's baseline self-assessment 

against the Quality Governance Framework. An action plan has been developed and is being 

implemented, under scrutiny by the Board’s Quality Committee. 

 

There were three serious incidents related to loss of data in 2013/14. One of these related to a 

member of staff taking home a list of patient identifiable data which subsequently went missing 

following a burglary at the staff member's home. 

 

The second incident involved a staff member who had taken home a Trust camera memory card 

and downloaded images onto their own laptop. The third incident occurred where a damaged PC 

tower was not appropriately disposed of in accordance with Trust policy. 

  

The Care Quality Commission (CQC) carried out two separate responsive reviews during 

2013-14. 

The first was in relation to the Maternity Services and took place between19 and 22 August 2013. 

The findings led to the CQC issuing three Warning Notices (one each against outcome 16, 

Assessing and monitoring the quality of service provision; outcome 14, Supporting workers and 

outcome 13, Staffing) and three compliance actions (one each against outcome 1, Respecting and 

involving people who use services - minor concern, outcome 4, Care and welfare of people who 

use services - moderate concern and outcome 9, Management of medicines - moderate concern). 

The Trust has notified the CQC that it has taken all of the actions required to become compliant 

with those standards where compliance actions were issued. 

 

The second review was in relation to the Emergency Department which took place on 31st 

December 2013. The findings led the CQC to issuing four Warning Notices against two regulations 

that apply to 2 of the regulated activities. The review focused on outcome 4, Care and welfare of 

people who use services and outcome 8 – Cleanliness and infection control. The Trust 

implemented a detailed action plan in response to those areas where the CQC identified non-

compliance. 

 

As part of its new inspection regime, the CQC returned to inspect the Trust from 23 to 25 April 

2014.  At the time of preparing this Report, the outcomes had not been communicated to the Trust. 

 

The Care Quality Commission (CQC) carried out two separate responsive reviews during 2013/14. 
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The Board Assurance Framework should set out the principal risks to the delivery of the Trust's 

strategic objectives and key priorities. The Head of Internal Audit Opinion received for 2013/14 has 

indicated a “limited assurance” for the Trust risk management arrangements and governance 

particularly the Board Assurance Framework. As I have mentioned earlier in this Statement, the 

existing BAF identifies the principal risks to the organisation in a complex manner and a complete 

review of this is being undertaken during the early part of 2014/15.  This will include a review of 

existing risk management arrangements, and a revised BAF is being developed and will be 

presented to the Board at the end of June 2014. 

 

Monitor Conditions 

The Trust was notified by Monitor on 27 April 2011 that as a result of a negative variance from 

forecast surplus for the year ending 31 March 2011, the Trust was placed in significant breach of 

two terms of its authorisation, namely the general duty to exercise its functions effectively, 

efficiently and economically, and its governance duty.  

 

Under the new risk assessment framework being licenced as a Foundation Trust replaced terms of 

authorisation. As such the significant breach of two terms of its authorisation was replaced with 

conditions being placed on the Trust’s licence by Monitor and the Trust is accordingly undertaking 

a clinical and financial sustainability review. A continuity of services risk rating of 1 will be delivered 

in the financial year 2014/15. 

 

Keogh Review 

The Trust approach to patient safety has been entirely focused on reducing harm and avoidable 

deaths. Our results demonstrate improvement in key elements of our patient safety metrics. We 

do, however, recognise that our HSMR has not improved correspondingly and in October 2012 

made the decision to set up the Mortality Working Party, a multi-agency group to support the Trust 

in an increased focus on improving patient safety and reducing HSMRs. The Working Party is 

independently chaired by the director of public health for Medway and this work has been 

supported internally by actively engaging with staff utilising the Listening into Action programme, of 

which the Trust is a national pioneer. 

 

On 6 February, the Prime Minister announced that he had asked Professor Sir Bruce Keogh to 

review the quality of care and treatment provided by those NHS trusts and NHS foundation trusts 

that are outliers on mortality indicators. Fourteen hospital trusts will be investigated as part of this 

review on the basis that they have been outliers for the last two consecutive years on the Summary 

Hospital-Level Mortality Indicator or the Hospital Standardised Mortality Ratio (HSMR). Medway 
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NHS Foundation Trust has been identified as one of these hospitals. The Trust will be participating 

in the review and working with the review panel to improve outcomes. 

 

An action plan was agreed with the review panel and progress against the plan has been 

monitored at regular review meetings. 

 

Conclusion 

2013/14 has proved to be a very difficult year for Medway NHS Foundation Trust. However, 

looking forward the Trust Board has developed its Five Priorities which if achieved will enable the 

organisation to return to a more stable position. 

 
Our concerns have included a number of significant control issues, including the data security 

breaches mentioned in the statement and the CQC Warning Notices. Major issues around 

significant internal control that arose during 2013/14 include: 

 Emergency Department challenges and underperformance 

 Financial challenges 

 Strengthening board leadership 

 The CQC reviews of maternity and ED 

 Keogh review and HSMR 

 

We will be reviewing our structures and governance arrangements during 2014/15 where 

appropriate making the necessary changes to ensure a more efficient and effective organisation for 

the future. 

 

 

 

 

Signed: Nigel Beverley  

Interim Chief Executive   

Date: 28 May 2014 
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Quality Report 
 

Part 1 - Statement on quality from the chief executive 
 
Welcome to our Quality Report for 2013 /14. It is an opportunity to highlight some of our 

improvements in the quality of service we have provided in 2013/14 and how we intend to improve 

for 2014/15 and beyond. As one of the Keogh organisations, the past year has been an eventful 

and particularly demanding year for the Trust with some major challenges, but also some great 

success.   

 

Our vision Better Care Together is designed to ensure patients have a positive experience of care 

endorsed by a set of values. Our staff are skilled in delivering care and treatment to meet 

increasingly complex health needs and these are underpinned by fundamental behaviours such as 

compassion. 

 

The quality of our services is shaped around collaboration with our patients, communities and 

partner agencies, of whom all offer objective challenge to ensure we remain focused on pursuing 

the best outcomes for our patients. 

 

Looking back over the year, the Quality Report details some of our progress to date:  

    

 Increased investment in more doctors and nurses 

 Improved outcomes in key patient pathways 

 The opening of an acute specialist unit for people living with dementia 

 A dementia nurse specialist to support carers of patients who have a diagnosis of dementia 

and to ensure sharing of information to achieve best quality of care 

 Trust wide implementation of an electronic blood tracking system to ensure correct 

samples, every time for our patients  

 The introduction of our concierge, adding value to people who come into contact with our 

hospital and its services 

 Improvement in the quality of care and support for patients who are at the end of life 

pathway, providing better support for their carers, and 

 Best year to date with only 13 C Diff cases acquired against a national target of 25. 
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For those people who have had less than an optimal experience with us, we strive to make further 

improvements to the care we deliver to ensure we learn from their experience.  This is an important 

reflection and part of our plans going forward into 2014/15.  

 

The Trust remains committed to the provision of high quality services for its patients and intends to 

develop its services and premises in the future to ensure ongoing delivery of this commitment. The 

targets that commissioners set for commissioning for quality and innovation (CQUIN) will be used 

to continue to stretch the performance and improve standards of care across the Trust. Critical to 

our success will be to continue to maintain a strong focus on the health and wellbeing of our staff 

and the volunteers who support them.  

 

On 19 and 20 August a team from the Care Quality Commission visited the Trust’s maternity 

department, with a follow-up out of hours visit on 22 August. The report of the unannounced CQC 

visits to maternity in August was published on 23 October. It required some improvements by 31 

December. The report confirmed that: “All the women that we talked with expressed their 

satisfaction with the standards of care they received and spoke highly of the midwives and other 

staff who attended them”. 

 

In 2014/15 we are setting goals and priorities for further quality improvement whilst transforming 

our models of care and developing new care pathways to further improve the patient’s experience. 

Many streams of work have been pulled together into a programme we have named Transforming 

Medway. The programme builds upon, and is informed by the findings of the various Listening into 

Action events (including events for patients, governors and staff) that have been running within the 

Trust since 2012. Some of the workstreams pick up and develop further work that has already 

begun. Likewise, areas of work under review by the multiagency Mortality Working Group include 

work on specific clinical conditions and these are developed further in the projects on the 

deteriorating patient and underpin the pathway standardisation project work.  The priorities are set 

out in part two of this report.   

 

The quality of our services is shaped around collaboration with our patients, communities and 

partner agencies, all of whom offer objective challenge to ensure we remain focused on pursuing 

the best outcomes for our patients. 
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All information contained in this document has been subject to robust internal review and external 

verification by stakeholders and our external auditors. Throughout this report, there are elements of 

the content which we are asked to include both by the Department of Health and Monitor (the 

independent regulator for NHS Foundation Trusts).  

 

It is my responsibility as Interim Chief Executive to ensure the Trust presents an honest and 

accurate account of the work undertaken by staff at Medway NHS Foundation Trust. To the best of 

my knowledge the information in this quality account is a true and accurate reflection of the quality 

of care we deliver to the patients and communities we serve. 

 

 

 

 

 

Nigel Beverley 

Interim Chief Executive     

28 May 2014 
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Part 2 - Priorities for improvement and statements of 
assurance from the Board 

 
Part 2   - Priorities for Improvement and Statements of Assurance from the Board. 

Part 2 of the Quality Report looks forward over the next financial year 2014/15 and explains clearly 

what areas have been identified as priorities for improvement, why these priorities have been 

chosen, how improvement will be achieved and how it will be measured.  

 
There are also board statements relating to the quality of the services the Trust provides.  

 

Looking Forward: Priorities for improvement 2014/15 

It is essential that as many people as possible are involved in developing the priorities for next 

year. The consultation for the priorities for 2014/15 started with a review of last year’s performance 

against the chosen priorities. 

 

Priorities were then recommended for next year. These were presented to the Council of 

Governors, members’ meeting, executive directors, clinical directors, general managers and heads 

of nursing / midwifery for consultation. Consultation was also sought from the NHS Medway 

Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) and Healthwatch Medway.  

 

Taking everyone’s views into consideration, the priorities for improvement for 2014/15 are set out 

in Table 1 below. Following the table an explanation has been given for each priority chosen 

 

Reasoning towards choosing these priorities is also set out below. Each priority has been given 

measurements targets that will allow us to evaluate the improvements made, month on month over 

the coming year.  
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Table 1: Quality priorities for the year 2014/15 
 
Category Priority  What we will 

monitor 
National / 
Peer 
Indicator 

Where 
we are 
now 

Target 
Improvement 
expected 

Patient safety Reduce 
Mortality 
 

Improve 
Management of 
the Deteriorating 
Patient 
 

100 111.2 
(2012/ 
13) 

103 
by 2014/15 

Design and 
implement 
standardised care 
bundles and 
pathways for a 
number of medical 
and surgical 
pathways  

 
NA 

 
0 

Develop 10 and 
implement by 
March 2015 

Reduce Harm 
 

Reduce Falls to 
Fracture 

NA  27 19 

Patient 
experience 
 
 
 
 

 

Improve 
Appointments 
 

Number of 
cancelled and 
changed 
appointments 

No 
national 
OPD 
specific 
data 
available 

13.5% Reduce by 25% 

Number of formal 
complaints 
received  

No OPD 
specific 
data 
available 

569 Reduce by 10% 

Improve 
physical 
hospital 
environment 

Friends & Family 
Test 

 

21.3% 
March 
2014 

0 This is a National 
CQUIN* – requires 
target of 20% for 
Emergency 
Department (ED) 
and 30% for 
inpatients by year 
end. 

Percentage 
achieved on 
condition, 
appearance and 
maintenance 
through PLACE 
action plan 

Peer 
88.75% 

77.83% Increase PLACE** 
score to minimum 
85% 

Clinical 
effectiveness 

Open new 
Admission 
Assessment 
Unit 

Sustain 
Emergency 
Department 
Target > 95% 

95% 88.88% ED targets 
sustained >95% to 
year end 

* CQUIN – commissioning for quality and innovation 

** PLACE – patient led assessments of the care environment 
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 Patient Safety 

 Reduce Mortality  

Hospital Standardised Mortality Ratio (HSMR) is a measurement system which compares a 

hospital’s actual number of deaths with the predicted number of deaths. The prediction calculation 

takes account of factors such as the age and gender of patients, their diagnosis, whether the 

admission was planned or was an emergency admission. If the Trust has a HSMR of 100, this 

means that the number of patients who died is exactly as predicted. If HSMR is above 100 this 

means that more people have died than would be expected, a HSMR below 100 means that fewer 

than expected died. The HSMR at the Trust (MFT) remains significantly higher than expected with 

a year to date (April 2013 – December 2013) score of 111.6.  

 

In December 2012 the Trust established a Mortality Working Party (MWP) to oversee the reduction 

in the HSMR and Standard Hospital Mortality Indicator (SHMI) at the Trust. The agreed objectives 

of the MWP are: 

 to develop a joint understanding of the HSMR/SHMI and reasons for the Trust being an 

outlier 

 to review, if appropriate, a wider set of data and other information to identify issues which 

may contribute to the Trust being an outlier 

 to agree an action plan to improve the hospital mortality indicators 

 to gain assurance that action is being taken to improve the quality of care and reduce the 

risk of death. 

 

The MWP is chaired by Dr Alison Barnett, Director of Public Health for Medway Council.  Members 

include senior managers and doctors from our commissioning bodies and public health as well as 

members of the Board, governors and our clinical leads for safety and audit. This group will 

regularly review why patients die and will ensure correct processes are in place as required for 

safe practice. 

 
 Reduce Harm  

Almost all patients have an increased risk of developing harm while in hospital. Specific areas of 

practice have been noted in recent years to have an effect on patient safety. We want to deliver 

safe care and remove avoidable harm and preventable death. Though the Trust is not an outlier for 

the actual number of falls, it does have a higher than expected number of falls that result in a 

fracture. In 2014/15 we will review all aspects of falls prevention within a concentrated project to 
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ensure we deliver care that meets all requirements to reduce the risk of falls and in particular falls 

that may result in a fracture. 

 Reduce the number of Falls to Fracture  

 

Patient Experience  

We will positively encourage stakeholder engagement in 2014/15, to ensure we listen and respond 

to feedback on patient experience and act in a timely manner to improve any area of concern. 

 

 Improve appointments in Outpatients  

The NHS National Outpatient Survey is administered and used in the same way as the annual 

inpatient survey and was last conducted during 2011. The survey asks a range of questions in the 

following categories: before the appointment, waiting in the hospital, hospital environment and 

facilities, tests and treatments, seeing a doctor, seeing another professional, overall about the 

appointment, leaving the outpatients department and overall impression. 

 

Local surveys and patients’ comments have not demonstrated adequate improvement in the 

patient experience over the past two years in the following areas: cancelled and changed 

appointments and waiting times. We want to continue to work to improve the experience within 

outpatients. However our local Friends and Family Test has demonstrated that 57 percent of our 

patients would be ‘extremely likely’ to recommend the outpatient department and this is with a 25 

percent response rate. In 2014/15 we will continue to measure two areas that indicate that we have 

achieved that goal. 

 

The two areas are:  

 Reduce the number of cancelled and changed appointments, and 

 Reduce the number of formal complaints received and upheld. 

 

 Improve the Physical Hospital Environment  

We need to understand what patients find important to their surroundings and make improvements 

where possible. This will be done by ensuring a thematic approach to reviewing complaints and all 

other patient feedback. We will also work to improve the bathrooms and toilets across the Trust 

through patient led assessments of the care environment (PLACE) action plan – 11 wards have 

been selected for upgrade over the next year. 
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 Improve Friends & Family Test  

Improving the patient experience is a key priority for us. The Friends and Family Test (FFT) is a 

simple comparable test introduced in April 2013 that shows where organisations need to improve 

and provides the mechanism with which to investigate and act upon where they are failing and to 

improve their performance.  

 

The question asks: How likely are you to recommend the emergency department/ward to friends 

and family if they needed similar care or treatment? 

 

The options include: 

 Extremely Likely 

 Likely 

 Neither likely or unlikely 

 Unlikely  

 Extremely unlikely  

 Don’t know   

This is then followed by a second question asking respondents the reason for their choice.  This 

gives qualitative data about the experience that the Trust can act upon. 

 

The Department of Health performance target was to achieve a 20 percent response rate over the 

year. In April 2013 we achieved a response rate of 9.9 percent and 21.3 percent in March 2014.   

 

The FFT response rate has improved following the introduction of a TEXT messaging service and 

an interactive telephone voice messaging service that is sent to all patients who have been 

discharged within 48 hours. The data is then collected and reviewed by staff, who can review the 

results in as near to real time as possible and see what patients have said about their experience.  

Staff can then use this feedback to improve the services they provide.   

 

The FFT will continue to be implemented across certain parts of the Trust as requested and set by 

NHS England guidelines.     
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Clinical Effectiveness 

 Open new Admission Assessment Unit 

The consistently high number of patients admitted to the Trust and remaining an in-patient for 

many days has created a patient flow problem because with only a few empty beds it is difficult to 

continue to see and treat new patients as they come to our Emergency Department. The high 

numbers have also resulted in our medical and surgical assessment areas being closed on a 

regular basis which increases the problem.  

 

We are planning a new Admission Assessment Unit (AAU) which will address these issues. 

Patients will be able to access the most appropriate care more quickly which should reduce 

mortality rates and result in a more positive patient experience. 

 

 Achieving our priorities  

Quality Monitoring pertaining to the Quality Report priorities and related Clinical Quality Indicators 

(CQUIN) will take place on a monthly basis by the individuals best positioned to lead the change to 

improvement. The meeting will be chaired by the deputy chief nurse and will report quarterly to the 

Quality Assurance Committee which is a sub group of the Board.  

 

Statement of Assurance from the Board 
 
Review of Services 

During April 2013 to March 2014, the Trust provided and or subcontracted 42 NHS Services. The 

Trust has reviewed all the data available to them on the quality of care provided in all of these NHS 

Services. 

 

The income generated by the NHS Services reviewed in 2013/14 represents 100 percent of the 

total income generated from the provision of NHS Services by the Trust for 2013/14. 

 

Participation in Clinical Audits 2013/14 

During 2013/14, 37 national clinical audits and five national confidential enquiries covered relevant 

health services that Medway NHS Foundation Trust provides.  

 

During that period, the Trust participated in 95 percent of the national clinical audits and 100 

percent of the national confidential enquiries of the national clinical audits and national confidential 

enquiries which it was eligible to participate in. 
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The national clinical audits and national confidential enquiries that the Trust was eligible to 

participate in during 2013/14 are shown in Table 2. This table also shows the national clinical 

audits and national confidential enquiries that the Trust participated in during 2013/14 and, where 

data collection was completed during 2013/14, the number of cases submitted to each audit or 

enquiry as a percentage of the number of registered cases required by the terms of that audit or 

enquiry. 

 

The reports of 15 national clinical audits were reviewed by the provider in 2013/14 and page 96 

shows the actions that the Trust intends to take or has taken to improve the quality of healthcare 

provided. 

 

The reports of more than 80 local clinical audits were reviewed by the provider in 2013/14 and the 

actions that the Trust intends to take or has taken to improve the quality of healthcare provided for 

a sample of these are outlined on page 103. 

 

The number of patients recruited to take part in research, including the number involved in studies 

supported by the National Institute for Health Research (NIHR) is summarised on page 107.
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Participation in National Clinical Audits and National Confidential Enquiries in 2013/14 

Table 2: National Clinical Audits & Registries 

National Clinical Audits & Registries 
Applicable 

to MFT 
% cases 

submitted 

ACUTE   

Emergency Use of Oxygen  
 

 100% 

Intensive Care National Audit & Research Centre Case Mix Programme   100% 

National Audit of Seizure Management in Hospitals   100% 

National Emergency Laparotomy Audit   Ongoing 

National Joint Registry 
[1]

  92% 

Paracetamol Overdose Audit (Emergency Departments)  100% 

Severe Sepsis and Septic Shock Audit (Emergency Departments)  100% 

Trauma Audit & Research Network   31%   

BLOOD & TRANSPLANT   

National Comparative Audit of Blood Transfusion Programme    

 Use of Anti-D  100% 

 Management of Patients in Neuro Critical Care Units N/A N/A 

 Patient Information and Consent  Ongoing 

CANCER   

National Bowel Cancer Audit Programme 
[2]

 
 

 76% 

National Head and Neck Cancer Audit
 [2]

  100% 

National Lung Cancer Audit 
[2] 

 100% 

National Oesophago-Gastric Cancer Audit 
[2] 

 100% 

HEART   

Myocardial Ischaemia National Audit Project   100% 

National Adult Cardiac Surgery Audit N/A   N/A 

Cardiac Rhythm Management National Audit  100% 

Congenital Heart Disease Audit N/A   N/A 

National Audit of Percutaneous Coronary Intervention    100% 

National Heart Failure Audit 
[3] 

 0% 

National Cardiac Arrest Audit 
[4] 

 U  

National Vascular Registry    

 Abdominal Aortic Aneurysm Repair  100%   
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National Clinical Audits & Registries 
Applicable 

to MFT 
% cases 

submitted 

 National Carotid Endarterectomy Audit  100% 

LONG-TERM CONDITIONS   

National Diabetes Audit Programme   

 National Diabetes Audit  0%     

 National Diabetes Inpatient Audit   100% 

 National Pregnancy in Diabetes Audit   83% 

National Paediatric Diabetes Audit  100% 

UK Inflammatory Bowel Disease Audit 
 

  

 Fourth Round: Ulcerative Colitis  98% 

 Biologics (Infliximab and Adalimumab)  18% 

National Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease Audit  Ongoing 

Paediatric Bronchiectasis Audit  100% 

UK Renal Registry  N/A N/A 

National Clinical Audit of Rheumatoid and Early Inflammatory Arthritis  Ongoing 

MENTAL HEALTH   

National Audit of Schizophrenia  N/A N/A 

Prescribing Observatory for Mental Health  N/A N/A 

OLDER PEOPLE   

Falls and Fragility Fractures Audit Programme    

 National Hip Fracture Database  90% 

 Sentinel Stroke National Audit Programme [5]  70-79%   

WOMEN’S & CHILDREN’S HEALTH   

Epilepsy12 Audit  (Childhood epilepsy)   Ongoing 

Moderate or Severe Asthma in Children Audit (Emergency Departments)  100% 

National Neonatal Audit Programme    100% 

Paediatric Asthma Audit   100% 

Paediatric Intensive Care Audit Network  N/A N/A 
 

Key to abbreviations:  U: Unknown; MFT: Medway NHS Foundation Trust; N/A: not applicable.  

[1] National Joint Registry: Number of cases entered: Hip: 376/398 (94%); Knee: 329/341 (96%); 
Shoulder: 32/56 (57%); Elbow: 7/13 (54%); Ankles: no procedures performed by the Trust.  Total 
procedures submitted for reporting period: 744/808 (92%). 



 
 
 
 

97 
  

[2] National Cancer Audits:  Completeness of data is based on agreed expected annual number of 
cases for each. Actual numbers submitted exceeded expected cases in three out of four tumour 
groups:  Bowel: 122/160 (76%): Head & neck: 73/54 (135%); Lung: 243/205 (118%); Oesophago-
gastric: 71/48 (148%). We believe that all bowel cases applicable to the Trust were submitted, 
although the number expected was higher. 

 [3] National Heart Failure Audit:  The data submission deadline in 2013/14 was June 2013, and 
was missed by the Trust as we started to participate in November 2013; hence the zero 
submission rate. 

[4] National Cardiac Arrest Audit: There are quarterly deadlines for data submission and 
validation for the NCCA. By the end of March 2014, data submission should have been completed 
for Quarters 1 to 3; the Trust entered 85 cases for this period.  Although the number of emergency 
calls is logged by the Trust, these include non-cardiac emergencies and cannot be used to judge 
case submission rate. However, we are aware that the return rate of audit forms following 
resuscitation is poor and work is ongoing to address this. A participation rate has therefore not 
been given. 

[5] Sentinel Stroke National Audit Programme: This is the most recent figure published by 
SSNAP (February 2014) and is an average for two sets of data.  Information for the first 72 hours 
of care was submitted for 90+% cases; information for the remainder of the admission was 
submitted for less than 50 percent of cases. 
 
 

Table 3: National Patient-Reported Outcome Measures (PROMs) 

PROMs measure a patient's health status or health-related quality of life and are collected through 

patient questionnaires. The Trust gives out the pre-operative questionnaires but post-operative 

questionnaires are sent out by a PROMs contractor. Participation by patients is voluntary.  

Procedure 
Pre-operative 

questionnaires 
response rate 

Post-operative 
questionnaires 

Issue rate 
Response 

rate 

Groin hernia  65.7% 71.6% 32.1% 

Hip replacement  87.8% 33.1% * 

Knee replacement  98.8% 28.2% 34.8% 

Varicose vein  58.3% 78.6% * 

All procedures 83.1% 41.9% 30.2% 

Information is for procedures between April and September 2013 – the most up-to-date available 
(published February 2014; classified as provisional data). *Rates are not published when there are 
few responses. See www.hscic.gov.uk/proms. 
 

  

http://www.hscic.gov.uk/proms
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Table 4: National Confidential Enquiries (Clinical Outcome Review Programmes) 

National Confidential Enquiries  MFT 
% cases 

submitted 

National Confidential Enquiry into Patient Outcome & Death   

 Lower limb amputation   100% 

 Tracheostomy care   100% 

 Gastrointestinal bleeding   Ongoing 

Child Health Reviews - UK    100% 

Maternal & Newborn Clinical Outcome Review   100% 

Suicide & Homicide by people with mental illness  N/A N/A 

 

 
National Clinical Audits: Actions planned or taken to improve quality of healthcare 

Adult Bronchiectasis Audit 

Bronchiectasis is an uncommon disease that results in abnormal and permanent distortion of one 

or more of the airways, leading to chronic respiratory symptoms and making the sufferer vulnerable 

to chest infections 

 The audit findings have been shared with the Respiratory Team 

 The clinical lead is exploring developing the home intravenous antibiotic service further. 

 A register of bronchiectasis patients is being compiled 

 An audit is under way to confirm that all patients admitted in the previous 12 months with a 

flare up of the disease have been offered outpatient follow up. 

Community-Acquired Pneumonia (CAP) Audit 

CURB-65 is a severity score based on the following risk factors: confusion of new onset; high 

levels of Urea; rapid respiratory rate; low blood pressure; patient aged 65 or older; maximum score 

is 5 

 The audit findings have been shared with senior Emergency Department staff and discussions 

are taking place to improve recording of severity of pneumonia using the nationally 

recommended scoring system (CURB-65) and to make sure A&E scores are available to staff 

in the main hospital 

 Education of doctors on assessment, treatment & management of CAP using CURB-65 is 

ongoing 

 Senior nurse training is to be provided on which antibiotics to use and how to give them, 

according to pneumonia severity  
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 It is planned to ensure Legionella and Pneumococcal urinary antigen testing is carried out for 

all CAP patients with a CURB score of 4-5 (severe) 

 The Trust continues to participate in the Enhancing Quality Programme for pneumonia, which 

monitors provision of care processes recognised nationally as essential to quality of care. 

Emergency Oxygen Audit 

Oxygen therapy is needed in many critical conditions and can be a life-saver, but it must be 

administered and managed appropriately.  National guidelines state that oxygen should be formally 

prescribed 

 Education on oxygen prescribing is to be reinforced for doctors Trust-wide 

 Nurses are to receive education on how to bring oxygen levels into the middle of the target 

range and hold them there, for maximum benefit to the patient 

 The Intensive Care Unit are to be asked to review documentation of aims and targets for 

therapy. 

Feverish Children Audit 

This audit looked at the treatment of feverish children under five years of age attending the 

Emergency Department (ED) with a medical condition. 

 A review took place of initial assessment of children presenting with an illness to the ED, with 

emphasis on documenting observations in a timely manner  

 Access to appropriate blood pressure measuring equipment for all sizes of children was 

improved 

 STAR (Senior Treatment & Assessment Route) has been introduced as part of the Trust’s high-

priority action plan to improve the ED service. STAR ensures that all patients arriving by 

ambulance are handed over within 15 minutes of arrival and assessed and treatment started by 

a senior doctor and nurse within an hour 

 A local re-audit reassessed management of feverish children and was presented to ED staff in 

an educational session. 

Following the re-audit, new actions planned are: 

 Amend navigation sheet (initial assessment) to include blood pressure or capillary refill time 

 Traffic light poster to be put up in the STAR and navigation areas (see “Traffic light system for 

identifying likelihood of serious illness” in NICE Clinical Guideline CG47 

www.nice.org.uk/nicemedia/pdf/CG47QuickRefGuide.pdf ) 

 Promote use of traffic light stickers 

http://www.nice.org.uk/nicemedia/pdf/CG47QuickRefGuide.pdf
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 Review antibiotics guidance for feverish children 

 The launch of a new Children’s Emergency Department will prioritise the management of 

feverish children. This will be led by a consultant in paediatric emergency medicine with 

recruitment of doctors and nurses specialising in emergency and acute paediatrics.  

 Re-audit. 

Fractured Neck of Femur Audit  

This audit reviewed ED management of patients with a suspected fractured neck of femur (FNOF), 

with focus on pain and timely x-ray and admission. As a result of the audit, the Trust has taken the 

following action: 

 Steps were taken to consolidate the navigation role (initial assessment and appropriate 

management for this group of patients) 

 STAR has been introduced as part of the Trust’s high-priority action plan to improve the ED 

service. STAR  ensures that all patients arriving by ambulance are assessed by a senior doctor 

and nurse within 15 minutes of arrival 

 A fast-track admission procedure is available for these patients, but timing depends on bed 

availability; improving this is being addressed at Trust level as it is a hospital-wide problem 

 Training and development of existing and new staff in the ED has emphasised documentation 

of pain scores, early administration of analgesia, re-evaluation of pain following analgesia, and 

early transfer to the X-ray department 

 A local re-audit reassessed FNOF management and was presented to ED staff in an 

educational session  

Following the re-audit, further actions have been taken: 

 The FNOF proforma has been reviewed and updated 

 The FNOF pathway of care has been reviewed and agreed with the Trust falls lead 

 Transfer of patients with FNOF to an appropriate bed as soon as possible continues to be a 

challenge 

 The ED will aim to train all its middle grades to perform appropriate nerve blocks to improve 

pain management over the next year. 

Intensive Care National Audit & Research Centre (ICNARC) Case Mix Programme 

The Trust provides a comprehensive critical care service with an Intensive Care Unit (ICU) and two 

High-Dependency Units (HDUs): one medical and one surgical. As a result of the audit, the Trust 

has taken the following action: 
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 To optimise the use of critical care beds we need to ensure that ICU/HDU discharges are 

achieved within four hours of request. Discharge delays now form a Quality Indicator for Critical 

Care and are presented to the Board on a monthly basis 

 Work is underway to improve staff resources for the medical HDU, with a 24/7 consultant and 

dedicated junior rota. 

Myocardial Ischaemia National Audit Project (MINAP) 

This long-running national audit seeks to ensure that patients admitted with a heart attack receive 

the best possible care. As a result of the audit, the Trust has taken the following action: 

 It is hoped to develop the service offered by the Trust, so that some of our patients do not have 

to travel to Ashford for treatment. An additional cardiologist has therefore been recruited 

 All of the Trust’s critical care units, including the Coronary Care Unit, have been brought 

together into a single department to enhance the sharing of expertise 

 The lead cardiologist is working with the Emergency Department to improve the pathway of 

care for patients suffering from a heart attack. 

National Audit of Dementia (NAD) 

The results of the first round of this national audit, in conjunction with the launch of the National 

Dementia Strategy and the Prime Minister’s Dementia Challenge, led to a comprehensive action 

plan that was actually being implemented during the data collection for the second round. By the 

time the NAD report was published in 2013, many improvements had already taken place. These 

include: 

 An Acute Medical Dementia Unit has opened  

 Memory/activity rooms have been developed on the three wards for older people 

 Dementia-friendly toilet facilities and signage have been put in place 

 Dementia UK has been commissioned to provide in-depth dementia training 

 A Dementia and Delirium Clinical Nurse Specialist is now in post 

 A Dementia Buddy System – volunteer visiting service – has been developed 

 The Butterfly Scheme (see http://butterflyscheme.org.uk )  has been introduced to help doctors 

and nursing staff care for patients with dementia 

 A clinical support worker has been seconded to focus on carer support, initially on a single 

ward, but with plans to extend out to the other older adult wards 

 A leaflet has been developed, outlining local services for carers of patients with dementia. 

The following actions are ongoing as part of the original initiatives: 

http://butterflyscheme.org.uk/
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 Working with community services to ensure dementia patients receive appropriate support after 

discharge 

 Participation in a commissioning for care and innovation (CQUIN) focussing on dementia 

screening, assessment and specialist diagnosis. (The CQUIN system links a proportion of Trust 

income to achievement of local quality improvement goals). 

Following the second national audit report the following actions are planned: 

 To consider Board-level review of dementia readmissions  

 To screen all inpatients over 75 years using the Abbreviated Mental Test (AMT) 

 To investigate improving out-of-hours provision of the Liaison Psychiatry Service  

 To review the Trust’s discharge policy to ensure it meets the needs of people with dementia  

 In the future, the Trust aspires to putting in place a Specialist Dementia Unit, staffed by both 

RGNs and RMNs. 

National Audit of Percutaneous Coronary Interventional Procedures 

Percutaneous coronary intervention (PCI) is used to prevent heart attacks and relieve the 

symptoms of angina in patients with narrowing or blockage of the arteries supplying the heart 

muscle. A small balloon is inserted to widen the artery and a metal mesh tube implanted to hold 

the artery open. As a result of the audit, the Trust has taken the following action: 

 The William Harvey Hospital at Ashford is the primary PCI centre locally, the transfer delaying 

treatment by at least 50 minutes. To enable the full service to be offered at the Trust, an 

additional interventional operator has been recruited to join the two already in post here 

 It is hoped to recruit more trained nurses to assist in PCI procedures  

 A request has been made for additional administrative support to provide cover and support in 

checking, validating and transmitting the audit data to the national database. 

National Cardiac Arrest Audit (NCAA) 

This audit looks at the management and outcomes for cardiac arrests that have taken place in 

hospital and for which a resuscitation team has been called.  The latest annual report showed 

overall Trust outcomes equal to or better than those predicted by the NCAA risk model. As a result 

of the audit, the Trust has taken the following action: 

 To continue to monitor and chase completion of audit forms in clinical areas outside the ED. 
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National Cardiac Rhythm Management Audit 

Cardiac rhythm management involves implantable devices: pacemakers for patients whose hearts 

beat too slowly, implantable cardioverter defibrillators (ICDs) that deliver life-saving shocks if a 

dangerously fast heart rhythm is detected, and cardiac resynchronisation therapy (CRT) devices 

for advanced heart failure. The focus of this audit is on ensuring equity of provision of these device 

therapies across England and Wales. As a result of the audit, the Trust has taken the following 

action: 

 A cardiology consultant with an interest in device therapy has been recruited specifically to 

improve implantation rates for permanent pacemakers and ICDs 

 Consultants who participate in pacemaker implantation are each to carry out at least 35 

procedures per year 

 Selection of pacemaker devices is to be monitored in accordance with NICE guidance, 

particularly regarding pacing for sick sinus syndrome. If the rate of ventricular-based devices 

proves to be more than 10 percent, an in-depth investigation will be conducted. 

National Carotid Interventions Audit 

The carotid arteries are the main blood vessels that supply the head and neck, and can become 

narrow due to disease. When this happens, surgery is needed to prevent a stroke or transient 

ischaemic attack (TIA; a mini-stroke). As a result of the audit, the Trust has taken the following 

action: 

 The stroke/TIA pathway is being reviewed to ensure rapid delivery of the service – the aim is 

for all carotid surgery to be performed within seven days from symptoms 

 Manpower within the vascular unit is also under review. A business case is being prepared for 

an additional vascular surgeon with expertise in carotid surgery. 

National Lung Cancer Audit 

The Trust provides a diagnostic service as well as chemotherapy, if appropriate, as part of the 

arrangements for lung cancer patients in Kent and Medway; radiotherapy and surgery are provided 

by other trusts. A discussion by all the team involved in management of patients takes place at 

Maidstone & Tunbridge Wells (MTW) NHS Trust. As a result of the audit, the Trust has taken the 

following action: 

 Steps are being taken to ensure that 100 percent of cases are discussed by the 

multidisciplinary team  
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 The Trust lead continues to work with colleagues in the community to encourage earlier 

presentation of patients. A local review showed that, by the time they come to clinic, many 

patients have advanced disease, making curative treatment impossible 

 The cancer services team are investigating an alternative system to collect clinical nurse 

specialist data, as the current system is unreliable 

 Cover is being requested for the clinical oncologist from MTW who runs our lung cancer clinics 

at the Trust 

 An external review of management of late-stage patients is being considered.  

National Neonatal Audit Programme  

This audit allows the Oliver Fisher Neonatal Unit (OFNU) to compare its performance in achieving 

quality standards with other neonatal intensive care units nationally. As a result of the audit, the 

Trust has taken the following action: 

 Work has been under way to optimise ambient temperatures in the obstetric theatres and 

Delivery Suite  

 Admission temperatures for infants will continue to be monitored and further strategies devised 

to minimise temperature losses 

 Breast-feeding rates on OFNU are to be re-audited 

 Clarification is to be sought regarding Kent Network transfers, as transfers for specialist 

treatment outside the Network are much higher for Kent than elsewhere nationally. 

Renal Colic Audit 

Renal colic is the acute, severe pain caused by kidney stones. The audit reviews its management 

in the ED. As a result of the audit, the Trust has taken the following action: 

 As for the Fractured Neck of Femur Audit, steps were taken to consolidate the navigation role 

(initial assessment and appropriate management for this group of patients), with emphasis on 

documenting pain scores and re-evaluating pain after administration of analgesia 

 The Trust reviewed the documentation containing the results of key investigations including full 

blood count, urinalysis and renal function tests 

 The College of Emergency Medicine standards were promoted during education and training 

 A re-audit was undertaken and presented in an educational session to ED staff. 

Following the re-audit, the following actions were carried out: 

 STAR has been implemented to complement the improved navigation process 
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 ED work on a renal colic pathway has been superseded by a proposed new pathway from the 

Urology department. There are on-going discussions to finalise this pathway and to determine 

the point in the patient journey when the patient is referred and accepted by the on-call Urology 

team 

 Plain film radiographs (X-rays) are no longer requested to investigate this condition as 

evidence is in favour of CT KUB (kidney, ureters and bladder) 

 Ongoing changes in the estate and layout of the ED and a new Adult Assessment Unit will 

impact on the renal colic pathway. 

 

Local Clinical Audits: Actions planned or taken to improve quality of healthcare 

The Trust Clinical Audit Programme for 2013/14 included around 200 local audits, with results and 

recommendations of many of these being presented and discussed at dedicated directorate and 

departmental audit meetings. Over 80 local audits were reported to the provider this year. Actions 

taken or planned following a selection of these are given below. 

 

Abdominal Aortic Aneurysm (AAA) repair:  second re-audit of anaesthetic management vs 

AAA Quality Improvement Programme guidelines.  

An Abdominal Aortic Aneurysm (AAA) is a ballooning of the walls of the abdominal aorta, a large 

artery carrying oxygen-rich blood from the heart to the rest of the body.  Where surgery is needed 

to avoid rupture, pre-operative assessment is carried out by the anaesthetist. The following actions 

have been agreed by the Anaesthetics Department following presentation of the audit: 

 Include consultant anaesthetist at multidisciplinary team meetings 

 Assess the risk for all patients undergoing planned surgery to establish if the patient is fit to 

proceed or whether treatment should be postponed whilst fitness is improved by: 

 Performing cardiopulmonary exercise testing (CPEx) for all patients where possible  

 Using V-POSSUM (physiological and operative severity score) risk assessment for all 

patients not able to exercise  

 Performing a Myoview test for all patients with high cardiac risk  

 Cardiac output monitoring to be used on all patients  

 Duration of nasogastric tube placement to be discussed with surgeons. 
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Acute retention of urine in adults 

The audit aimed to improve the experience of patients presenting to the Emergency Department 

(ED) with this common, painful condition.  Current management was compared with UK College of 

Emergency Medicine clinical standards. The following actions have been taken: 

 Education of clinical staff through presentation and discussion of the findings at an ED audit 

meeting 

 Long-term catheters are to be stocked in ED to avoid unnecessary re-catheterisation after 

admission and improve efficient use of resources 

 The report has been shared with the Urology team to secure their agreement to the plan. 

 

Catheter-associated bloodstream infections (CABSI) 

 This is a long-standing audit taking a quality improvement approach (continuous data collection, 

regular evaluation and ongoing refinements in management to produce improvements).  Using it, 

staff working in the Oliver Fisher Neonatal Unit have significantly reduced the number of these 

infections in the neonates under their care.  A care bundle approach is used – a set of evidence-

based practices that together have been shown to improve patient outcomes. Recent actions taken 

have been: 

 Root cause analysis to investigate two MSSA (Methicillin-sensitive Staphylococcus aureus) line 

infections 

 Use of an educational model to ensure sterile technique in re-dressing of long lines (a type of 

intravenous catheter). 

 

Detection and management of delirium in adults presenting to acute or emergency medicine 

 Delirium is a common, reversible confusional state with a sudden onset and fluctuating course. 

Older people and people with dementia, severe illness or hip fracture are more at risk of delirium. 

This audit assessed care of patients with delirium against NICE guidelines. Actions takenas a 

result of the audit include: 

 Results of the audit were presented to a multispecialty audience at an Adult Medicine Audit and 

Governance Meeting 

 A formal Delirium Pathway has been developed – this sets out the process to be followed for 

at-risk patients from assessment within the first 48 hours of admission through to treatment 

 Education in the pathway has been provided for medical staff through its presentation at a 

physicians’ meeting 
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 The pathway is to be included in the Junior Doctors’ Handbook for easy access. 

 

Diarrhoea and vomiting in children under five 

This audit aimed to improve the management of children presenting to the Emergency Department 

(ED) with gastroenteritis. Current management was assessed against NICE guidelines, looking 

particularly at recognition and documentation of clinical dehydration and use of oral rehydration 

salts (ORS) and fluids. Actions taken were: 

 Education of clinical staff through presentation and discussion of the findings at an ED audit 

meeting 

 Design of a proforma and its implementation in the ED to guide documentation and ensure best 

practice is followed 

 Focus on prevention of admission by earlier administration of oral fluid therapy in the ED. 

 

Electronic Discharge Notification (EDN) completion in Trauma & Orthopaedics  

The EDN is a summary of the hospital stay and is essential to maintaining continuity of care. It 

provides valuable information to the patient and their GP, and to other hospitals when necessary. 

This audit aimed to check completion of EDNs for Trauma & Orthopaedic patients and analyse any 

shortcomings. Following the audit: 

 The findings of the audit and issues raised were discussed at one of the multidisciplinary 

(Surgery, Anaesthetics & Women’s Health) audit meetings 

Actions planned are to: 

 Define the role of everybody in the team in completing the EDN – doctors, nurses, pharmacy 

and EDN support team 

 Complete an EDN for all patients, even those not admitted: self-discharged patients, those 

seen on the Clinical Decisions Unit and the Paediatric Assessment Unit 

 Check on completed EDNs after 24 hours to resolve any outstanding problems 

 Ensure prompt action on medication issues, through liaison between pharmacy and medical 

staff. 

 

Informed consent for planned gynaecological surgery  

It is important that patients are fully informed of the benefits and risks of any planned surgical 

operation as well as of alternative treatments they may wish to consider. This audit looked to see if 

standards are being fully met for this group of procedures. The following actions were taken: 
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 Refresher education for clinical staff through presentation and discussion of audit findings at a 

Women’s Services Audit Meeting  

 In particular, staff were reminded of the necessary competencies for taking consent and the 

need to document when patient information leaflets had been provided. 

 

Pre-operative investigations carried out in Pre-Assessment and POCU (Pre-operative Care 

Unit)  

Tests carried out to establish fitness of patients and risks prior to surgery must conform to NICE 

guidelines; inappropriate investigations are unnecessary, inconvenience and distress patients, 

increase workload and are a financial burden. The following actions have been taken to improve 

quality and efficient use of resources: 

 Education for anaesthetists and Pre-Assessment nurses through presentation of the audit 

findings at an Anaesthetics Audit Meeting  

 Consensus agreement obtained that the current local investigation schedule is fit for purpose 

 Instruction of POCU staff not to take extra blood tests on the day of surgery. 

 

Recall rates in MRI reporting  

MRI recall rates are kept under review, as it is important to avoid inconvenience to patients where 

at all possible. This audit's aim was to determine a baseline value for patient recall following 

reporting in MRI. The recall rate was calculated at 3.1 percent, which is just above the 3 percent 

local target. The majority of patients were recalled for the addition of post Gadolinium scans to 

improve diagnostic accuracy. The following actions were agreed: 

 A point of care testing machine to measure kidney function at or near the bedside is to be 

acquired in order to allow contrast administration when required. This has been funded by the 

League of Friends and is on order 

 The contrast policy for patients with spinal changes following surgery is to be confirmed. A 

Standard Operating Procedure is being devised to clarify the situation 

 MRI protocols are to be reviewed – this is already ongoing and the review of neurology 

examination was completed in January 2014 

 Recall rates will be subject to regular re-audit and the next round is already planned. 
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Referral pathway for first seizure  

The focus of this audit is to ensure that patients coming into Emergency Department following a fit 

are seen promptly in clinic.  After the first audit cycle, a referral system was put in place using a 

special form.  Following re-audit, the following actions have been completed:   

 Results of the audit were presented to a multispecialty audience at an Adult Medicine Audit and 

Governance Meeting 

 The referral proforma has been revised to make it easier to fill in with appropriate information  

 Two dedicated slots per week for new seizure patients have been established in the neurology 

registrar’s clinic  

 One protected slot per week has been established in the neurology consultant’s clinic 

 The pathway of care has been made more efficient by pre-booking an MRI and EEG for first 

seizure patients. 

 

Term admissions to the Neonatal Unit (NNU)   

Department of Health guidelines suggest that no more than six percent of the Unit’s admissions 

should be babies delivered at term. A preliminary audit found a higher rate and changes made as a 

result mean that babies with a risk of hypoglycaemia (low blood sugar) are now cared for on the 

postnatal ward in line with other units in the local network. This study re-examined reasons for 

admissions of babies born at term and determined current admission rate.  A significant reduction 

had been achieved. As a result of the audit: 

 A joint project between Neonates and Maternity is underway to address the rising number of 

community re-admissions of term infants (early indicators suggest trend is reducing). 

 

Trial without catheter (TWOC): referrals and outcomes audit   

A TWOC involves a trial removal of a catheter inserted into the bladder to check whether the 

patient is able to pass urine spontaneously.  The Urology Clinical Nurse Specialist runs a special 

clinic at Medway to support patients and ensure the trial goes successfully. This audit looked at 

appropriateness of referral and compliance with local policy for TWOC.  The following actions have 

been taken: 

 Staff education on appropriateness of referrals and pathway of care for patients requiring 

TWOC – through presentation of the audit at Urology Department and multidisciplinary 

(Surgery, Anaesthetics & Women’s Health) audit meetings 

 Education on TWOC referral at doctors’ induction (new starter) sessions 
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 Revision of referral form  

 Electronic referral made available via intranet (Trust’s website for staff). 

 

Commitment to research as a driver for improving the quality of care and patient 

experience` 

 

The number of patients receiving NHS services provided or sub-contracted by the Trust (MFT), 

between the period 1 April 2013 and 31 March 2014 who were recruited during this period to 

participate in research approved by a research ethics committee was 4745. 

 

The Trust is actively involved in research supported by the National Institute for Health Research 

(NIHR).  Figure 1 presents the annual recruitment target and the actual number of patients at the 

Trust recruited into the NIHR adopted studies for the years 1 April 2010/31 March 2011, 1 April 

2011/31 March 2012, 1 April 2012/31 March 2013 and 1 April 2013/31 March 2014. 

 
Figure 1: Annual Recruitment Target with number of participants within the Trust 2010/14 

  

 

Participation in clinical research demonstrates the Trust’s commitment to improving the quality of 

care we offer to patients and to making a contribution to improving healthcare services. Our clinical 

staff stay abreast of the latest treatment possibilities through active participation in many different 

types of research leading to successful patient outcomes. 
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For the period 1 April 2013 to 31 March 2014 there were a total of 117 research studies conducted 

at the Trust, including staff undertaking MSc final year dissertations. For the same period the Trust 

took part in 86 NIHR supported studies, including 46 cancer specialty studies.   

Figure 2 presents the number of studies that the Trust participated in between 1 April 2010/31 

March 2011, 1 April 2011/31 March 2012, 1 April 2012/31 March 2013 and 1 April 2013/31 March 

2014. 

 
Figure 2: Number of Studies the Trust participated in 2010/14 
 

 

The majority of cancer studies are designed to increase life expectancy. The investigators for few 

other studies stated that their research definitely contributed to the reduction in overall mortality. 

Table 5 presents examples of the intent/rationale for four studies undertaken between 1 April 2013 

and 31 March 2014. 
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Table 5: Examples of four studies undertaken for 2013/14 

 

Study 
Acronym 

Rationale 

TEAMM The myeloma cancer affects the immune system and patients are at greater risk 
of infections. The study investigates whether giving an antibiotic to a patient for 
12 weeks straight after the diagnosis of myeloma cancer will reduce the 
occurrence of infection.  

Persephone 
 
With patient consent a tumour sample from a tissue removed during a surgery is 
kept to carry out laboratory research. The tissue is used to produce a protein 
and tumour-genetic profiles (like a fingerprint) to see whether it is possible to 
predict outcomes, and how well the treatments will work.  
 

BUMPES 
 
Women adopt many positions in labour including sitting, kneeling, standing, 
leaning, and lying on an angled bed. The aim of the study is to find out the best 
position (upright or lying down) which will end in a straightforward birth for first 
time mothers who choose to have an epidural.  
 

EMMACE 3 
 
The study involves collecting data from medical records to establish why some 
patients with heart disease do less well than others. 
 

 

The improvement in patient health outcomes in the Trust demonstrates that a commitment to 

clinical research leads to better treatments for patients. In the period between 1 April 2013 and 31 

March 2014 the investigators at the Trust published 20 articles. 

 

Continual growth in research activity indicates our commitment to work in successful partnership to 

provide flexible, first class healthcare to local people and our desire to improve patient outcomes 

and experience across the NHS. 

 

Our engagement with clinical research also demonstrates the Trust’s commitment to testing and 

offering the latest medical treatments and techniques. An example is a study into magnetic 

resonance biomarkers in neonatal encephalopathy (MARBLE), where the Oliver Fisher Neonatal 

Unit was able to acquire a new brain scanning technology which will allow doctors to predict how 

babies with neurological problems are likely to progress in subsequent years. In addition to that 

benefit, the new equipment means that patients who were previously transferred to a London 

hospital for a scan can now have their scans taken locally.  
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There were approximately 153 clinical staff participating in research approved by a research ethics 

committee at the Trust between 1 April 2013 and 31 March 2014. Staff participate in research 

covering 22 medical specialties. The number of studies in each speciality is presented in table 6. 

 

Table 6: Number of Studies in each speciality 2013/14 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
*Studies outside of clinical speciality for example education studies or research into overall patient experience. 

 

The Commissioning for Quality and Innovation (CQUIN) 

A proportion of the Trust’s income in 2013/14 was conditional on achieving quality improvement 

and innovation goals agreed between the Trust and any person or body with whom they entered 

into a contract, agreement or arrangement for the provision of NHS services through the 

Number of Studies by Medical Speciality 2013/2014 

Anaesthesia 0 

Blood & Cardiovascular 1 

Cardiology 1 

Colorectal Surgery 0 

Critical Care 6 

Dermatology 2 

Diabetes 6 

Diatetics 0 

Ear nose and throat 1 

Endocrinology  0 

Epidemiology 0 

Fetal medicine 3 

Gastroenterology 3 

Genitourinary Medicine 1 

Gynaecology 5 

Haematology and Cancer 46 

Infection Control 0 

Microbiology 0 

Neonatology 9 

Neurology 0 

Neurosciences 2 

Nuclear medicine 0 

Obstetrics 2 

Older People 2 

Osteoporosis 0 

Other Surgery 0 

Paediatric surgery  0 

Paediatrics 6 

Pathology  0 

Pharmacy 0 

Physiotherapy 0 

Radiology 1 

Renal 1 

Respiratory & Thoracic 2 

Rheumatology 5 

Stroke 2 

Trauma and Orthopaedic Surgery 5 

Urology  0 

Vascular Surgery 0 

Other* 5  

TOTAL 117 
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Commissioning for Quality and Innovation payment framework. Further details of the agreed goals 

for 2013/14 and for the next 12 month period are available electronically at www.medway.nhs.uk 

 

The CQUIN framework has been the foundation of discussions about quality of service between 

the Trust commissioners. A number of CQUIN targets are determined nationally and are as a 

response to known areas requiring improvement within patient safety and patient experience. The 

framework ensures a dialogue between providers and commissioners about what is important to 

the local community.  These are then transferred to local CQUINs. 

 

Two point five percent of the Trust’s 2013/14 projected income of £4,231,731 (£4,703,000 for 

2012/13) was dependent on the Trust achieving the CQUIN targets, which are composed of 

national, regional and local targets.  Performance against the CQUINs is in table 7. 

 
Table 7: Performance against CQUINs 2013/14 
   

 Description Achievement 

National Friends and Family Test Partially Achieved 

Local Safety thermometer data submission and improvement in harm-free care 
with a reduction in Falls 

Partially Achieved 

National Dementia targets including screening, risk assessment and referral, staff 
training and support for carers 

Achieved 

National VTE risk assessment and Root Cause Analysis Achieved 

Local Smoking in pregnancy Partially Achieved 

Local % of appropriate patients risk-assessed for falls within Emergency 
Department 

Not Achieved 

Local A&E data quality Data no longer available  

Local Improvement in discharge process Not Achieved 

Local Improvement targets within outpatients Achieved 

Local Cultural barometer Achieved 

 
For the first time in 2013/14, three pre-qualifiers were introduced. These looked at new areas of 

patient safety and experience that were expected to become definite areas for introduction in 

mainstream practice over forthcoming months or years. The targets were: 

 Intra-operative fluid management (IOFM) while in theatre  

 International and commercial activity – an app for use with patients with delerium  

 Support for carers for people living with dementia.  

 

These targets have been achieved and are now part of patient safety and experience practice 

across the Trust. 
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Four of the 10 areas for improvement fully achieved their target during 2013/14 and three partially 

achieved. These achievements have impacted on the Trust through the following actions. 

Enhancing Patient Safety by: 

 Ensuring submission of data on all patients one day a month within a safety thermometer audit 

looking at harm caused by falls, pressure ulcers, VTE assessment & urinary tract infections 

with an indwelling urinary catheter 

 Ensuring patients are identified for risk of blood clots on admission 

 Ensuring those patients who have acquired hospital acquired VTE are reviewed with lessons 

learnt and circulated appropriately.  

Improved Patient Experience through: 

 Enhanced responsiveness to patient needs, particularly with the outpatient programme and at 

discharge 

 Ensuring for three consecutive months that patients over 75 years who are admitted or who 

are living with dementia are identified, screened and referred appropriately for specialist 

review 

 Ensuring that carers of patients living with dementia are supported. 

Enhanced Clinical Effectiveness by: 

 Referring more patients for smoking cessation 

 Achieving high impact innovation with introduction of oesophageal doppler monitoring 

hydration under anesthesia 

 Ensuring staff are supported to be effective by reviewing their comments through a cultural 

barometer survey and taking action where appropriate. 

 

In those areas where the Trust did not fully achieve its target, we will continue to monitor and 

report within the directorate quality governance performance structure, in order to continue to strive 

for best practice and best experience for patients over the next year. For specific targets a more 

realistic indicator has been implemented for next year. An example of this is where the indicator for 

one of the smoking targets requiring all women to be reviewed for their smoking status at the time 

of delivery of their baby. We did not achieve this target because the midwives were reluctant to 

negatively affect the woman`s birth experience with that question. We will now ask the same 

question in the postnatal period and are confident that the target will be met.   
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Care Quality Commission (CQC) 

The Trust is required to register with the Care Quality Commission and its current registration 

status is registered without conditions. The Trust has not participated in special reviews or 

investigations by the CQC during 2013/14.  

 

The CQC has taken enforcement action against the Trust during 2013/2014 and has carried out 

two separate responsive reviews during this time.  The first of these reviews was in relation to 

maternity services and took place from 19 to 22 August 2013. The findings from this review led to 

the CQC issuing three warning notices (one each against outcome 16, Assessing and monitoring 

the quality of service provision, outcome 14, Supporting workers and outcome 13, Staffing) and 

three compliance actions (one each against outcome 1, Respecting and involving people who use 

services – minor concern; outcome 4, Care and welfare of people who use services – moderate 

concern; and outcome 9, Management of medicines – moderate concern). The Trust has notified 

the CQC that it has taken the actions required to become compliant with those standards where 

compliance actions were issued.  

 

The second of these reviews was in relation to the Emergency Department and this took place on 

31 December 2013. The findings from this review led to the CQC issuing four Warning Notices 

against two regulations that apply to two of the regulated activities. The review focused on 

outcome 4, Care and welfare of people who use services and outcome 8 – Cleanliness and 

infection control. The Trust has implemented a detailed action plan in response to those areas 

where the CQC identified non-compliance. 

 

As part of its new inspection regime, the CQC informed the Trust that it would be returning to 

inspect the Trust from 23 to 25 April 2014. 

  

Data Quality 

The Trust has a well-established Information Governance Group.  During the year 2013/14, the 

Data Quality Group has not met regularly, but will meet monthly going forward. The Information 

Governance group is chaired by the Chief Nurse and the Data Quality Group will be chaired by the 

Assistant Director of Finance. Secondary Uses Service (SUS) data quality is discussed at these 

meetings, where a SUS data quality dashboard has been developed to indicate any areas of 

concern. 
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The Trust developed a Data Quality Policy, formally setting out responsibilities for data quality 

throughout the Trust. The executive director responsible for ensuring that the policy is adhered to 

is the director of finance.  

 

The Trust will be taking the following actions to improve data quality under the following headings: 

 Clinical coding 

 Data checks 

 Other data quality checks 

 

Clinical Coding 

The coding department faced some challenges with staffing and increased workload because of 

extra external auditing in the past year. As a consequence, comprehensive audits were carried out 

at less than the bi-monthly intervals. Audits are undertaken using the latest audit methodology as 

recommended by Connecting for Health (CfH). All internal audits are carried out by the clinical 

coding service manager, who is an accredited clinical coder, CfH registered clinical coding auditor 

and experienced clinical coding trainer. 

 

Table 8: Clinical Coding audits 

Month Specialty 
December 2013 Orthopaedics 

 
In addition to the above audit, the Trust is required to carry out a coding audit to satisfy the 

Information Governance Toolkit requirements (IG505). This audit was carried out in July 2013 and 

concentrated on the quality of coding for urology patients. 

 

Alongside the audits into orthopaedics and urology summarised in Tables 9 and 10 below, King’s 

College Hospital was commissioned to investigate the accuracy of the clinical coding of deceased 

patients at Medway Maritime Hospital in both April and December 2013. The outcomes of those 

audits are also summarised below in Tables 11 and 12. 

Individual Results 

 
Table 9: Orthopaedic audit 

FCEs 
Audited 

Primary 
diagnosis 

correct 

Secondary 
diagnosis 

correct 

Primary 
procedures 

correct 

Secondary 
procedures 

correct 

Episodes 
changing 

HRG 

74 92% 77% 94% 84% 13% 
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Table 10: Urology (IG toolkit) 

FCEs 
Audited 

Primary 
diagnosis 

correct 

Secondary 
diagnosis 

correct 

Primary 
procedures 

correct 

Secondary 
procedures 

correct 

Episodes 
changing 

HRG 

200 92% 90% 94% 88% 5% 

 
Table 11: External Audit April 2013 – Deceased coding 

FCEs 
Audited 

Primary 
diagnosis 

correct 

Secondary 
diagnosis 

correct 

Primary 
procedures 

correct 

Secondary 
procedures 

correct 

133 68% 71% 94% 91% 
 

Table 12: External Audit December 2013 – Deceased coding 

FCEs 
Audited 

Primary 
diagnosis 

correct 

Secondary 
diagnosis 

correct 

Primary 
procedures 

correct 

Secondary 
procedures 

correct 

196 82.4% 94.3% 91.6% 95.4% 
 

The Trust was not subject to the payment by results clinical coding audit during the reporting 

period by the Audit Commission. There is regular monthly auditing on SUS data, correcting 

anomalies before the second inclusion.  A `qlikview` dashboard is used for this. This includes 

poorly coded primary diagnosis and ungrouped HRGs.  

  

During 2013/14,  as well as continuing with a clinical coding audit programme, a clinical coding 

training programme further developed the clinical coders in their roles. All clinical coders are up-to-

date with refresher course training. The 2013/14 training programme included refresher and 

revision workshops, together with obstetrics and perinatal and circulatory and vascular workshops, 

details of which are outlined in Table 13, below. 

 
Table 13: Clinical Coding Training 2013/14 
 

Course/Workshop Month No of 
coders 

Refresher workshop (4 days) May 2013 3 
Revision workshop (3 days) July 2013 3 
Obstetrics & Perinatal workshop (3 days) August 2013 3 
Circulatory & Vascular workshop (4 days) October 2013 4 

 

Assessment tests are undertaken as part of the appraisal process. Clinical coders are expected to 

achieve at least 85 percent accuracy and most achieve over 90 percent. One further clinical coder 
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attained the accredited clinical coding qualification bringing the total number of qualified clinical 

coders to 12.  Two further clinical coders are preparing to take the examination in March 2014.   

 

The emphasis on clinical documentation and data quality has enabled the coding department to 

establish a good rapport with clinicians. The clinical coding service manager (CCSM) now has a 

dedicated slot on junior doctors’ induction. A guide for clinicians has been produced by the CCSM 

and distributed to all directorates. This outlines what is required in terms of clinical coding with 

regard to Payment by Result (PbR) for payment and HSMR for mortality.   

 

The CCSM has presented at two audit meetings and a surgical local induction. She regularly 

attends the gastro meeting. Further discussions have taken place with regards to stroke coding 

with a stroke specialist and deceased coding and the elderly with a geriatrician. This will continue 

in 2014/15. 

 

The CCSM works with the electronic discharge notification (EDN) manager to ensure that data on 

the EDN is fit for purpose.  The CCSM audits the EDN when she does her internal audits. 

Data Checks 

There is a validation process for deceased coding. All coding along with the medical notes are sent 

to the consultant in charge of the case for validation of the coded data. This is signed and returned 

to the coding office. Clinicians report any anomalies they have identified. 

 

Monthly reports are checked to ensure that all deaths have the appropriate palliative care code if 

applicable. 

 

Other Data Quality Checks 

 

Hospital Standardised Mortality Rate (HSMR): The Trust reviews a monthly HSMR report. This 

includes an analysis of areas of potential clinical concern and a full coding review of patient case 

notes where appropriate.   

 

The coding department had meetings with the neonatal consultants and Dr Foster to look at the 

data for neonatal deaths.  It transpired that babies stillborn were being admitted on PAS as if they 

were well babies. This had an effect on the HSMR.  An exercise was carried out by the PAS team 

to amend all these records and Dr Foster no longer includes stillbirths in their methodology. 
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GP Codes: Reports on the accuracy of GP codes are produced monthly and circulated to clinical 

directorates. The report shows performance in aggregate and also by ward, so that areas of non-

compliance can be investigated. 

 

Ethnic Reports:  Reports on the ethnicity of admitted patients are produced monthly and 

circulated to all clinical directorates for checking, prior to being included on the main Trust 

performance scorecard, which is discussed at the Performance & Investment Committee. 

 

Unrecorded Outpatient Clinics: Each month a report is sent to clinical directorates and the 

outpatients team to indicate the number of outpatient clinics where the outcome of patients who 

attended remains unrecorded. This ensures that each patient’s treatment details are properly 

recorded on the Patient Administration System (PAS). 

 

Inpatients Data: Reports on 18 week referral to treatment targets are sent to clinical directorates 

monthly for validation to ensure that access targets are met, and that no patients are unrecorded 

on PAS, thereby delaying their admission. 

 

Comparative Health Knowledge System (CHKS) Data Quality Dashboard: The Trust accesses 

a monthly data quality dashboard from its CHKS benchmarking system to share with 

commissioners. This compares the Trust performance with a wide peer group. The latest results 

show that in many areas the Trust is performing to a higher level than its peers.   
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Table 14: CKHS Data April – September 2013 

 

 Apr 2013 to Sep 2013 

DATA QUALITY INDICATOR 
TRUST 
RATE 

NATIONAL 
RATE 

Data Quality Index 96.1 95.8 

   
Blank primary diagnosis 1.03% 0.41% 

   

Unacceptable primary diagnosis 0.03% 0.04% 

Diagnosis non-specific 13.88% 13.47% 

Sign and symptom as a primary diagnosis 10.64% 11.41% 

Sign and symptom as a primary diagnosis:  
Episode 1 

11.12% 11.46% 

Sign and symptom as a primary diagnosis:  
Episode 2 

7.79% 12.58% 

Admitting diagnosis emergency for elective 
admission 

0.67% 1.24% 

Coded Finished Consultant Episodes (FCEs) with 
Palliative care code Z515 

0.66% 0.78% 

Deaths with Palliative care code Z515 15.28% 16.88% 

Coded FCEs with end of life care code Z518 0.34% 0.33% 

Deaths with end of life care code Z518 22.38% 15.92% 

Date conflicts 0.01% 0.09% 
HRG U Groups 0.02% 0.60% 

   

Average diagnosis per coded episode 4.3 4.5 

      
Source of Data - CHKS 

 
CHKS was used as a benchmarking system up to September 2013.  This compared the Trust’s 

performance with a wide peer group.  The Trust decided to commission Dr Foster Intelligence for 

future benchmarking and therefore no longer use CHKS. Data is being collected and will be 

included once available. 
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NHS Number and General Medical Practice Code Validity 

 NHS Number  

The NHS number is a unique identifier used by healthcare staff and service providers to match 

every patient’s health records, forming the basis of the electronic health record (EHR). The 

Operating Framework requires providers and commissioners to use NHS numbers, influencing 

commissioning and financial payments. 

 

The Trust submitted records during April 2013 to January 2014 to the Secondary Uses Service 

(SUS) for inclusion in the Hospital Episode Statistics which are included in the latest published 

data. The percentage of records in the published data which included the patient’s valid NHS 

number was: 

 99.2 percent for admitted patient care 

 99.3 percent for outpatient care 

 95.7 percent for Emergency Department. 

 

 General Medical Practice Code Validation 

The details of every general practitioner (GP) must be included in the GP registration. Each GP in 

the UK has a unique reference code which has to be included in the appropriate documentation. 

The percentage of records in the published data which included the General Medical Practice 

Code validity was: 

 99.9 percent for admitted patient care 

 99.9 percent for outpatient care 

 94.2 percent for Emergency Department 

 

Information Governance Toolkit (IGT) 

Information governance ensures that the necessary safeguards for, and appropriate use of, patient 

and personal information. The toolkit provides NHS organisations with a set list of standards 

against which the Trust declares compliance annually. The toolkit is an online system which allows 

NHS organisations and partners to assess themselves against Department of Health information 

governance policies and standards. 

 

The Trust’s Information Governance Assessment Report overall score for April 2013 to March 

2014 was 80 percent and was graded satisfactory.The score and progress towards completion of 

the IG Toolkit are monitored at each meeting of the Information Governance Committee, which 

reports in to the Integrated Audit Committee (IAC).   
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NHS Outcomes Framework Indicators 
The NHS Outcomes Framework sets out the outcomes and corresponding indicators used to hold 

the NHS Commissioning Board to account for improvements in health outcomes. There are five 

Domains which describe at a high level those areas that the NHS should be aiming to improve, 

focus on improving health and reducing health inequalities. 

 

 

 

The indicators that are relevant to the Trust in 2013/14 and performance against those indicators 

are set out in the pages that follow. Where previous year data is available this is included within the 

table. Areas where the data is not available are within Domains 3 and 5. 

The Trust is measured using two different statistical systems and both are published nationally. 

The HSMR (Hospital Standardised Mortality Ratio) has not improved, while SHMI (Standardised 

Hospital Level Mortality Indicator) has been reducing consistently within normal limits. Both 

standards should be below 100. Over the last two years the Trust has recognised that the biggest 

areas of concern have been patients with fractured neck of femur and septicaemia. 

The Trust considers that the data in Domain 1 is as described and worse than the national 

average. It remains a Trust priority to improve over in 2014/15. The Trust intends to work 

collaboratively with the all stakeholders to implement improvement to the quality of its services with 

the Mortality Working Party chaired by the Director of Public Health for Medway. 

 

The figures relating to palliative care coding remains near the national average. Continued work in 

this area will further improve the hospital level indicator. 

http://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2013/09/outcomes-framwrk.p
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DOMAIN 1: PREVENTING PEOPLE FROM DYING 
PREMATURELY    

      

SUMMARY HOSPITAL-LEVEL MORTALITY INDICATOR       

Period MFT SHMI Banding 
National 
Ave. 

Highest 
SHMI 

Lowest 
SHMI 

Oct 2011 – Sept 2012 1.134 1 1.0000 1.2107 0.6849 

Jan 12 – Sept 12 1.089 2 1.0000 1.1919 0.7031 

Apr 2012 - Mar 2013 1.0826 2 1.0000 1.1697 0.6523 

Jul 2012 - Jun 2013 1.0577 2 1.0000 1.1563 0.6259 

     

PATIENT DEATHS WITH PALLIATIVE CARE CODING      

Period MFT % National Ave. Highest % Lowest %  

Apr 2012 - Mar 2013 20.4% 19.9% 44.0% 0.1%  

Jul 2012 - Jun 2013 19.6% 20.3% 44.1% 0.0%  

 

  

DOMAIN 3: HELPING PEOPLE TO RECOVER FROM EPISODES OF ILL-HEALTH OR FOLLOWING 
INJURY 
 
The Trust considers that the PROMS data for 2013/14 for hip replacement and groin hernia are better 

than the national average and that knee . There were a low number of returns for knee replacement and 

varicose veins and therefore these are not comparable. 

The Trust has taken actions to improve PROMS and the quality of its services by establishing the new 

Surgical Patient Enhancement Team. This is aimed at all stable surgical patients who still require surgical 

treatment but can receive this treatment at home. This will help improve the patient experience. 

The latest provisional PROMS data published is from April 2013 to September 2013. The Trust’s 

adjusted average health gain scores during this period are as follows 

 
PATIENT REPORTED OUTCOME MEASURES (PROMS) - 2013/14     

Procedure 

MFT 
Adjusted 

Ave. Health 
Gain National Ave. 

Highest 
Value 

Lowest 
Value 

Hip Replacement primary * 0.447 0.545 0.373 

Hip Replacement revision * 0.261 * * 

Knee Replacement primary * 0.339 0.429 0.264 

Knee Replacement revision * 0.255 * * 

Groin Hernia * 0.086 0.138 0.019 

Varicose Vein * 0.102 0.094 0.058 

* No modelled score calculated due to small number of results.   
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Readmissions for children have improved since last year. However, there is work that needs to be 

undertaken to look at adult readmissions across the whole health economy. The increased use of 

Hospital at Home and the surgical enhanced team will ensure that patients are discharged ready 

for independent living, reducing the probability of readmission.  

 
Readmission within 28 days 
 
RE-ADMISSIONS WITHIN 28 DAYS - AGED 0 TO 15 YEARS    

Period MFT % National Ave.    

2012-13 10.9% 9.6%    

2013-14 9.3% Data not yet available     

     

RE-ADMISSIONS WITHIN 28 DAYS - AGED 16 YEARS OR OVER    

Period MFT % National Ave.    

2012-13 7.1% 7.0%    

2013-14 10.6%  Data not yet available    

     

Note:  2012/13 figures were taken from CHKS which had no exclusions applied.  In order to comply with 

Monitor's definition, the 2013/14 rates were recalculated to exclude maternity and cancer patients. 

 

Readmissions for children have improved since last year. However, there is work that needs to be 

undertaken to look at adult readmissions across the whole health economy. The increased use of 

Hospital at Home and the surgical enhanced team will ensure that patients are discharged ready 

for independent living, reducing the probability of readmission.  

 

DOMAIN 4: ENSURING THAT PEOPLE HAVE A POSITIVE EXPERIENCE OF CARE 
 
 

Quite clearly the results of both the national inpatient survey and national staff survey  are 

disappointing, with little improvement year on year. They further confirm that we need to improve 

many aspects of our service. Those were the lessons arising out of Sir Bruce Keogh’s report in 

The unadjusted average health gain scores for the same period are as follows:  

     

PATIENT REPORTED OUTCOME MEASURES (PROMS) - 2013/14   

Procedure 
MFT Unadjusted 
Ave. Health Gain National Ave.   

Hip Replacement primary 0.578 0.447   

Hip Replacement revision 0.014 0.261   

Knee Replacement primary 0.476 0.339   

Knee Replacement revision * 0.255   

Groin Hernia 0.104 0.086   

Varicose Vein * 0.102   

* No modelled score calculated due to small number of results.   

     



 
 
 
 

126 
  

the summer of 2013 and the findings of CQC into our Emergency Department published earlier 

in 2014. The inpatient survey, which also took place last summer, confirms much of what we 

knew and have already taken action to redress.  

 

The Trust’s strategy is based on making the experience of its patients the very best it can be. 

Under the banner of Transforming Medway, we have launched a major campaign to change the 

Trust’s ways of working, and the environment in which that work is done. We have already made 

significant progress in terms of transforming our hospital infrastructure, for example, with plans to 

bring all of our emergency services together on one level and under one roof. 

 

We cannot afford to be complacent about the inpatient survey results and must reflect on, and 

act upon the outcomes. Importantly, we now have a clear and compelling strategy to help tackle 

our immediate priorities and to transform what we do, and where it is done. By working together 

to deliver our goals, we will not just make our service better, but ultimately make it the best it can 

be. 

 

     

NATIONAL INPATIENT SURVEY - RESPONSIVENESS TO PERSONAL NEEDS OF PATIENTS 

Period Medway FT 
National 

Ave. 
Highest 
Value Lowest Value 

2011/12 71.6 67.4 85.0 56.5 

2012/13 72.2 68.1 84.4 57.4 

2013/14 70.2 68.7 84.2 54.4 

     

NATIONAL STAFF SURVEY - RECOMMEND THE TRUST AS A PROVIDER OF CARE TO FAMILY OR 
FRIENDS 

Period MFT % 
National 

Ave. Highest % Lowest % 

2012 57% 63% 94% 35% 

2013 47% 67% 94% 40% 

 

 

DOMAIN 5: TREATING AND CARING FOR PEOPLE IN A SAFE ENVIRONMENT AND 
PROTECTING THEM FROM AVOIDABLE HARM 
 
Almost all patients in hospital have an increased risk of developing blood clots in the legs which 

can then travel to the lungs. These are known as venous thrombo-embolisms (VTE). All inpatients 

should be assessed for their risk of developing such clots so that the appropriate preventative 

treatment or prophylaxis can be implemented which should result in fewer complications for 

patients. Although the Trust had made good progress in the previous year, it was felt that in order 

to ensure a culture of sustained practice it was best to maintain this as a priority for 2013/14. This 
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priority also continued to be a national CQUIN for the year. The national target for VTE 

assessments increased in 2013/14 from 90 percent to 95 percent.  

 

The Trust has achieved and sustained that national target of more than 95 percent. 

      
      

VTE RISK ASSESSMENT          

Period 
MFT % Risk 
Assessed 

National 
Ave. 

Highest 
Value 

Lowest 
Value  

2012-13 95.7% 93.9% 100.0% 76.1%  

Apr 2013 - Feb 2014 96.1% 95.7% 100.0% 65.3%  

 
 
 

In terms of incidence rates of C.Difficile, the Trust has continued to improve performance and has 

had the lowest ever number of cases during this year. There were a total of 13 post 72 hour cases 

attributed to the Trust against a target of 25.  This is a national and Monitor target. There has been 

a steady reduction in cases over the past seven years. This has been achieved because of a 

sustained range of interventions focusing on: 

 Antibiotic controls/prescribing 

 High standards of environmental cleanliness 

 Early recognition of potential cases, instigating infection prevention and control measures 

and empirical treatment, and 

 Undertaking enhanced measures that are followed after each case 

 

All cases defined as post 72 hour are subject to a root cause analysis to identify good practice, 

compliance with Trust policies and any areas of learning. 

 

C. DIFFICILE INCIDENCE RATE (PER 100,000 BED DAYS)     

Period MFT Rate National Ave. Highest Value Lowest Value 

2012-13 8.8 17.3 30.8 0.0 

2013-14  6.5 Data not available until end of July 2014  
  

 

The rate of patient safety incidents has increased and the overall reporting rate significantly 

improved. We will sustain this going forward for 2014/15 and also include the numbers and levels 

of harm occurring. Now that we seem to be getting the front end resolved, we will focus on the 

investigation side, the learning from this activity and more promptly closing investigations down. 
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PATIENT SAFETY INCIDENTS REPORTED       

Period MFT Rate 

Ave. for 
Medium Acute 

Hospitals Highest Value Lowest Value 

2012-13 5.82 7.21 15.58 2.47 

2013-14* 10.76 7.47   14.49  3.54 

     

PATIENT SAFETY INCIDENTS REPORTED THAT RESULTED IN SEVERE HARM OR DEATH 

Period MFT No. (%) 

Ave. for 
Medium Acute 

Hospitals Highest Value Lowest Value 

2012-13 37 (0.88%) 0.68% 3.34% 0.10% 

2013-14* 97 (1.22%) 0.70%  3.1%   0.00%  

* Full data not available until 2015 

 
Review of Quality Performance 

The quality of the Trust’s services is monitored at Trust wide level by the Quality Committee which 

is a sub group of the Board. This committee has two task groups, patient safety and patient 

experience. The Board receive a monthly performance and there are monthly quality performance 

meetings with each of the directorates. There is also a set performance indicators which is 

monitored by the nursing and midwifery staff through the Trust’s nursing and midwifery 

accountability system. This is a well-established tool which enables the senior nursing team to 

monitor, challenge and share practice across the Trust. 

  

Additionally, as part of the commitment following the Keogh review, we participate in the NHS 

England (Kent and Medway) quality sub group. External assurance is provided through the clinical 

quality review meeting chaired by Medway Clinical Commissioning Group. The agenda provides 

the opportunity for support and challenge in relation to all the quality indicators, CQUINs or any 

other issue around quality that has given cause for concern. 
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Part 3 – Other Information 

This part of the Quality Report looks back on last year’s information and priorities regarding quality 

of services, explaining both what has been achieved and where improvements are needed.  

 

It also showcases areas of good practice in relation to patient safety, patient experience and 

clinical effectiveness, and provides an explanation of other areas of service that are specific to this 

organisation and have been a local focus over the past year.  

 
Looking back at our priorities in 2013 /14 

Our nine priorities for improvement for the past year are set out in Table15. 

 

Table 15: Our priorities for improvement for 2013/14 

 
 
Patient safety 
 

 

 Ensure harm free care 

 Improve HSMR 

 Improve access and reporting in 
diagnostics 

 

 
 
 
Patient experience 
 

 

 Improve the patient experience in 
outpatients 

 Improve the patient experience in the 
Emergency Department 

 Improve the discharge experience for 
patients and their carers 

 

 
 
 
Clinical effectiveness 
 
 

 

 Improve aspects of care given to the frail 
elderly 

 Improve aspects of care within maternity 
care 

 Improve aspects of care within the 
paediatric services 

 

There is a short introduction to each priority, setting out why it was chosen and an explanation of 

performance against that priority, including reasons for why the target has not been achieved. 

Table16 at the end of this section shows how the Trust performed against target by year end, with 

an additional column to demonstrate actions that we will be taking forward into 2014/15. Where 
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possible and appropriate, we have also included national data and comparator data from peer 

trusts within our catchment area. Patient Safety 

Ensure Harm Free Care 

Almost all patients have an increased risk of developing harm while in hospital. Specific areas of 

practice have been noted in recent years to have an effect on patient safety. We wanted to deliver 

safe care and remove avoidable harm and preventable death. Progress was monitored by 

measuring five main areas:  

 Using the national safety thermometer tool which looks at the number of four harms – 

pressure ulcers, falls, blood clots & infections with in-dwelling catheters  

 Ensuring our patients are assessed on admission for risk of blood clots/thromboembolic 

event (VTE) 

 Ensuring our patients are prescribed the appropriate prophylaxis to avoid a thromboembolic 

event (VTE) 

 Ensuring there is a fail-safe process for avoiding Never Events – never events are defined 

as serious, largely preventable patient safety incidents that should not occur if the available 

preventable measures have been implemented 

 Ensuring there is a concerted effort to improve the management of patients with sepsis; the 

Quality Account omitted medications audit concentrated on antibiotics in 2013/14. 

 

The Quality Account target for reducing pressure ulcers, falls, blood clots and infections was 94 

percent. This was not achieved as a total score but when separated by admitted and hospital 

acquired, the Trust achieved the target to 97 percent, which is an increase in those patients who 

received harm free care. The Trust intends to improve this score, and so the quality of its services 

by viewing the data in two ways – a total score and a hospital acquired score. This allows us to 

concentrate on the area of harm that may have increased or is concerning in that month.  

 

Assessing patients for VTE and prescribing the appropriate prophylaxis were kept as priorities for 

2013/14, with the aim of building on the success achieved during the preceding year. This priority 

also continued to be a national CQUIN for the year. The national target for VTE assessments 

increased in 2013/14 from 90 percent to 95 percent. The Trust has achieved and sustained that 

national target of more than 95 percent, although not the higher target of 97 percent it set within 

the Quality Account. 
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In order to monitor appropriate VTE prophylaxis, 40 inpatient drug charts are randomly audited 

each month from medical and surgical directorates. The Trust intends to take the following actions 

to improve VTE practices and the quality of its services. The VTE nurse continues to educate 

doctors and nurses to ensure a change of practice occurs, starting in areas identified through 

RCAs.  

 

One of the quality improvement metrics for 2013/14 was identified as a 50 percent reduction in 

omitted antimicrobial drugs. Over the last six months, a monthly audit was undertaken which 

looked at patients’ drugs charts to see whether any drugs were out of stock and therefore could not 

be given to the patient, and also whether each of the drugs given was signed for. The Chief Nurse 

also asked South Coast Audit to focus on missed drug doses on wards this year. The external 

audit was carried out in December 2013 and a figure of 8 percent omission rate for antibiotics was 

found. 

 

The Trust intends to take action to improve this score, and so the quality of its services, including 

focused work within pharmacy to understand issues around out of stock items, the appointment of 

a chief pharmacist and the creation of a new task force. 

 

Improve HSMR  

As one of the Keogh trusts, the Hospital Standardised Mortality Ratio (HSMR) at the Trust remains 

significantly higher than expected with a year to date (April 2013 to December 2013) score of 

111.6. A mortality working party meets regularly and oversees the action plan to achieve a 

reduction in the HSMR at the Trust. Over the next year this work will continue as part of 2014/15 

priorities with a target of 103 to year end. Specific areas with the HSMR have seen improvement 

for example Septicaemia and Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease (COPD). 

A small taskforce was established to review the Trust’s response to sepsis patients.  The Think 

Sepsis protocol was re-launched on a new observation chart and the protocol and compliance 

sticker for each blood culture. Increased training and awareness campaigns were implemented 

across the Trust through the senior nurse leadership. This was supported by a short term nurse 

who worked with the wards to audit and review the patients with sepsis. The introduction of senior 

treatment and assessment risk (STAR) in the Emergency Department has resulted in a significant 

increase in the numbers of patients receiving treatment in a timely manner. This has resulted in a 

reduction in crude mortality and standard mortality rate (SMR) in patients with septicaemia. 
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Working through the task force established for septicaemia, a number of actions have been 

implemented to improve recognition of the deteriorating patient, including the launch in August 

2013 of a new observation chart based on the new National Early Warning System (NEWs). The 

adoption of the new chart has resulted in an increased compliance measured by the quarterly 

observation audit and an increased and earlier escalation to the clinical outreach team (including 

using the Situation Background Assessment Recommendation (SBAR) method of escalation). This 

has culminated in no serious incidents being identified as a result of a failure to escalate. 

 

The SMR and crude mortality for acute renal failure are rising. The Trust has established a working 

group within the Enhancing Quality (EQ) programme in order to implement the required 

improvements. A new policy was agreed in February 2014 and will be launched in March 2014. 

The Trust is auditing these patients as part of the EQ programme.  Appropriate Care Scores (ACS) 

are not yet available due to the time lag inherent in the EQ programme. A Qlikview system for 

identifying patients with acute kidney injury and an associated sticker system are currently being 

piloted in the Acute Medical Unit (AMU) and the Critical Care Outreach Team. This should enable 

early identification and treatment of those patients. 

 

The SMR and crude mortality for acute cerebrovascular disease remain high and require a 

concerted effort to improve. In October 2013 a multi-disciplinary and multi-agency project group 

was established. The purpose of this group is to work with community partners in reviewing the 

stroke patient pathway with a view to improving patient outcomes and experience, to use the 

Stroke Sentinel National Audit Programme (SSNAP) database to seek areas for potential 

improvement, and to audit mortality data and patient notes to seek areas for potential 

improvement. 

 

The Trust intends to improve this score and the quality of its services through a number of actions, 

including mapping of the pathway into computerised tomography (CT) to identify improvements  

and improving the care for patients with atrial fibrillation in the community  

In June 2013 a Kent-wide switch of the service provider for the radiology information systems (RIS) 

was carried out.  Problems and delays with the implementation of the new system led to the 

imaging departments losing access to the RIS for several weeks over the summer. In Medway 

contingency plans were put in place and the department worked with a paper based system.  Once 

back on line, paper based data had to be retrospectively added, with the Radiology Information 

System (RIS) needing further configuration and updates to meet the needs of the service.  This led 

to a backlog of information to be uploaded to the system, which does not allow for accurate 
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reporting figures to be run from the RIS for the time being. The figures produced for June, July and 

August 2013 were from a turnaround time audit.  

 

The Trust intends to take the following actions to improve this score and so the quality of its 

services. The informatics team are working on a data extraction solution which will enable the Trust 

to produce this data going forward. 

 
Patient Experience 

Improve the Outpatient Experience 

Over the last year the trust has been listening and learning to patient feedback in order to improve 

progress in the reducing both number of cancelled or changed appointments and the number of 

formal complaints received, increasing the number of PALS contacts and increasing the number of 

patients who wait fewer than 15 Minutes to be seen. 

 

The number of changed or cancelled appointments has not reduced as much as we would have 

hoped because of increased capacity and demand. The introduction of the new OASIS system will 

eventually help us drive improvement and better meet the expectations of patients who have had a 

poor experience, allowing them greater opportunity and flexibility to arrange appointments that 

better suit their individual needs.  

 

The number of formal complaints has not reduced to a level we would have expected. However, 

we do need to focus on listening and responding to patients as issues arise and manage their 

expectations in a timely manner. 

 

The number of PALS contacts have increased in many instances with a satisfactory outcome. 

However, many contacts have gone on to be formal complaints due to their complexity and nature. 

We will continue to monitor this and learn from what our patients are telling us.  

Patients are still waiting over 15 minutes to be seen and this remains a key focus for clinic capacity 

and planning for the future. A review of all clinics will take place to allow for an improved level of 

patient satisfaction. 

 

Friends and Family Test (FFT) 

In November 2013 we changed our process of collecting FFT information, switching from a paper 

based system to an automated text and voice service provided by Healthcare Communications.  

The service takes an automatic feed from our Patient Administration System (PAS) and seeks 
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responses from patients within 48 hours post discharge. The new service is operational in the 

Emergency Department, inpatient areas and maternity.  There are three elderly care wards, who 

are continuing to use paper as this fits more appropriately to their patient group.   

 

In March 2014, we began trialling a text and automated voice service for a small selection of 

outpatient clinics in anticipation of full implementation towards the third quarter of 2014/15. Senior 

Sisters and Charge Nurses have access to the FFT data, both quantitative and qualitative. The 

qualitative feedback is extremely helpful in improving our services by responding to the comments 

and suggestions made by the patients.  

 

The inpatient FFT response rate for January 2014 has shown a marked improvement on the 

previous three months. There is greater confidence with the new system and ward teams are 

encouraging patients to respond to the free texts or automated voice calls.   

 

Improve patient experience in the Emergency Department (ED) 

One of the most important questions within the Emergency Department national survey, which is 

used as a proxy measure to gauge how well we are doing in looking after our patients is: “overall, 

how would you rate your care?‟ The Trust scored 83 percent in 2013/14. 

The Trust intends to improve the quality of its services and national score to at least 85 percent for 

2014/15 despite the substantial building work planned to improve the ED environment. The Trust 

recognised during 2013/14 that the process by which the Friends and Family Test was enabled did 

not elicit a high enough response rate. And so the process was changed to incorporate a texting 

service (described above) to provide patient satisfaction information. There was a drop in the 

number of responses during this phased period but the response rate is now achieving over 15 

percent response rate a month. The Trust is aiming to improve that to a minimum of a 25 percent 

response rate during 2014/15 and with it an improvement in the net promoter score.  
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Clinical Effectiveness  
Improve aspects of care given to frail elderly  

 

Much has been implemented for our patients living with dementia. The launch of the National 

Dementia Strategy and the Prime Minister’s Dementia Challenge led to a comprehensive action 

plan that was actually being implemented during the data collection for the second round. The 

many improvements over the past year include: 

 An Acute Medical Dementia Unit has opened  

 Memory/activity rooms have been developed on the three wards for Older People 

 Dementia-friendly toilet facilities and signage have been put in place 

 Dementia UK has been commissioned to provide in-depth dementia training 

 A Dementia and Delirium Clinical Nurse Specialist is now in post 

 A Dementia Buddy System – volunteer visiting service – has been developed 

 The Butterfly Scheme (see http://butterflyscheme.org.uk )  has been introduced to help doctors 

and nursing staff care for patients with dementia 

 A clinical support worker has been seconded to focus on carer support, initially on a single 

ward, but with plans to extend out to the other older adult wards 

 A leaflet has been developed, outlining local services for carers of patients with dementia 

 

The Trust is taking the following actions to improve practice and so the quality of its services, 

including working with community services to ensure dementia patients receive appropriate 

support after discharge and participation in a CQUIN focussing on dementia screening, 

assessment and specialist diagnosis. 

Future actions planned include a review of dementia readmissions, screening all inpatients over 75 

years using the Abbreviated Mental Test (AMT), improving out-of-hours provision of the Liaison 

Psychiatry Service and reviewing the Trust’s discharge policy to ensure it meets the needs of 

people with dementia. The Trust has also recruited mental health trained nurses to work alongside 

general nurse trained nurses to ensure best practice 

 

http://butterflyscheme.org.uk/
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Improve aspects of care within maternity  

During the year, we introduced further experience to enhance the experience of women who give 

birth at Medway, including the transformation of the Delivery Suite, which deals with more complex 

pregnancies, through a £225,00 project. The suite now has an environment similar to the Trust’s 

highly praised, midwifery led Birth Place. 

 

The refurbished suite enables high risk women to experience the same relaxing surroundings as 

those with problem free pregnancies. And those who transfer from the Birth Place to the Delivery 

Suite now move seamlessly between both areas. 

 

The Trust’s midwife to mother ratio improved to 1.29 exceeding the national rate of 1.30. 

 

Improve aspects of care given within paediatrics  

There have been five medication errors related to gentamicin in neonates in 2013/14 as a result of 

administration and prescription errors.  This is a 50 percent reduction of the 10 reported for last 

year.  The way that we prescribe Gentamicin has been changed since last year.  Many of the 

errors were due to the timing being wrong, with the medication given 18 hourly on Neonatal 

Intensive Care Unit (NICU) compared to other paediatric areas. 

 

The target is zero which is of course the optimum target but one which is probably 

unachievable.  We continue to monitor the errors and provide training and supervision to those 

staff members identified.  The actions that the Trust intends to take to improve its services include  

stickers to go on the prescription charts and pre-set boxes at 18 hourly intervals, thereby reducing 

timing errors. Now that the process appears right and the practice is embedded it seems to be 

working well. It is expected that further improvement will continue during 2014/15. 

 

 Total number of assessments carried out in 2013/14 was 689 

 Number within target of 28 days was 384 (55.75 percent). 

The Trust has experienced a reduction in the number of referrals of looked after children (LAC) 

year on year, with a total number of medical assessments of 590 for 2013/14, compared with 834 

for 2012/13. There is currently a lack of capacity within the medical team and their clinics to deal 

with the number of referrals received, which can fluctuate month to month . The clinicians are 

unable to flex clinic capacity within the short timescales that often apply. 
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In 2014/15, the team will be focusing on early identification of the numbers of children being taken 

into care by attending the decision making panel each week.  This will enable them to identify the 

number of appointments needed and ring fence the slots.  A timely appointment after referral is the 

key to giving the clinicians enough time to complete the paperwork and to write the comprehensive 

care plan summaries integral to the future care of the looked after child.  In addition, the job plan 

for the designated doctor for looked after children (LAC) is being reviewed.  
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Table 16: Looking Back on 2013/14 with Target achievements: 
 
Category Priority  What we will monitor National / Peer 

Indicator 
Target  
Expected  
2013/14 

YTD Actions 
for 
2014/15 

Patient 
safety 

Ensure harm 
free care   
 

 
Increase the percentage of patients who 
have ‘harm free’ care within four areas: 
falls, pressures ulcers, blood clots and 
infection with an in-dwelling urinary 
catheter 

 

92.33% national median 

rate 

Trust 92% in 2012/13 

 
 

 
Increase to 
94%. 
 

 
92.18% 
 
(97.25% on 
hospital 
acquired 
harms) 

 
Continue to audit 
Work with Medway 
Community Trust to enhance 
improvement with admitted 
harms. 

Percentage of patients who are assessed 
for risk of VTE on admission. 

95% 
National CQUIN 
95.7% national average 
 
Trust 96% in 2012/13 

Increase  to 
97% 

96.05% Sustain and Improve 

Percentage of patients prescribed the 
appropriate VTE prophylaxis (random 
audit 10pts per month) 

No national data 
available 
 
Trust 94% in 2012/13 

Increase to 
98%  

100% Sustain 

Ensure no ‘never event’ happens Trust 3 in 2012/13 0 1 Continue vigilance to ensure 
no further never event 

Reduce number of Omitted Antibiotic 
Doses 

No national / peer target 
available 

50% 
reduction 

8% Following SEC audit task 
group commenced to look at 
a project plan to improve 
practice in 2014/15 

Improve 
HSMR 
(Source Dr. 
Foster) 
 

Reduce HSMR Trust 105 in 2012/13 
East Kent Hospital 
(EKHUT) – 79.5 
Maidstone & Tunbridge 
Wells (MTW) – 93.0 
Dartford & Gravesham 
(DVH)– 86.6 

100  
by 2014-15 

111.6 Continue work with Mortality 
Working Party and 
enhancing quality agenda 

Septicaemia (except in Labour) 
 

Trust 110.4 in 2012/13 
EKHUT – 73.3 

100 
 by 2014/15  

108.3 Continue Improvement 
Gained 
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MTW – 85.6 
DVH – 99.4 

Acute cerebrovascular disease  
 

Trust 114.7 in 2012/13 
EKHUT – 83.2 
MTW – 102.9 
DVH – 114.0 

100 
 by 2014/15 

116.9 New multi - agency/multi -
disciplinary group 
established to continue work 
into 2014 /15 

     

Acute and unspecified renal Failure  
 

Trust 103.5 in 2012/13 
EKHUT – 82.8 
MTW – 104.3 
DVH - 133.8 

100 
by 2014/15 

130.8 Now part of EQ programme 
for 2014/15 

Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease 
and bronchiectasis  
 

Trust 109.3 in 2012/13 
EKHUT – 66.7 
MTW – 97.6 
DVH– 77.8 

100 
by 2014/15 

89.9 Significant improvement 
achieved 

Improve 
access and 
reporting of 
diagnostics for 
inpatients 

Reduce time of request to investigation to 
report available for all in-patients and 
within all Imaging Modalities 

 

Trust 2/3 days in 
2012/13 
No national / peer timing 
available 

1 day 
(24hrs) 

Move to 
new 
radiology 
system 
resulting in 
no available 
data 

New Radiology Information 
System (RIS) in place with 
improved reporting to ensure 
a change in practice 

Patient 
experience 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Improve the 
patient 
experience in 
outpatients 
 

Number of cancelled and changed 
appointments 

Trust 13.5%  in 2012/13 Reduce by 
25% to 
10.125% 

11.25% New OASIS patient 
administration system in 
May 2015 will support 
change 

Number of formal complaints received  Trust 569 in 2012/13 Reduce by 
10% to 512 

570 Improve responsiveness of 
complaint handling and 
reduce by 10% in next year. 

Increase the number of PALS contacts to 

improve immediate resolution 

Baseline 3,641 total 
across Trust for 2012/13 

>303/month 3,871 
 

Achieved 

Increase the number of patients who wait 
< 15 minutes to be seen. 

Trust 56% for 2012/13 
No national / peer timing 
available 

Increase to 
80% 

60% Review of all clinic capacity 

Improve 
patient 

Friends & Family Test 
 

This is a National 
CQUIN – 22.9% 

Increase 
response to 

21.7% 
average in 

Embed new texting system / 
continue training of staff 
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experience in 
Emergency 
Department 
 

average in Jan/Feb 
2014  

20%. Jan/Feb 
2014 

Overall Experience in Emergency 
Department National Survey. 

No national / peer timing 
available 

 
80% 

 
79% 

Undertake survey being 
rolled out during summer 
2014 and review & action 
requirements for change 

Improve the 
discharge 
experience for 
patients and 
their carers 

 
Delays to discharge from National Survey 

 
Trust Red for 2012/13 

 
Amber Green Sustain and improve 

 
Ensure EDN/discharge notice to GP 
within 24 hours 

Trust 94% in 2012/13 
Not available for 
national/peer 

 
95% 

 
89.7% 

 
Directorate led plans in 
place to improve practice 

Reduce inappropriate readmissions  Elective 3.8% national 
rate. Peer rate 3.7%. 
Trust rate 3.9% for 
2012/13 
 
Emergency 11.1% 
national rate. Peer rate 
10.8%.  
Trust elective 3.9%; 
emergency 10.8% for 
2012/13. 

<3% 
Elective  
 
<10% 
Emergency 

3.3% 
 
 
10.0% 

Directorate led plans in 
place to improve practice 
 
Achieved 

Clinical 
effectiveness 

Improve 
aspects of 
care given to 
frail elderly 

Improve hydration Trust 73.3% for 2012/13 
No national/ peer target 
available 

Achieve 
75% 
 

Achieved Sustain and improve 

Sustain the three areas of dementia 
assessment – find, assess and refer 

National CQUIN of 90% 
in all areas x 3 months 
consecutive 
Trust >90% all areas x 3 
months consecutive for 
2012/13 

>90% all 
areas x 6 
months 
consecutive 

Three 
consecutive 
months 
achieved 

Achieved CQUIN target of 3 
consecutive months – 
remains a target in 2014/15 
for achievement of 90% 
every month 

Develop dementia friendly environment Trust nil in 2012/13 
No national/ peer target 
available 

Three 
wards 
implement 
buddy 
scheme 
across the 

Achieved Sustain and Improve 
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Trust. 

Improve 
aspects of 
care within 
maternity care 

Improve midwife to mother ratio 1:33 Trust rate 1.34 for 
2012/13 
 
Birth rate plus national 
workforce tool works 
towards 1:30.  
 

1:33 1:29 Over achieved to national 
recommended ratio 

Implement WHO checklist into obstetric 
theatre for surgical procedures excluding 
vaginal deliveries 

No national/ peer target 
available 

90% all 
obstetric  
cases 
 

97.6% Sustain and Improve 

Improve 
aspects of 
care within 
paediatrics 
 
 

Improve medication errors relating to 
gentamicin in neonates 

Trust had 10 errors in 
2012/13 

Zero 5 New process introduced this 
year – improvement 
expected 

Increase the number of LAC health 
assessments carried out in statutory time 
frames 

Trust achieved 445 in 
2012/13 
No national/ peer target 
available 

834 cases 384 
(55.75%) 

Increase responsiveness 
and access for assessment 
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CLINICAL QUALITY TARGETS

Target / 2014/15

Indicator Description Green Amber Red Plan
Latest 

Mth
Actual Apr-13 May-13 Jun-13 Jul-13 Aug-13 Sep-13 Oct-13 Nov-13 Dec-13 Jan-14 Feb-14 Mar-14

C Diff reduction (stretch target) <= Plan > Plan 14 3 13 1 0 3 2 0 0 1 0 0 1 3 2

Incident rate of C Diff (per 100,000 bed 

days)
6.51 6.20 0.00 18.15 11.99 0.00 0.00 5.97 0.00 0.00 5.58 18.62 11.34

MRSA reduction <= Plan > Plan 0 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Incident rate of MRSA (per 100,000 bed 

days)
0.50 0.00 6.09 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Falls with injury per 1,000 admissions <= 5 5.1-7 > 7 5 5 4.88 4.88 3.97 4.60 4.19 5.53 5.77 6.95 4.88 5.40 4.49 4.85 3.07

Observations >= 90% 85-89.9% < 85% 90% 90% 96.8% 98.5% 99.1% 98.7% 97.7% No Audit No Audit 93.9% 95.4% 95.0% 96.2% 97.2% 96.2%

Single sex breaches 0 1-4 5 0 0 241 4 24 17 14 15 7 16 25 25 27 25 42

Hand hygiene audits >= 95% 92-94% < 92% 95% 95% 97.2% 99.0% 99.0% 99.3% 99.2% 99.0% 99.0% 97.0% 95% 96% 96% 93% 95%

Child safeguarding training >= 95% 90-94.9% < 90% 95% 95% 54.9% 76.5% 18.4% 18.2% 18.9% 37.4% 54.8% 56.3% 65.2% 68.2% 68.0% 68.5% 73.5%

Adult safeguarding training >= 95% 90-94.9% < 90% 95% 95% 57.9% 76.6% 68.8% 53.1% 52.7% 51.2% 50.9% 52.2% 56.8% 59.5% 60.1% 57.1% 59.6%

Enhanced CRB check 100% 95-99.9% < 95% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100%

Child & adult protection plan supervision >= 95% 90-94.9% < 90% 95% 95% 89.2% 100.0% 90.9% 100.0% 69.2% 60.5% 100.0% 100.0% 81.8% 80.0% 97.2% 97.3% 85.7%

Discharge letters within 24 hours 100% 95-99.9% < 95% 100% 100% 89.4% 91.6% 90.6% 92.1% 90.9% 89.1% 89.0% 89.3% 88.5% 85.8% 87.9% 88.8% 89.1%

Average length of stay (excludes DC) - 

FCE
3.30 3.37 3.20 3.35 3.35 3.17 3.06 3.08 3.53 3.58 3.71 3.13

Average length of stay (range) - FCE 0 to 19.38 0 to 21.60 0 to 18.42 0 to 10.82 0 to 16.00 0 to 18.93 0 to 13.73 0 to 14.00 0 to 12.61 0 to 30.00 0 to 14.81 0 to 11.83

Number of incidents (patients only) 7,311 536 533 495 586 557 582 613 690 710 661 641 707

Number of new SUIs 71 9 5 4 1 4 8 8 6 5 14 4 3

Number of Never events 0 >= 1 0 0 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Utilisation - Trust <= 90% 91-94% >= 95% 90% 90% 99.44% 100.06% 98.58% 102.50% 100.02% 97.68% 96.19% 100.35% 101.57% 96.35% 100.78% 100.25% 99.10%

Utilisation - Adult beds only <= 90% 91-94% >= 95% 90% 90% 107.88% 109.28% 107.55% 112.47% 109.11% 106.44% 104.40% 108.48% 109.29% 104.31% 108.89% 108.15% 106.68%

Number of permanent beds - adult 497 483 484 484 487 487 487 487 497 497 497 497 497

Number of permanent beds - child 59 59 59 59 59 59 59 59 59 59 59 59 59

HSMR - Dr Foster (as published each 

month)
<= 100 101-109 >= 110 100 100 108.2 116.7 99.9 102.3 103.1 111.2 109.9 98.8 124.3 103.4 113.7 N/A

HSMR - Dr Foster (updated figures) <= 100 101-109 >= 110 100 100 109.5 117.8 117.5 106.8 102.0 107.0 109.1 106.7 96.9 121.2 103.5 113.7 N/A

Bed days lost due to delayed discharge 4,030 297 367 267 468 366 230 259 327 387 253 309 500

Infection 

Control

YTD

Operational 

Metrics

Clinical Staff
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CLINICAL QUALITY TARGETS (continued)

Target / 2012/13

Indicator Description Green Amber Red Plan Plan Actual Apr-13 May-13 Jun-13 Jul-13 Aug-13 Sep-13 Oct-13 Nov-13 Dec-13 Jan-14 Feb-14 Mar-14

Number of complaints received 629 36 43 45 63 48 53 53 48 50 70 61 59

1 to 930 1 to 772 1 to 696 1 to 559 1 to 636 1 to 571 1 to 666 1 to 693 1 to 592 1 to 475 1 to 508 1 to 562

(0.11%) (0.13%) (0.14%) (0.18%) (0.16%) (0.18%) (0.15%) (0.14%) (0.17%) (0.21%) (0.20%) (0.18%)

All cancers >= 93% 90-92% < 90% 93% 93% 94% 93% 94% 93% 93% 94% 93% 95% 96% 93% 93% 93% 94%

Symptomatic breast >= 93% 90-92% < 90% 93% 93% 95% 96% 94% 93% 96% 96% 100% 100% 100% 94% 93% 95% 93%

First treatment - all >= 96% 93-95% < 93% 96% 96% 97% 97% 97% 96% 97% 98% 98% 96% 97% 97% 99% 97% 96%

Subsequent treatment - Surgery >= 94% 91-93% < 91% 94% 94% 96% 100% 96% 95% 95% 96% 95% 95% 95% 97% 96% 97% 95%

Subsequent treatment - Anti Cancer Drug 

Treatment
>= 98% 95-97% < 95% 98% 98% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100%

GP referral >= 85% 82-84% < 82% 85% 85% 93% 89% 92% 94% 90% 92% 93% 90% 95% 92% 97% 91% 95%

National screening service >= 90% 87-89% < 87% 90% 90% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100%

Consultant upgrade 94% 100% 100% 100% 85% 100% 100% 83% 100% 100% 73% 100% 100%
A&E Access Trust only >= 98% < 98% 98% 98% 88.88% 84.71% 88.87% 87.47% 81.60% 89.45% 93.79% 94.00% 91.79% 88.12% 84.33% 85.93% 95.88%
Cancelled 

Ops
Cancelled operations <= 0.8% 0.9-1.5% > 1.5% 0.8% 0.8% 1.64% 0.57% 0.93% 1.03% 1.27% 1.87% 2.41% 1.66% 1.06% 2.33% 2.71% 2.72% 1.36%

Cardiac 

Access

Seen within 2 weeks for Rapid Access 

Chest Pain
>= 98% 95-97% < 95% 98% 98% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100%

Staff in post - WTE * 3,879 3,688 3,756 3,749 3,786 3,846 3,864 3,901 3,937 3,908 3,974 4,063 4,073

Paybill - in £ millions ** 0.0 13.0 13.0 13.2 13.3 13.9 14.1 14.0 14.0 13.9 14.3 14.7 15.1

Statutory & Mandatory training * 67.35% 79.11% 61.51% 58.45% 57.80% 56.91% 64.71% 65.18% 70.60% 72.02% 73.69% 72.89% 75.29%

Nursing bank staff - cost in £000's ** 4,143 318 394 330 314 319 318 335 338 324 293 299 561

Nursing bank staff - % Total paybill ** 6.5% 6.5% 7.8% 6.5% 6.1% 6.3% 6.1% 6.3% 6.4% 6.1% 5.2% 5.3% 9.6%

Nursing agency - WTE *** 741.68 37.07 45.71 50.59 58.86 48.06 46.66 45.48 52.24 51.85 90.18 111.67 103.31

Nursing agency - % Nursing paybill ** 7.0% 4.2% 5.7% 5.0% 6.8% 5.8% 5.6% 6.7% 6.3% 5.6% 10.0% 11.4% 9.9%

Medical agency - WTE *** 523.99 26.24 35.24 35.68 38.40 41.60 42.14 44.95 43.09 48.62 55.11 55.86 57.06

Medical agency - % Medical paybill ** 14.2% 10.3% 11.6% 12.8% 12.8% 13.5% 14.4% 14.2% 14.6% 16.2% 16.9% 16.3% 15.6%

Vacancies over 3 months ** 0.65% 0.67% 0.65% 0.64% 0.65% 0.65% 0.65% 0.65% 0.65% 0.65% 0.65% 0.65% 0.65%

Sickness absence - nursing ** <= 3.3% 3.4-4.0% >= 4.1% 3.3% 3.3% 2.65% 2.65% 2.74% 2.99% 3.01% 2.98% 2.94% 2.63% 2.69% 2.60% 2.46% 2.34% 1.58%

Stability ** 84% 86% 85% 85% 87% 84% 83% 83% 83% 83% 83% 83% 83%

FCE per nurse ** 4.40 4.75 4.61 4.42 4.57 4.26 4.30 4.55 4.43 4.18 4.20 4.01 4.57

Nursing staff / bed ratio ** 2.93 2.79 2.81 2.81 2.97 2.93 2.95 3.01 2.95 2.95 2.98 2.99 2.97

T&D spend (non-MPET) - £000's ** 573 11 21 18 35 28 26 95 30 56 98 87 68

Complaints

Cancer 2 

Week Wait

YTD

Complaints ratio to contacts

Cancer 31-

Day

Cancer 62-

Day

Workforce
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Patient Surveys 

The Trust participates in all adult national surveys including: 

 Inpatient Surveys 

 Outpatient Surveys 

 Emergency Department Surveys 

 Maternity Surveys 

 Cancer Surveys. 

A sample of patients is asked their opinion about different aspects of their care and 

treatment. This information is then given a score based on the responses given.  

 

The 2013 National Inpatient Survey scores were published by the Care Quality Commission 

on Tuesday 6 April 2014. Unfortunately it portrays the Trust in a critical light. Using it we are 

unable to identify any improvement at all year on year, and in many areas our position has 

deteriorated.  

 

Under the section scores, for example across 10 Sections, the Trust was among the worst 

performing trusts, and in the other four sections the scores had remained the same. In these 

areas the 2013 score is significantly lower than the 2012 score: 

 Waiting to get a bed on a ward 

 In your opinion were there enough nurses on duty to care for you? 

 Did you feel you were involved in decisions about your discharge from hospital? 

 Were you told how to take your medication in a way you could understand? 

 Were the letters (between hospital doctors and GPs) written in a way that you could 

understand? 

 

These are disappointing but not surprising results. They confirm what last summer’s report 

by Sir Bruce Keogh and the recent CQC report into the Emergency Department stated that 

much of the hospital’s environment and ways of working were not suitable for 21st century 

healthcare and must be changed. Under those circumstances, it is inevitable that some of 

our patients report that they are not happy or satisfied with the standards of care we are able 

to give them – neither are we. We have already started work on reconstructing our 

Emergency Department, and we have developed, with our clinicians, a detailed plan called 

Transforming Medway to completely transform the way the hospital works and so radically 

improve services for patients. It will take time, but we hope, and expect to see some 

improvement year on year from now on.  
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Part 4 – Annex 
Statement from Medway Clinical Commissioning Group 
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Statement from healthwatch Medway 
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Statement from the Health and Adult Care Overview and Scrutiny Committee of 
Medway Council 
 
Quality Account response re Medway Maritime Hospital - 2014 
 
The Health and Adult Social Care Overview and Scrutiny Committee has, over the past year, 

discussed with senior representatives of the Medway NHS Foundation Trust the following 

areas of the hospital in particular: 

 Maternity services – a small group of Members visited the hospital following the 

unannounced Care Quality Commission inspection where warning notices were 

issued (this topic formed the main debate at a special meeting of the Committee in 

October 2013) and was revisited at a subsequent meeting 

 Mortality figures/Dr Foster report – these have been considered a number of times 

over the year 

 Keogh review and Francis Inquiry 

 Changes to the physiotherapy service 

 A&E pressures 

 

The Medway NHS Foundation Trust continues to remain under review and scrutiny by the 

Committee and the Members are keen to see sustained improvements and improved staff 

and patient feedback. 

 

In view of the gravity of the problems facing the Trust and the impact that some of the issues 

have had on the public it was felt that the apologetic statement on page 4 of the Quality 

Account rather glossed over the issues.  It was felt that this paragraph would benefit from 

being strengthened. 

 

The Stakeholder engagement and staff involvement in the improvement agenda was 

welcome and the Committee will be keen for this to continue 

 

The following are listed purely as a few typographical errors found during reading the report: 

 Page 20 under the other data quality checks – second paragraph third line should be 

‘they’ not ‘there’ 

 Page 69 should refer to Health and Adult Social Care Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee. 
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Statement of directors’ responsibilities in respect of the quality report 

The directors are required under the Health Act 2009 and the National Health Service 

Quality Accounts Regulations to prepare quality accounts for each financial year. 

 

Monitor has issued guidance to NHS foundation trust boards on the form and content of 

annual quality reports (which incorporate the above legal requirements) and on the 

arrangements that NHS foundation trust boards should put in place to support the data 

quality for the preparation of the quality report. 

 

In preparing the quality report, directors are required to take steps to satisfy themselves that: 

 the content of the quality report meets the requirements set out in the NHS 

Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual 2013/14; 

 the content of the quality report is not inconsistent with internal and external sources 

of information including: 

- board minutes and papers for the period April 2013 to June 2014 

- papers relating to Quality reported to the Board over the period April 2013 to June 

2014 

- feedback from Medway Clinical Commissioning Group dated 9 May 2014 

- feedback from the Health and Adult Care Overview & Scrutiny Committee dated 7 

May 2014 

- feedback from Healthwatch Medway dated 12 May 2014 

- the trust’s complaints report published under regulation 18 of the Local Authority 

Social Services and NHS Complaints Regulations 2009, dated May 2014 

- the latest national outpatient survey dated February 2012 and inpatient survey 

dated April 2014 

- the latest national staff survey for 2013 

- the Head of Internal Audit’s annual opinion over the Trust’s control environment 

for 2013/2014 dated 24 May 2014 

- the CQC intelligent monitoring reports dated November 2013 and March 2014. 

 

 the quality report presents a balanced picture of the NHS foundation trust’s 

performance over the period covered; 

 the performance information reported in the quality report is reliable and accurate; 
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 there are proper internal controls over the collection and reporting of the measures of 

performance included in the quality report, and these controls are subject to review to 

confirm that they are working effectively in practice; 

 the data underpinning the measures of performance in the quality report is robust 

and reliable, conforms to specified data quality standards and prescribed definitions, 

is subject to appropriate scrutiny and review; and 

 the quality report has been prepared in accordance with Monitor’s annual reporting 

guidance (which incorporates the Quality Accounts Regulations) (published at 

www.monitor-nhsft.gov.uk/annualreportingmanual) as well as the standards to 

support data quality for the preparation of the quality report (available at 

www.monitor-nhsft.gov.uk/annualreportingmanual)).  

 

The directors confirm to the best of their knowledge and belief they have complied with the 

above requirements in preparing the quality report. 

 

By order of the Board. 

 

 

Christopher Langley 

Interim Chairman, Medway NHS Foundation Trust 

29 May 2014 

 

Nigel Beverley 

Interim Chief Executive, Medway NHS Foundation Trust  

29 May 2014 

http://www.monitor-nhsft.gov.uk/annualreportingmanual
http://www.monitor-nhsft.gov.uk/annualreportingmanual)
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the Council of 

Governors of Medway NHS Foundation Trust on the 

Quality Report 

We have been engaged by the board of governors of Medway NHS Foundation Trust  to 

perform an independent assurance engagement in respect of Medway NHS  Foundation 

Trust’s  quality  report  for  the  year  ended  31  March  2014  (the  ‘Quality  Report’) and 

certain performance indicators contained therein.  

 

Scope and subject matter  

 

The indicators for the year ended 31 March 2014 subject to limited assurance consist of the 

national priority indicators as mandated by Monitor:  

 62 days urgent GP referral to first treatment for all cancers  

 Percentage of emergency readmissions within 28 days of discharge from hospital.  

We refer to these national priority indicators collectively as the ‘indicators’.  

 

Respective responsibilities of the directors and auditors  

 

The directors are responsible for the content and the preparation of the quality report in 

accordance with the criteria set out in the NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual 

issued by Monitor.  

 

Our responsibility is to form a conclusion, based on limited assurance procedures, on 

whether anything has come to our attention that causes us to believe that:  

 The quality report is not prepared in all material respects in line with the criteria set out in 

the NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual 

 The quality report is not consistent in all material respects with the sources specified in 

the list below and the indicators in the quality report identified as having been the subject 

of limited assurance in the quality report are not reasonably stated in all material 

respects in accordance with the NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual and 

the six dimensions of data quality set out in the Detailed Guidance for External 

Assurance on Quality Reports.  
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We read the quality report and consider whether it addresses the content requirements of 

the NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual, and consider the implications for our 

report if we become aware of any material omissions.  

 

We read the other information contained in the quality report and consider whether it is 

materially inconsistent with the list of documents below:  

 Board minutes and papers for the period April 2013 to May 2014 

 Papers relating to Quality reported to the Board over the period April 2013 to May 2014 

 Feedback from Medway Clinical Commissioning Group dated 9 May 2014 

 Feedback from the Health and Adult Care Overview & Scrutiny Committee dated 7 May 

2014 

 Feedback from Healthwatch Medway dated 12 May 2014 

 The trust’s complaints report published under regulation 18 of the Local Authority Social 

Services and NHS Complaints Regulations 2009, dated May 2014 

 The latest national outpatient survey dated February 2012 and inpatient survey dated 

April 2014 

 The latest national staff survey for 2013 

 The Head of Internal Audit’s annual opinion over the Trust’s control environment for 

2013/2014 dated 24 May 2014 

 The CQC intelligent monitoring reports dated November 2013 and March 2014.  

We consider the implications for our report if we become aware of any apparent 

misstatements or material inconsistencies with those documents (collectively, the 

‘documents’). Our responsibilities do not extend to any other information.  

 

We are in compliance with the applicable independence and competency requirements of 

the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales (ICAEW) Code of Ethics. Our 

team comprised assurance practitioners and relevant subject matter experts.  

 

This report, including the conclusion, has been prepared solely for the Council of Governors 

of Medway NHS Foundation Trust as a body, to assist the Council of Governors in reporting 

Medway NHS Foundation Trust’s quality agenda, performance and activities. We permit the 

disclosure of this report within the Annual Report for the year ended 31 March 2014, to 

enable the Council of Governors to demonstrate they have discharged their governance 

responsibilities by commissioning an independent assurance report in connection with the 

indicators. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility 
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to anyone other than the Council of Governors as a body and Medway NHS Foundation 

Trust for our work or this report, except where terms are expressly agreed and with our prior 

consent in writing.  

 

Assurance work performed We conducted this limited assurance engagement in accordance 

with International Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) – ‘Assurance 

Engagements other than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information’,  issued by 

the International Auditing and Assurance Standards Board (‘ISAE  3000’). Our limited 

assurance procedures included:  

 Evaluating the design and implementation of the key processes and controls for 

managing and reporting the indicators  

 Making enquiries of management 

 Testing key management controls  

 Limited testing, on a selective basis, of the data used to calculate the indicator back to 

supporting documentation  

 Comparing the content requirements of the NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting 

Manual to the categories reported in the quality report  

 Reading the documents. 

 

A limited assurance engagement is smaller in scope than a reasonable assurance 

engagement. The nature, timing and extent of procedures for gathering sufficient appropriate 

evidence are deliberately limited relative to a reasonable assurance engagement.  

 

Limitations  

 

Non-financial performance information is subject to more inherent limitations than financial 

information, given the characteristics of the subject matter and the methods used for 

determining such information.  

 

The absence of a significant body of established practice on which to draw allows for the 

selection of different, but acceptable measurement techniques which can result in materially 

different measurements and can affect comparability. The precision of different 

measurement techniques may also vary. Furthermore, the nature and methods used to 

determine such information, as well as the measurement criteria and the precision of these 

criteria, may change over time. It is important to read the quality report in the context of the 

criteria set out in the NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual.  
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The scope of our assurance work has not included governance over quality or non-

mandated indicators, which have been determined locally by Medway NHS Foundation 

Trust.  

 

Conclusion 

  

Based on the results of our procedures, nothing has come to our attention that causes us to 

believe that, for the year ended 31 March 2014:  

 The quality report is not prepared in all material respects in line with the criteria set out in 

the NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual 

 The quality report is not consistent in all material respects with the sources specified in 

the list above  

 The indicators in the quality report subject to limited assurance have not been 

reasonably stated in all material respects in accordance with the NHS Foundation Trust 

Annual Reporting Manual.  

 

Leigh Lloyd-Thomas (senior statutory auditor) 

for and on behalf of BDO LLP, statutory auditor 

London, UK 

29 May 2014 
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Annual Accounts 2013/14 
 

Foreword 
 
These accounts, for the year ended 31 March 2014, have been prepared by Medway NHS  

Foundation Trust in accordance with paragraphs 24 and 25 of Schedule 7 of the National Health 

Service Act 2006. 
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STATEMENT OF THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S RESPONSIBILITIES AS THE 
ACCOUNTING OFFICER OF MEDWAY NHS FOUNDATION TRUST 

 
The NHS Act 2006 states that the chief executive is the Accounting Officer of the NHS Foundation 
Trust. The relevant responsibilities of Accounting Officer, including their responsibility for the 
propriety and regularity of public finances for which they are answerable, and for the keeping of 
proper accounts, are set out in the NHS Foundation Trust Accounting Officers' Memorandum issued 
by the Independent Regulator of NHS Foundation Trusts (“Monitor”). 
 
Under the NHS Act 2006, Monitor has directed Medway NHS Foundation Trust to prepare for each 
financial year a statement of accounts in the form and on the basis set out in the Accounts 
Direction. The accounts are prepared on an accruals basis and must give a true and fair view of the 
state of affairs of Medway NHS Foundation Trust and of its income and expenditure, total 
recognised gains and losses and cash flows for the financial year. 
 
In preparing the accounts, the Accounting Officer is required to comply with the requirements of the 
NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual and in particular to: 
 

 observe the Accounts Direction issued by Monitor, including the relevant accounting and 
disclosure requirements, and apply suitable accounting policies on a consistent basis; 

 make judgements and estimates on a reasonable basis; 

 state whether applicable accounting standards as set out in the NHS Foundation Trust Annual 
Reporting Manual have been followed, and disclose and explain any material departures in the 
financial statements;  

 ensure that the use of public funds complies with the relevant legislation, delegated authorities 
and guidance; and 

 prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis. 
 
The Accounting Officer is responsible for keeping proper accounting records which disclose with 
reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of Medway NHS Foundation Trust and to 
enable him to ensure that the accounts comply with requirements outlined in the above mentioned 
Act. The Accounting officer is also responsible for safeguarding the assets of Medway NHS 
Foundation Trust and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud 
and other irregularities. 
 
The directors consider the annual report and accounts, taken as a whole, is fair, balanced and 
understandable and provides the information necessary for patients, regulators and stakeholders to 
assess the NHS foundation trust’s performance, business model and strategy. 
 
To the best of my knowledge and belief, I have properly discharged the responsibilities set out in 
Monitor's NHS Foundation Trust Accounting Officer Memorandum. 
 
 
 
 
Nigel Beverley 

Interim Chief Executive, Medway NHS Foundation Trust  

29 May 2014 
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Independent auditor’s report to the Council of Governors of Medway NHS 

Foundation Trust 

We have audited the financial statements of Medway NHS Foundation Trust for the year ended 31 

March 2014 which comprise the Statement of Comprehensive Income, the Statement of Financial 

Position, the Statement of Changes in Equity, the Statement of Cash Flows and the related notes.  

The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and 

NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual 2013/14 issued by the Independent Regulator of 

NHS Foundation Trusts (‘Monitor’). 

This report is made solely to the Council of Governors of Medway NHS Foundation Trust, as a 

body, in accordance with paragraph 5.2 of Audit Code for NHS Foundation Trusts 2011.  Our audit 

work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Council of Governors of Medway NHS 

Foundation Trust those matters we are required to state to it in an auditor’s report and for no other 

purpose.  To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to 

anyone other than the NHS Foundation Trust as a body, for our audit work, for this report or for the 

opinions we have formed. 

Respective responsibilities of the Accounting Officer and auditors 

As explained more fully in the Statement of the Chief Executive’s Responsibilities as the Accounting 

Officer, the Accounting Officer is responsible for the preparation of the financial statements and for 

being satisfied that they give a true and fair view. Our responsibility is to audit and express an 

opinion on the financial statements in accordance with applicable law and International Standards 

on Auditing (UK and Ireland).  Those standards require us to comply with the Financial Reporting 

Council’s (FRC’s) Ethical Standards for Auditors. 

Scope of the audit of the financial statements 

An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements 

sufficient to give reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free from material 

misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error.  This includes an assessment of: whether the 

accounting policies are appropriate to Medway NHS Foundation Trust’s circumstances and have 

been consistently applied and adequately disclosed; the reasonableness of significant accounting 

estimates made by the Accounting Officer; and the overall presentation of the financial statements.  

In addition, we read all the financial and non-financial information in the annual report to identify 

material inconsistencies with the audited financial statements and to identify any information that is 

apparently materially inconsistent based on, or materially incorrect with, the knowledge acquired by 

us in the course of performing the audit.   If we become aware of any apparent material 

misstatements or inconsistencies we consider the implications for our report. 

Opinion on financial statements 

In our opinion the financial statements: 

 give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of Medway NHS Foundation Trust’s affairs as 

at 31 March 2014 and of its income and expenditure for the year then ended; 

  have been properly prepared in accordance with NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting 

Manual 2013/14; and  

  have been prepared in accordance with the National Health Service Act 2006. 
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Opinion on other matter on which we are required to report 

In our opinion the information given in the strategic report and directors' report for the financial year 

for which the financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements. 

Matters on which we report by exception  

Medway NHS Foundation Trust has a general duty under paragraph 63 of Chapter 5 of the National 

Service Act 2006 to exercise the functions of the Trust effectively, efficiently and economically. 

Paragraph 1 of Schedule 10 of the National Health Service Act 2006 and the Audit Code for NHS 

Foundation Trusts requires that we satisfy ourselves that Medway NHS Foundation Trust has made 

proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources. 

The Trust was issued with its NHS provider licence on 1 April 2013.  During the year, Monitor has 

taken regulatory action in response to failure to comply with the licence, including issuing 

enforcement undertakings and additional licence conditions.  Monitor has directed that the Trust 

improves its governance arrangements, improves performance for Accident and Emergency 4-hour 

waits target, improve the quality of care provided in the Emergency Department, delivers a financial 

plan which evidences a sustainable recovery, and to improve management and leadership capacity.  

The Trust remains in breach of its licence. 

As a result of the matters discussed in the regulatory notices issued by Monitor, we have been 

unable to satisfy ourselves that Medway NHS Foundation Trust made proper arrangements for 

securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources. 

We have nothing to report in respect of the following: 

Under the NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual, we report to you if, in our opinion, 

information in the annual report is: 

  materially inconsistent with the information in the audited financial statements, or 

  apparently materially incorrect based on, or materially inconsistent with, our knowledge of 

the NHS Foundation Trust acquired in the course of performing our audit; or 

 is otherwise misleading. 

In particular, we consider whether we have identified any inconsistencies between our knowledge 

acquired during the audit and the directors’ statement that they consider the annual report is fair, 

balanced and understandable and whether the annual report appropriately discloses those matters 

that we communicated to the audit committee which we consider should have been disclosed. 

Under the Audit Code for NHS Foundation Trusts 2011 we are required to report to you if we have 

been unable to satisfy ourselves that: 

  proper practices have been observed in the compilation of the financial statements; or 

  the annual governance statement meets the disclosure requirements set out in the NHS 

Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual or is misleading or inconsistent with other 

information that is forthcoming from the audit; or 

  the quality report has been prepared in accordance with the detailed guidance issued by 

Monitor. 
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Qualified certificate 

We certify that we have completed the audit of the financial statements of Medway NHS Foundation 

Trust in accordance with the requirements of Chapter 5 of Part 2 of the National Health Service Act 

2006 and the Audit Code for NHS Foundation Trusts 2011 issued by Monitor except that, as noted 

above, we have been unable to satisfy ourselves that Medway NHS Foundation Trust has made 

proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources. 

 

 

 

Leigh Lloyd-Thomas (senior statutory auditor) 

for and on behalf of BDO LLP, statutory auditor 

London, UK 

29 May 2014 
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STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR ENDED 

31 March 2014 
 
 
 

 
NOTE 

 
2013/14 

 
2012/13 

   
£000 

 
£000 

      Revenue 
     Revenue from patient care activities 3 

 
220,648 

 
212,074 

Other operating revenue 4 
 

32,145 
 

25,552 

Operating expenses 5 
 

(258,376)  
 

(234,769)  

Operating surplus / (deficit) 
  

(5,583) 
 

2,857 

      Finance costs 
     Finance income 11 

 
32 

 
109 

Finance expenses - financial liabilities 12 
 

(109)  
 

(92)  

Finance expenses - unwinding of discount on provisions 23 
 

(22)  
 

(22)  

PDC Dividends payable 
  

(4,477)  
 

(4,797)  

Net finance costs 
  

(4,576)  
 

(4,802)  

   
      

Deficit for the year 
  

(10,159)    (1,945)  

      Other comprehensive income 
     

      Amounts that will not be reclassified to income and expenditure: 
    

Revaluation gains and (impairment losses) property, plant and 
equipment 

  
2,381 

 
92 

Total comprehensive income / (expenditure) for the year 
  

(7,778)  
 

(1,853)  

 
 

 
The notes on pages 166 to 196 form part of these accounts. 
 
All operating activities are from continuing operations. 
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AS AT  
31 March 2014 

 

   

31 March 
2014  

31 March 
2013 

   
£000 

 
£000 

      Non Current Assets NOTE 
    

      Property, plant and equipment 13.1 
 

152,690 
 

145,581 

Trade and other receivables 
  

476 
 

0 

Total non current assets 
  

153,166 
 

145,581 

      Current Assets 
     

      Inventories 14.1 
 

5,801 
 

5,592 

Trade and other receivables 15 
 

23,021 
 

15,377 

Other current assets 18 
 

0 
 

6 

Cash and cash equivalents 24 
 

6,289 
 

7,111 

Total current assets 
  

35,111 
 

28,086 

      Current liabilities 
     

      Trade and other payables 19 
 

(32,601)  
 

(27,003) 

Borrowings 21 
 

(2,032)  
 

(1,234) 

Provisions 23 
 

(151)  
 

(172) 

Other liabilities 20 
 

(1,672)  
 

(36) 

Total current liabilities 
  

(36,456) 
 

(28,445) 

   
      

 
      

Total assets less current liabilities 
  

151,821 
 

145,222 

   
      

 
      

Non current liabilities 
     

      Borrowings 21 
 

(9,771)  
 

(3,295) 

Provisions 23 
 

(839)  
 

(838) 

Total non current liabilities 
  

(10,610) 
 

(4,133) 

      Total assets employed 
  

141,211 
 

141,089 

      Financed by: 
     

      Taxpayers' equity 
     Public dividend capital 
  

117,323 
 

109,423 

Revaluation reserve 
  

33,536 
 

31,655 

Income and expenditure reserve 
  

(9,648)  
 

11 

      Total taxpayers' equity 
  

141,211 
 

141,089 

 
The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the Board on 29

th
 May 2014 and signed 

on its behalf by the Chief Executive and Director of Finance. 
 
Signed: Nigel Beverley, Chief Executive     Date: 29 May 2014 
 
Signed: David Meikle, Director of Finance    Date: 29 May 2014 
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY  
 

  

Public 
Dividend 

Capital 
 

Revaluation 
Reserve 

 

Income and 
Expenditure 

Reserve 
 

Total 

  
£000 

 
£000 

 
£000 

 
£000 

         At 1 April 2013 
 

109,423 
 

31,655 
 

11 
 

141,089 

         Deficit for the year 
 

- 
 

- 
 

(10,159) 
 

(10,159) 

         Revaluation gains and impairment losses property, plant and 
equipment 

 
- 

 
2,381 

 
- 

 
2,381 

         Public Dividend Capital received 
 

7,900 
 

- 
 

- 
 

7,900 

         Transfer of the excess of current cost depreciation over historical cost 
depreciation to the Income and Expenditure Reserve 

 
- 

 
(500)  

 
500 

 
0 

         Taxpayers' equity as at 31 March 2014 
 

117,323 
 

33,536 
 

(9,648) 
 

141,211 

         At 1 April 2012 
 

109,148 
 

32,038 
 

1,481 
 

142,667 

         Deficit for the year 
 

- 
 

- 
 

(1,945) 
 

(1,945) 

         Revaluation gains and impairment losses property, plant and 
equipment 

 
- 

 
92 

 
- 

 
92 

         Public Dividend Capital received 
 

275 
 

- 
 

- 
 

275 

         Transfer of the excess of current cost depreciation over historical cost 
depreciation to the Income and Expenditure Reserve 

 
- 

 
(475) 

 
475 

 
0 

         Taxpayers' equity as at 31 March 2013 
 

109,423 
 

31,655 
 

11 
 

141,089 
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 
31 March 2014 

 
 

   
2013/14 

 
2012/13 

 
NOTE 

 
£000 

 
£000 

Cash flows from operating activities 
     Operating surplus / (deficit) from continuing operations 
  

(5,583)  
 

2,857 

      Non-cash income and expense 
     Depreciation and amortisation 
  

8,364 
 

8,439 

Impairments 
  

558 
 

413 

Reversal of Impairments 
  

(760) 
 

(248) 

(Gain)/Loss on Disposal 
  

4 
 

(10) 

Non-cash donations/grants credited to income 
  

(139) 
 

(198) 

(Increase) in Trade and Other Receivables 
  

(8,248) 
 

(3,964) 

(Increase) in Inventories 
  

(209) 
 

(132) 

Increase in Trade and other Payables 
  

3,710 
 

7,980 

Increase in other liabilities 
  

1,636 
 

0 

(Decrease) in Provisions 
  

(42) 
 

(3) 

Net cash generated from / (used in) operations 
  

(709) 
 

15,134 

      Cash flows from investing activities 
     Interest received 
  

32 
 

109 

Payments to acquire Property, Plant and Equipment 
  

(10,976) 
 

(5,818) 

Receipts from sales of Property, Plant and Equipment 
  

0 
 

10 

Net cash used in investing activities 
  

(10,944) 
 

(5,699) 

      Cash flows from financing activities 
     Public dividend capital received 
  

7,900 
 

275 

Loans received 21 
 

8,566 
 

1,680 

Loans repaid 21 
 

(322)  
 

(80)  

Capital element of finance lease rental payments 
  

(970) 
 

(1,091) 

Interest paid 
  

(42) 
 

(2) 

Interest element of finance leases 
  

(61) 
 

(90) 

PDC Dividend paid 
  

(4,240) 
 

(4,914) 

Net cash generated from / (used in) financial activities 
  

10,831 
 

(4,222) 

      Increase / (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 
  

(822) 
 

5,213 

      Cash and Cash equivalents at 1 April 
  

7,111 
 

1,898 

Cash and Cash equivalents at 31 March 24 
 

6,289 
 

7,111 
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS 

 
1 ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

   
 Monitor has directed that the financial statements of NHS foundation trusts shall meet the 

accounting requirements of the NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual which shall 
be agreed with HM Treasury.  Consequently, the following financial statements have been 
prepared in accordance with the NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual 2013/14 
issued by Monitor.  The accounting policies contained in that manual follow International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and HM Treasury's Financial Reporting Manual to the 
extent that they are meaningful and appropriate to NHS foundation trusts.  The accounting 
policies have been applied consistently in dealing with items considered material in relation 
to the accounts. 

 
1.1 Going Concern 
 

International Accounting Standard 1 (IAS1) requires management to assess, as part of the 
preparation of annual accounts, the Trust’s ability to continue as a going concern. With 
regard to the application of this standard within the NHS, the financial statements should 
accordingly be prepared on a going concern basis unless management either intends or has 
no option but to apply to the Secretary of State for the dissolution of the Trust.  
 
For the year ended 31st March 2014 the Trust has reported a deficit of £10.2M.Prior to the 
end of the financial year the Trust negotiated and received an amount £7.9M Public Dividend 
Capital in order to support the ongoing operating expenses. With reference to the coming 
financial year the Directors have prepared detailed cash projections for the twelve months to 
31 March 2015 that are based the projected income and expenditure for the year. The new 
Trust Board recognises the financial challenges the Trust faces and has initiated a full review 
of the financial plan for the year to 31 March 2015 in order to assess the long term financial 
sustainability of the Trust.  A two year plan to 31 March 2016 will be submitted to Monitor at 
the end of June 2014.   
 
The weekly and monthly cash position, together with the detailed future cash flow projections 
are closely monitored by Trust management and the Trust Board. In accordance with this 
process and the revised projections the Trust will be reviewing both the revenue and capital 
cash requirements.  This may lead to the Trust negotiating with the Department of Health and 
the Independent Trust Financing Facility (ITFF) in order to obtain cash support to assist the 
Trust’s long term funding plan, that is supported both by Monitor and by the commissioning 
intentions of the Trusts principal commissioners.  
 
The directors are of the opinion that the Trust faces a significant challenge in delivering 
financial sustainability and is procuring the services of external consultants in order to assess 
the financial sustainability of the organisation and its long term plans for the provision of 
healthcare services in Medway.  
 
The directors have a reasonable expectation that the Trust will, as a result of this piece of 
work and current negotiations, secure sufficient resources in order to enable the continued 
adoption of the going concern basis in preparing the Annual Report and Accounts.   

 
1.2 Accounting Convention 
 

These accounts have been prepared under the historical cost convention modified to account 
for the revaluation of property, plant and equipment at their value to the business, 
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inventories, certain financial assets and financial liabilities, and the other financial asset 
relating to the EU Emissions Trading Scheme at market value.  
 

1.3 Income  
 

Income in respect of services provided is recognised when, and to the extent that, 
performance occurs and is measured at the fair value of the consideration receivable.  The 
main source of income for the Trust is contracts with commissioners in respect of healthcare 
services provided. For patients whose treatment straddles the year end income is 
apportioned across the financial years on the basis of length of stay, insofar as it is in 
accordance with the terms of the contract. Where income is received for a specific activity 
which is to be delivered in the following financial year that income is deferred. This includes 
the Maternity pathway funding where the income is received at the beginning of the treatment 
and the proportion relating to treatment which is to be delivered in 2014/15 has been 
deferred. 
 
The basis for the calculation of the partially completed spells accrual was those patients who 
were occupying a Trust bed on 31st March 2014 but were not discharged until the following 
financial year. Average prices by speciality and by point of delivery were then applied to 
these spells with adjustments made to ensure that income due was appropriately distributed 
between the 2013/14 and 2014/15 financial years, based on the distribution of length of stay. 
 
Income from the sale of non-current assets is recognised only when all material conditions of 
sale have been met, and is measured as the sums due under the sale contract.  
 

1.4 Expenditure on goods and services 
 
Expenditure on goods and services is recognised when, and to the extent that they have 
been received, and is measured at the fair value of those goods and services.  Expenditure is 
recognised in operating expenses except where it results in the creation of a non-current 
asset such as property, plant and equipment. 
 

1.5 Property, Plant and Equipment 
 

Recognition 
 
Property, Plant and Equipment is capitalised where: 
 
- it is held for use in delivering services or for administrative purposes; 
- it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to, or service potential be provided to, 

the Trust; 
- it is expected to be used for more than one financial year; 
- the cost of the item can be measured reliably; and 
- individually have a cost of at least £5,000; or 
- collectively have a cost of at least £5,000 and individually have a cost of more than £250, 

where the assets are functionally interdependent, they had broadly simultaneous 
purchase dates, are anticipated to have simultaneous disposal dates and are under 
single managerial control; or 

- form part of the initial equipping and setting-up cost of a new building, ward or unit 
irrespective of their individual or collective cost. 

 
Staff costs have also been capitalised within specific projects where amounts are considered 
capital in nature. 
The finance costs of bringing fixed assets into use are not capitalised. 
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Where a large asset, for example a building, includes a number of components with 
significantly different asset lives e.g. plant and equipment, then these components are 
treated as separate assets and depreciated over their own useful economic lives. 
 
Measurement 
 
Valuation 
 
All property, plant and equipment assets are measured initially at cost, representing the costs 
directly attributable to acquiring or constructing the asset and bringing it to the location and 
condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management.  
All assets are measured subsequently at fair value. 
 
Land and buildings used for the Trust’s services or for administrative purposes are stated in 
the statement of financial position at their revalued amounts, being the fair value at the date 
of revaluation less any subsequent accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.  
Revaluations are performed with sufficient regularity to ensure that carrying amounts are not 
materially different from those that would be determined at the end of the reporting period.  
Fair values are determined as follows; 
- Land and non-specialised buildings – market value for existing use 
- Specialised buildings – depreciated replacement cost 
HM Treasury has adopted a standard approach to depreciated replacement cost valuations 
based on modern equivalent assets and, where it would meet the location requirements of 
the service being provided, an alternative site can be valued. 
 
All land and buildings are restated to current value using professional valuations in 
accordance with IAS16 every five years.  A three yearly interim valuation is also carried out.  
Valuations are carried out by professionally qualified valuers in accordance with the Royal 
Institute of Chartered Surveyors (RICS) Appraisal and Valuation Manual.  The last asset 
valuations were undertaken in 2014 as at the valuation date of 31 March 2014. 
  
Properties in the course of construction for services or administration purposes are carried at 
cost, less any impairment loss.  Costs includes professional fees but not borrowing costs, 
which are recognised as expenses immediately, as allowed by IAS 23 for assets held at fair 
value.  Assets are revalued and depreciation commences when they are brought into use. 
 
Until 31 March 2008, fixtures and equipment were carried at replacement cost, as assessed 
by indexation and depreciation of historic cost.  From 1 April 2008 indexation has ceased.  
The carrying value of existing assets at that date are written off over their remaining useful 
lives and new fixtures and equipment are carried at depreciated historic cost as this is not 
considered to be materially different from fair value.  For assets over £100,000 or that have a 
life over 15 years, these will be revalued to fair value if materially different from carrying 
value. 
 
Subsequent expenditure 
 
Where subsequent expenditure enhances an asset beyond its original specification, the 
directly attributable cost is added to the asset’s carrying value.  Where a component of an 
asset is replaced, the cost of the replacement is capitalised if it meets the criteria for 
recognition above.  The carrying amount of the part replaced is de-recognised.  Where 
subsequent expenditure is simply restoring the asset to the specification assumed by its 
economic useful life then the expenditure is charged to operating expenses. 
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Depreciation 
 
Items of property, plant and equipment are depreciated at rates calculated to write them 
down to estimated residual value on a straight-line basis over their estimated economic lives.  
Freehold land is considered to have an infinite life and is not depreciated. 
Property, plant and equipment which has been reclassified as ‘Held for Sale’ ceases to be 
depreciated upon the reclassification.  Assets in the course of construction are not 
depreciated until the asset is brought into use. 
Buildings, installations and fittings and depreciated on their current value over the estimated 
remaining life of the asset as assessed by the Trust’s professional valuers.  Assets held 
under a finance lease are depreciated over the primary lease term. 
 
Equipment is depreciated on current cost evenly over the estimated life of the asset using the 
following lives: 
 
Medical equipment and engineering plant and equipment 5 to 15 
Furniture 10 
Mainframe information technology installations 8 
Soft furnishings 7 
Office and information technology equipment 5 
Set-up costs in new buildings 10 
Vehicles 7 

  
Information Technology assets also include the Picture Archiving and Communications 
Systems (PACS) deployment costs, which is depreciated over a 10 year life. 

  
Revaluation gains and losses 
 
Revaluation gains are recognised in the revaluation reserve, except where, and to the extent 
that, they reverse a revaluation decrease that has previously been recognised in operating 
expenses, in which case they are recognised in operating income. 
Revaluation losses are charged to the revaluation reserve to the extent that there is an 
available balance for the asset concerned, and thereafter are charged to operating expenses. 
Gains and losses recognised in the revaluation reserve are reported in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income as an item of ‘other comprehensive income’. 

 
Impairments 

 
In accordance with the NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual, impairments that 
are due to a loss of economic benefits or service potential in the asset are charged to 
operating expenses. A compensating transfer is made from the revaluation reserve to the 
income and expenditure reserve of an amount equal to the lower of (i) the impairment 
charged to operating expenses; and (ii) the balance in the revaluation reserve attributable to 
that asset before the impairment. 
 
An impairment arising from a loss of economic benefit or service potential is reversed when, 
and to the extent that, the circumstances that gave rise to the loss is reversed. Reversals are 
recognised in operating income to the extent that the asset is restored to the carrying amount 
it would have had if the impairment had never been recognised. Any remaining reversal is 
recognised in the revaluation reserve. Where, at the time of the original impairment, a 
transfer was made from the revaluation reserve to the income and expenditure reserve, an 
amount is transferred back to the revaluation reserve when the impairment reversal is 
recognised. 
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Other impairments are treated as revaluation losses. Reversals of other impairments are 
treated as revaluation gains. 
 
De-recognition 
 
Assets intended for disposal are reclassified as ‘Held for Sale’ once all of the following 
criteria are met: 
- the asset is available for immediate sale in its present condition subject only to terms 

which are usual and customary for such sales; 
- the sale must be highly probable i.e.: 

o management are committed to a plan to sell the asset; 
o an active programme has begun to find a buyer and complete the sale; 
o the asset is being actively marketed at a reasonable price; 
o the sale is expected to be completed within 12 months of the date of classification 

as ‘Held for Sale’; and 
o the actions needed to complete the plan indicate it is unlikely that the plan will be 

dropped or significant changes made to it. 
 

Following reclassification, the assets are measured at the lower of their existing carrying 
amount and their ‘fair value less costs to sell’.  Depreciation ceases to be charged. Assets 
are de-recognised when all material sale contract conditions have been met. 
 
Property, plant and equipment which is to be scrapped or demolished does not qualify for 
recognition as ‘Held for Sale’ and instead is retained as an operational asset and the asset’s 
economic life is adjusted.  The asset is de-recognised when scrapping or demolition occurs. 
 

1.6 Donated, government grant and other grant funded assets 
 

Donated and grant funded property, plant and equipment assets are capitalised at their fair 
value on receipt. The donation/grant is credited to income at the same time, unless the donor 
has imposes a condition that the future economic benefits embodied in the grant are to be 
consumed in a manner specified by the donor, in which case, the donation/grant is deferred 
within liabilities and is carried forward to future financial years to the extent that the condition 
has not yet been met. 
 
The donated and grant funded assets are subsequently accounted for in the same manner 
as other items of property, plant and equipment. 
 

1.7 Revenue government and other grants 
 
Government grants are grants from Government bodies other than income from primary care 
trusts or NHS trusts for the provision of services.  Where a grant is used to fund revenue 
expenditure it is taken to the Statement of Comprehensive Income to match that expenditure. 
 

1.8 Inventories 
 

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value. The cost of inventories is 
measured using average cost of pharmacy stock and latest prices for all other stock which is 
considered to be a reasonable approximation to fair value due to the high turnover of stocks.  
Inventories comprise goods in intermediate stages of production.    
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1.9 Provisions and Contingencies 
 

The Trust provides for legal or constructive obligations that are of uncertain timing or amount 
at the Statement of Financial Position date on the basis of the best estimate of the 
expenditure required to settle the obligation.  Where the effect of the time value of money is 
significant, the estimated risk-adjusted cash flows are discounted using the Treasury's 
discount rate of 2.2% in real terms, except for early retirement provisions and injury benefit 
provisions which both use the HM Treasury’s pension discount rate of 1.8% (2012/13: 
2.35%) in real terms. 
 
Clinical negligence costs 
   
The NHS Litigation Authority (NHSLA) operates a risk pooling scheme under which the Trust 
pays an annual contribution to the NHSLA, which, in return, settles all clinical negligence 
claims.  Although the NHSLA is administratively responsible for all clinical negligence cases, 
the legal liability remains with the Trust.  The total value of clinical negligence provisions 
carried by the NHSLA on behalf of the Trust is disclosed in the notes to the accounts, but is 
not recognised in the Trust’s accounts. 

   

Non-clinical risk pooling 
   
The Trust participates in the Property Expenses Scheme and the Liabilities to Third Parties 
Scheme.  Both are risk pooling schemes under which the Trust pays an annual contribution 
to the NHS Litigation Authority and, in return, receives assistance with the costs of claims 
arising.  The annual membership contributions, and any 'excesses' payable in respect of 
particular claims are charged to operating expenses when the liability arises. 
 
Contingencies 
 
Contingent liabilities are not recognised, but are disclosed in note 26, unless the probability 
of a transfer of economic benefits is remote. Contingent liabilities are defined as: 
o possible obligations arising from past events whose existence will be confirmed only by 

the occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the entity’s 
control; or 

o present obligations arising from past events but for which it is not probable that a 
transfer of economic benefits will arise or for which the amount of the obligation cannot 
be measured with sufficient reliability. 

 
1.10 Expenditure on Employee Benefits 
 

Short-term Employee Benefits 
 
Salaries, wages and employment-related payments are recognised in the period in which the 
service is received from employees.  The cost of annual leave entitlement earned but not 
taken by employees at the end of the period is recognised in the financial statements to the 
extent that employees are permitted to carry-forward leave into the following period. 
 
Pension costs 
 
Past and present employees are covered by the provision of the NHS Pensions Scheme.  
Details of the benefits payable under these provisions can be found on the NHS Pensions 
website at www.pensions.nhsbsa.nhs.uk.  The scheme is an unfunded, defined benefit 
scheme that covers NHS employers, general practices and other bodies, allowed under the 
direction of the Secretary of State, in England and Wales.  It is not possible for the Trust to 

http://www.pensions.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/
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identify its share of the underlying scheme liabilities.  Therefore, the scheme is accounted for 
as a defined contribution scheme. Employers pension cost contributions are charged to 
operating expenses as and when they become due. 
 
Additional pension liabilities arising from early retirements are not funded by the scheme 
except where the retirement is due to ill-health.  The full amount of the liability for the 
additional costs is charged to the operating expenses at the time the Trust commits itself to 
the retirement, regardless of the method of payment. 

 
1.11 Cash and cash equivalents 
 

Cash is cash in hand and deposits with any financial institution repayable without penalty on 
notice of not more than 24 hours.  Interest earned on bank accounts and interest charged on 
overdrafts are recorded as, respectively, ‘Interest receivable’ and ‘Interest Payable’ in the 
periods to which they relate.  Bank charges are recorded as operating expenses in the 
periods to which they relate. 
 
Cash equivalents are investments that mature in 3 months or less from the date of 
acquisition and that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash with insignificant risk of 
change in value.  Deposits held in seven day notice accounts are treated as cash 
equivalents.  The Trust does not hold any investments with maturity dates exceeding one 
year from the date of purchase.  

 
1.12 Value Added Tax 
 

Most of the activities of the Trust are outside the scope of VAT and, in general, output tax 
does not apply and input tax on purchases is not recoverable.  Irrecoverable VAT is charged 
to the relevant expenditure category or included in the capitalised purchase cost of fixed 
assets.  Where output tax is charged or input VAT is recoverable, the amounts are stated net 
of VAT. 

 
1.13 Financial instruments and financial liabilities 
 

Recognition 
 
Financial assets and financial liabilities which arise from contracts for the purchase or sale of 
non-financial items (such as goods or services), which are entered into in accordance with 
the Trust's normal purchases, sale or usage requirements, are recognised when, and to the 
extent which, performance occurs i.e. when receipt or delivery of the goods or services is 
made. 
 
Financial assets or financial liabilities in respect of assets acquired or disposed of through 
finance leases are recognised and measured in accordance with the accounting policy for 
leases described below. 
 
All other financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the Trust becomes 
party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. 
 
De-recognition 
 
All financial assets are de-recognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the assets 
have expired or the Trust has transferred substantially all of the risks and rewards of 
ownership. 
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Financial liabilities are de-recognised when the obligation is discharged, cancelled or expires. 
 
Classification and Measurement 
 
Financial assets are categorised as 'Fair Value through Income and Expenditure', ‘Loans and 
receivables’ or ‘available for sale financial assets’.  The Trust currently has not classified any 
financial assets as ‘Fair Value through Income and Expenditure’ or ‘available for sale 
financial assets’.   
 
Financial liabilities are classified as ‘Fair Value through Income and Expenditure’ or ‘Other 
Financial liabilities’.  The Trust currently has not classified any financial liabilities as ‘Fair 
Value through Income and Expenditure’. 
 
Loans and receivables 
 
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable 
payments which are not quoted in an active market.  They are included in current assets. 
 
The Trust's loans and receivables comprise: cash and cash equivalents, NHS receivables, 
accrued income and 'other receivables'. 
 
Loans and receivables are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs, and are 
measured subsequently at amortised cost, using the effective interest method.  The effective 
interest rate is the rate that discounts exactly estimated future cash receipts through the 
expected life of the financial asset or, when appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying 
amount of the financial asset. 
 
Interest on loans and receivables is calculated using the effective interest method and 
credited to the Statement of Comprehensive Income. 
 
Other Financial liabilities 
 
All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred, 
and measured subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest method.  The 
effective interest rate is the rate that discounts exactly estimated future cash payments 
through the expected life of the financial liability or, when appropriate, a shorter period, to the 
net carrying amount of the financial liability. 
 
They are included in current liabilities except for amounts payable more than 12 months after 
the Statement of Financial Position date, which are classified as non-current liabilities. 
 
 
The Trust’s financial liabilities comprise: NHS and non-NHS payables, other payables, 
accrued expenditure, and borrowings and finance lease obligations. 
 
Interest on financial liabilities carried at amortised cost is calculated using the effective 
interest method and charged to Finance Costs.  Interest on financial liabilities taken out to 
finance property, plant and equipment is not capitalised as part of the cost of those assets. 

 
Impairment of financial assets 
 
At the Statement of Financial Position date, the Trust assesses whether any loans and 
receivables are impaired.  Financial assets are impaired and impairment losses are 
recognised if, and only if, there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more 
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events which occurred after the initial recognition of the asset and which has an impact on 
the estimated future cash flows of the asset. 
 
For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the impairment loss is measured 
as the difference between the asset's carrying amount and the present value of the revised 
future cash flows discounted at the asset's original effective interest rate.  The loss is 
recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income and the carrying amount of the asset 
is reduced through the use of an allowance account/bad debt provision. 
 

1.14 Foreign Exchange 
 

The functional and presentational currency of the Trust is sterling.  Transactions that are 
denominated in a foreign currency are translated into sterling at the exchange rate ruling on 
the dates of the transactions.  Resulting exchange gains and losses are taken to the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income. 

 
1.15 Third Party Assets 
 

Assets belonging to third parties (such as money held on behalf of patients) are not 
recognised in the accounts since the Trust has no beneficial interest in them.  However, they 
are disclosed in a separate note to the accounts in accordance with the requirements of the 
HM Treasury Financial Reporting Manual. 
 

1.16 Leases 
 

Finance leases 
 
Where substantially all risks and rewards of ownership of a leased asset are borne by the 
Trust, the asset is recorded as property, plant and equipment and a corresponding liability is 
recorded.  The value at which both are recognised is the lower of the fair value of the asset 
or the present value of the minimum lease payments, discounted using the interest rate 
implicit in the lease.  The implicit interest rate is that which produces a constant period rate of 
interest of the outstanding liability. 
 
The asset and liability are recognised at the commencement of the lease. The annual rental 
is split between the repayment of the liability and a finance cost.  The annual finance cost is 
calculated by applying the implicit interest rate to the outstanding liability, to achieve a 
constant rate of finance over the life of the lease, and is charged to Finance Costs in the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income. The lease liability is de-recognised when the liability is 
discharged, cancelled or expires. 

 
Operating leases 
 
Other leases are regarded as operating leases and the rentals are charged to operating 
expenses on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease.  Operating lease incentives 
received are added to the lease rentals and charged to operating expenses over the life of 
the lease. 
 
Leases of land and buildings 
 
Where a lease is for land and buildings, the land component is separated from the building 
component and the classification for each is assessed separately. 
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1.17 Public Dividend Capital (PDC) and PDC Dividend 
 

Public dividend capital is a type of public sector equity finance based on the excess of assets 
over liabilities at the time of establishment of the predecessor NHS Trust.  HM Treasury has 
determined that PDC is not a financial instrument within the meaning of IAS 32. 

 
A charge, reflecting the cost of capital utilised by the Trust, is payable as public dividend 
capital dividend.  The charge is calculated at the rate set by HM Treasury (currently 3.5%) on 
the average relevant net assets of the Trust during the financial year.  Relevant net assets 
are calculated as the value of all assets less the value of all liabilities, except for (i) donated 
assets, (ii) average daily cash balances held with the Government Banking Services (GBS) 
and National Loans Fund (NLF) deposits, excluding cash balances held in GBS accounts 
that relate to a short-term working capital facility, and (iii) any PDC dividend balance 
receivable or payable. In accordance with the requirements laid down by the Department of 
Health (as the issuer of PDC), the dividend for the year is calculated on the actual average 
relevant net assets as set out in the pre-audit version of the annual accounts. The dividend 
thus calculated is not revised should any adjustment to net assets occur as a result the audit 
of the annual accounts. 
 

1.18 Losses and Special Payments 
 

Losses and Special Payments are items that Parliament would not have contemplated when 
it agreed funds for the health service or passed legislation.  By their nature they are items 
that ideally should not arise.  They are therefore subject to special control procedures 
compared with the generality of payments.  They are divided into different categories, which 
govern the way each individual case is handled. 

 
Losses and Special Payments are charged to the relevant functional headings in the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income on an accruals basis, including losses which would 
have been made good through insurance cover had the trust not been bearing its own risks 
(with insurance premiums then being included as normal revenue expenditure). 
 
However, the losses and special payments note is compiled directly from the losses and 
compensations register which reports on an accruals basis with the exception of provisions 
for future losses. 
 

1.19 EU Emissions Trading Scheme 
 

EU Emission Trading Scheme allowances are accounted for as government granted other 
current assets and as deferred income in liabilities, valued at fair value. As the Trust makes 
emissions a provision is recognised. The provision is settled on surrender of the allowances. 
The other financial asset, provision and deferred income amount is valued at fair value at the 
Statement of Financial Position date. The Trust ceased to be part of the scheme in January 
2013. 
 

1.20 Charitable Funds 
 

The Trust is the corporate Trustee of Medway NHS Foundation Trust Charitable Fund – 
Registered Charity number 1051748. The foundation trust has assessed its relationship to 
the charitable fund and determined it to be a subsidiary because the foundation trust has the 
power to govern the financial and operating policies of the charitable fund so as to obtain 
benefits from its activities for itself, its patients or its staff. 
Prior to 2013/14, the FT ARM permitted the NHS foundation trust not to consolidate the 
charitable fund due to a dispensation from HM Treasury relating to the application of IAS 27. 
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From 2013/14, the dispensation was removed however given the value of the charity the 
foundation trust has not consolidated the charitable fund as at is not deemed material to the 
accounts of the foundation trust. 
 

1.21 Accounting standards and amendments issued but not yet adopted 
 

The following standards and interpretations issued by the IASB which have not yet been 
adopted.   None of them are expected to impact upon the Trust’s financial statements. 

 
IFRS 9 Financial Instruments 
IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements 
IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements 
IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities 
IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement 
IAS 27 Separate Financial Statements 
IAS 28 Associates and joint ventures 
 

1.22 Restructuring costs 
 

In accordance with IAS 37 the Trust has disclosed an element of the redundancy costs as 
restructuring.  These amounts relates to the cessation of the activities of an entire 
department or the removal of a management function.   

 
 

2 Operating segments 
 
The Trust reports to the Board on a monthly basis the performance on a directorate level.  In 
considering segments with a total income of 10% or more the Trust has identified four 
reportable segments.  The main source of income for the Trust is from commissioners in 
respect of healthcare services from Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCG’s) (2012/13 
Primary Care Trusts (PCT’s)) who are under common control and classified as a single 
customer. Net assets are not reported to the Board so therefore have been excluded for the 
purposes of this note. 
 
The level of income received from CCG’s shown below amounted to £220,648,000. (2012/13 
£210,439,000) The Trust report to the Board by directorate down to an Operating 
Contribution.  All further costs and income are shown on a corporate level so have been 
excluded in the analysis.   
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Operating segments 2013/14 

 

  

A&E and 
Adult 

Medicine 
 

Children and 
Women's 
Services 

 

Surgery and 
Anaesthetics 

 
Central 

 
Total 

  
£000 

 
£000 

 
£000 

 
£000 

 
£000 

Income 
 

85,905 
 

52,097 
 

76,427 
 

13,295 
 

227,724 

Expenditure 
 

(73,577)  
 

(43,810)  
 

(70,993)  
 

(27,560)    (215,940)  

Contribution 
 

12,328 
 

8,287 
 

5,434 
 

(14,265)  
 

11,784 

           Reconciliation to accounts 
        

           

 

 Directorates  Under 10%    Total 
  

 

 £000  £000    £000 
  Income 

 
227,724 

 
24,309 

   
252,033 

  Expenditure 
 

(215,940)  
 

(33,514)  
   

(249,454)  
  Contribution 

 
11,784 

 
(9,205)     2,579 

          

   

     

Depreciation  (8,364)  
  

     

Impairments  (558)  
  

     

Impairment 
Reversals 760 

  

     
Finance expenses 

 
(131)  

  

     
Finance income 

 
32 

  

     
PDC dividend 

 
(4,477)  

  

     
Operating deficit 

 
(10,159)  

    

Operating segments 2012/13 

 

  

A&E and 
Adult 

Medicine 
 

Children and 
Women's 
Services 

 

Surgery and 
Anaesthetics 

 
Central 

 
Total 

  
£000 

 
£000 

 
£000 

 
£000 

 
£000 

Income 
 

78,417 
 

47,173 
 

76,902 
 

15,204 
 

217,696 

Expenditure 
 

(63,447)  
 

(42,411)  
 

(70,244)  
 

(14,769)    (190,871)  

Contribution 
 

14,970 
 

4,762 
 

6,658 
 

435 
 

26,825 

           Reconciliation to accounts 
        

           

 

 Directorates  Under 10%    Total 
  

 

 £000  £000    £000 
  Income 

 
217,696 

 
19,682 

   
237,378 

  Expenditure 
 

(190,871)  
 

(35,046)  
   

(225,917)  
  Contribution 

 
26,825 

 
(15,364)     11,461 

          

   

     

Depreciation  (8,439)  
  

     

Impairments  (413)  
  

     

Impairment 
Reversals 248 

  

     
Finance expenses 

 
(114)  

  

     
Finance income 

 
109 

  

     
PDC dividend 

 
(4,797)  

  

     
Operating deficit 

 
(1,945)  
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3.  Income from Activities  
 
3.1 Income from Activities (by classification) 

 
2013/14 

 
2012/13 

 
£000 

 
£000 

Elective income 38,699 
 

39,594 

Non elective income 66,932 
 

70,483 

Outpatient income 39,646 
 

43,297 

A & E income 7,837 
 

7,631 

Other NHS clinical income 66,540 
 

49,434 

Private patient income 285 
 

615 

Other non-protected clinical income 
     - Injury cost recovery (including Road Traffic Act Income) 709 

 
1,020 

 
220,648 

 
212,074 

Other NHS clinical income includes 
   

    Direct Access 10,221 
 

9,349 

NICU 7,591 
 

6,790 

ICU 5,591 
 

5,482 

High Cost Drugs 11,701 
 

8,062 

 
35,104 

 
29,683 

All income from activities relates to commissioner requested services. 
 
3.2 Income from Activities (by type) 

 
2013/14 

 
2012/13 

 
£000 

 
£000 

Clinical Care Groups and NHS England 216,904 
 

0 

Primary Care Trusts 0 
 

210,439 

Local Authorities 2,750 
 

0 

NHS Foundation Trusts 0 
 

0 

NHS Trusts 0 
 

0 

Non NHS: 
         - Private patients 140 

 
369 

      - Overseas patients (non-reciprocal) 145 
 

246 

      - Injury cost recovery (including Road Traffic Act Income) 709 
 

1,020 

 
220,648 

 
212,074 

 

Injury Cost Recovery income is subject to a provision for doubtful debts of 15.8% (12.6% 2012/13) 
to reflect expected rates of collection.   
 
4 Other Operating Income 

 
2013/14 

 
2012/13 

 
£000 

 
£000 

Research and development 680 
 

763 

Education and training 6,024 
 

6,189 

Charitable and other contributions to expenditure 376 
 

453 

Non-patient care services to other bodies 5,842 
 

7,343 

Reversal of Impairment 760 
 

248 

Other income 18,463 
 

10,546 

Profit on disposal of property, plant and equipment 0 
 

10 

 
32,145 

 
25,552 
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Other Income includes 
   

 
2013/14 

 
2012/13 

 
£000 

 
£000 

Car parking 1,279 
 

1,448 

Staff accommodation 542 
 

481 

Creche 303 
 

344 

Catering 814 
 

799 

 
2,938 

 
3,072 

 
 

Revenue is almost totally from the supply of services.  Revenue from the sale of goods is immaterial. 
 

5 Operating Expenses (by type) 
 

Operating expenses comprise 

 

     
2013/14 

 
2012/13 

     
£000 

 
£000 

Services from other NHS Trusts 
    

8,975 
 

6,180 

Services from PCTs 
    

0 
 

118 

Services from Foundation Trusts 
    

1,370 
 

289 

Services from non NHS bodies 
    

1,128 
 

511 

Non executive Directors' costs 
    

161 
 

135 

Executive Directors' costs 
    

1,613 
 

908 

Staff costs 
    

164,319 
 

149,443 

Redundancy 
    

323 
 

0 

Supplies and services - clinical 
    

23,404 
 

24,510 

Supplies and services - general 
    

3,007 
 

2,875 

Drug Costs 
    

18,899 
 

14,956 

Consultancy services 
    

3,051 
 

1,682 

Establishment 
    

2,905 
 

2,438 

Transport 
    

353 
 

250 

Premises 
    

8,847 
 

7,797 

Increase / (decrease) in provision for impairment of receivables 
 

170 
 

77 

Depreciation  
    

8,364 
 

8,439 

Fixed asset impairments and reversals 
    

558 
 

413 

Loss on disposal 
    

4 
 

0 

Statutory audit fee 
    

77 
 

76 

Other auditor remuneration 
    

0 
 

2 

Clinical negligence 
    

4,925 
 

5,374 

Restructuring  
    

0 
 

1,705 

Other 
    

5,923 
 

6,591 

     
258,376 

 
234,769 

 
The Trust incurred £77,640 (2012/13 £76,000) in audit services fees in relation to the statutory audit 
of the Trust to 31 March 2014, which included the fees for auditing the Trust’s Quality Report for 
2013/14. In addition to the above, other auditor remuneration (audit related assurance services) in 
2012/13 comprised £1,700 paid in respect of the auditor’s involvement in providing information to 
other advisers to support the Trust’s proposed merger with Dartford and Gravesham NHS Trust. 
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6 Operating Leases 
 

As lessee 
 
Payments recognised as an expense       

     
£000 

 
£000 

Minimum lease payments 
    

424 
 

434 

     
424 

 
434 

         

 Total future minimum lease payments 
 

 
Buildings 

 
Other 

 
Total 

 
Total 

Payable: £000 
 

£000 
 

£000 
 

£000 

Not later than one year 139 
 

189 
 

328 
 

409 

Between one and five years 417 
 

199 
 

616 
 

606 

Total 556 
 

388 
 

944 
 

1,015 

         

In general, operating leases are for various pieces of equipment and are for a five year period.  
Generally all equipment leases are taken out under the ‘NHS Conditions of Contract for the Lease 
of Goods.’  None of these equipment leases are deemed to be significant or described as 
specialised in nature, with the largest being £47,000 in annual payments.  The Trust has also 
entered into an operating lease for the use of a building which is for a fifteen year period, but with a 
break clause at years five and ten, provided that six months’ prior written notice has been given. 
 

7 The late payment of commercial debts (interest) Act 1998 
 

The late payment of commercial debts (interest) Act 1998 
   

     
£000 

 
£000 

        Amounts included within other interest payable arising from claims 
 

1 
 

1 

made under this legislation 
        

8 Employee expenses and numbers 

 
8.1  Employee Costs 

 
  2013/14 2012/13 

     

 

Total Permanently 
Employed 

Other Total Permanently 
Employed 

Other 

     

 

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

     

            Salaries and wages 142,073 118,252 23,821 127,805 114,288 13,517 
     Social Security Costs 10,090 10,090 0 9,814 9,625 189 
     Employer contributions to  

NHS Pension Scheme 13,591 13,591 0 12,732 12,658 74 
     Termination benefits 501 501 0 1,401 1,401 0 
     

   
                

  
                

     

 
166,255 142,434 23,821 151,752 137,972 13,780 

       
This analysis excludes non executive director costs of £161,000 (2012/13 £135,000) and 
capitalised staff costs of £206,000 (2012/13 £205,000) 
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8.2   Directors’ Remuneration and Other Benefits 
 

  
2013/14 2012/13 

  
£000 £000 

Directors Remuneration 
 

1,227 787 
Social Security Costs 

 
105 56 

Employer contributions to NHS Pension 
scheme 

 
103 65 

    Total Remuneration 
 

1,435 908 

  

8 directors (2012/13 5) are accruing pension benefits under the NHS Pension Scheme (Defined 
benefits) 

 
8.3   Average number of persons employed 

 

 
2013/14 2012/13 

 

Total Permanently 
Employed 

Other Total Permanently 
Employed 

Other 

 
Number Number Number Number Number Number 

       Medical and dental 505 465 40 476 453 23 

Administration and estates 1,144 1,049 95 1,088 989 99 

Healthcare assistants and other support staff 591 591 0 542 542 0 

Nursing, midwifery and health visiting staff 1,261 1,087 174 1,195 1,035 160 

Nursing, midwifery and health visiting learners 19 19 0 19 19 0 

Scientific, therapeutic and technical staff 309 279 30 288 266 22 

  
                

  
                

 Total 3,828 3,490 339 3,608 3,304 304 

 
 

8.4   Staff Sickness 
 

  
2013/14 2012/13 

  
Number Number 

Days lost (long term) 
 

23,376 29,777 

Days lost (short term) 
 

21,644 21,925 

Total days lost 
 

45,020 51,702 
Total Staff Years 

 
3,490 3,304 

Average working days lost 
 

12.9 15.6 
Total staff employed in period (headcount) 

 
4,115 3,880 

Total staff employed in period with no absence 
(headcount) 1,657 1,157 

Percentage staff with no sick leave 
 

40.3% 29.8% 
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8.5 Reporting of other compensation schemes - exit packages 

 
 

 2013/14 

 

Number of 
compulsory 

redundancies 

Cost of 
compulsory 

redundancies 

Number of 
other 

departures 
agreed 

Cost of other 
departures 

agreed 

Total number 
of exit 

packages 

Total cost of 
exit 

packages 

Exit package cost band Number £000s Number £000s Number £000s 

<£10,000 0 0 2 4 2 4 

£10,001 - £25,000 0 0 1 16 1 16 

£25,001 - 50,000 0 0 2 78 2 78 

£50,001 - £100,000 0 0 2 129 2 129 

£100,001 - £150,000 0 0 1 111 1 111 

£150,001 - £200,000 0 0 1 163 1 163 

>£200,001 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Total 0 0 9 501 9 501 

        2012/13 

 

Number of 
compulsory 

redundancies 

Cost of 
compulsory 

redundancies 

Number of 
other 

departures 
agreed 

Cost of other 
departures 

agreed 

Total number 
of exit 

packages 
Total cost of 

exit packages 

Exit package cost band Number £000s Number £000s Number £000s 

<£10,000 2 15 16 67 18 82 

£10,001 - £25,000 4 82 4 57 8 139 

£25,001 - 50,000 3 130 1 36 4 166 

£50,001 - £100,000 2 158 0 0 2 158 

£100,001 - £150,000 1 134 0 0 1 134 

£150,001 - £200,000 4 682 0 0 4 682 

>£200,001 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Total 16 1,201 21 160 37 1,361 

 
 

 
There have been no (2012/13 0)  departures where special payments have been made. 
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9 Pension costs 
 

Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the NHS Pensions Scheme. 
Details of the benefits payable under these provisions can be found on the NHS Pensions 
website at www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/pensions. The scheme is an unfunded, defined benefit 
scheme that covers NHS employers, GP practices and other bodies, allowed under the 
direction of the Secretary of State, in England and Wales. The scheme is not designed to be 
run in a way that would enable NHS bodies to identify their share of the underlying scheme 
assets and liabilities. Therefore, the scheme is accounted for as if it were a defined 
contribution scheme: the cost to the NHS Body of participating in the scheme is taken as 
equal to the contributions payable to the scheme for the accounting period.  
In order that the defined benefit obligations recognised in the financial statements do not 
differ materially from those that would be determined at the reporting date by a formal 
actuarial valuation, the FReM requires that “the period between formal valuations shall be 
four years, with approximate assessments in intervening years”. An outline of these follows:  

 
a) Accounting valuation 

A valuation of the scheme liability is carried out annually by the scheme actuary as at the end 
of the reporting period. This utilises an actuarial assessment for the previous accounting 
period in conjunction with updated membership and financial data for the current reporting 
period, and are accepted as providing suitably robust figures for financial reporting purposes. 
The valuation of the scheme liability as at 31 March 2014, is based on valuation data as 31 
March 2013, updated to 31 March 2014 with summary global member and accounting data. 
In undertaking this actuarial assessment, the methodology prescribed in IAS 19, relevant 
FReM interpretations, and the discount rate prescribed by HM Treasury have also been 
used. 
The latest assessment of the liabilities of the scheme is contained in the scheme actuary 
report, which forms part of the annual NHS Pension Scheme (England and Wales) Pension 
Accounts, published annually. These accounts can be viewed on the NHS Pensions website. 
Copies can also be obtained from The Stationery Office. 

 
b) Full actuarial (funding) valuation 

The purpose of this valuation is to assess the level of liability in respect of the benefits due 
under the scheme (taking into account its recent demographic experience), and to 
recommend the contribution rates. 
The last published actuarial valuation undertaken for the NHS Pension Scheme was 
completed for the year ending 31 March 2004. Consequently, a formal actuarial valuation 
would have been due for the year ending 31 March 2008. However, formal actuarial 
valuations for unfunded public service schemes were suspended by HM Treasury on value 
for money grounds while consideration is given to recent changes to public service pensions, 
and while future scheme terms are developed as part of the reforms to public service pension 
provision due in 2015. 
The Scheme Regulations were changed to allow contribution rates to be set by the Secretary 
of State for Health, with the consent of HM Treasury, and consideration of the advice of the 
Scheme Actuary and appropriate employee and employer representatives as deemed 
appropriate. 
The next formal valuation to be used for funding purposes will be carried out as at March 
2012 and will be used to inform the contribution rates to be used from 1 April 2015. 

 
c) Scheme provisions 

The NHS Pension Scheme provided defined benefits, which are summarised below. This list 
is an illustrative guide only, and is not intended to detail all the benefits provided by the 
Scheme or the specific conditions that must be met before these benefits can be obtained: 
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The Scheme is a “final salary” scheme. Annual pensions are normally based on 1/80th for 
the 1995 section and of the best of the last three years pensionable pay for each year of 
service, and 1/60th for the 2008 section of reckonable pay per year of membership. Members 
who are practitioners as defined by the Scheme Regulations have their annual pensions 
based upon total pensionable earnings over the relevant pensionable service. 
With effect from 1 April 2008 members can choose to give up some of their annual pension 
for an additional tax free lump sum, up to a maximum amount permitted under HMRC rules. 
This new provision is known as “pension commutation”. 
Annual increases are applied to pension payments at rates defined by the Pensions 
(Increase) Act 1971, and are based on changes in retail prices in the twelve months ending 
30 September in the previous calendar year. From 2011-12 the Consumer Price Index (CPI) 
has been used and replaced the Retail Prices Index (RPI). 
Early payment of a pension, with enhancement, is available to members of the scheme who 
are permanently incapable of fulfilling their duties effectively through illness or infirmity. A 
death gratuity of twice final year’s pensionable pay for death in service, and five times their 
annual pension for death after retirement is payable. 
For early retirements other than those due to ill health the additional pension liabilities are not 
funded by the scheme. The full amount of the liability for the additional costs is charged to 
the employer. 
Members can purchase additional service in the NHS Scheme and contribute to money 
purchase AVC’s run by the Scheme’s approved providers or by other Free Standing 
Additional Voluntary Contributions (FSAVC) providers. 

 
d) Alternative Pension Scheme 

For those employees who do not have access to the NHS pensions scheme but who are 
otherwise classified as employees with an entitlement to automatic enrolment in an 
appropriate pension the Trust has put in place an alternative workplace pension scheme. 
This scheme is administered by NEST (National Employment Savings Trust) and is a defined 
contribution pension scheme. The total contribution costs for this scheme for the financial 
year 2013-14 amount to £1,236. 

 

10 Retirements due to ill-health 
 

During 2013/14 there was 3 (2012/13, 3) early retirements from the Trust on the grounds of 
ill-health.  The estimated additional pension liabilities of these ill-health retirements will be 
£136,963 (2012/13, £247,274).  The cost of these ill-health retirements will be borne by the 
NHS Business Services Authority - Pensions Division. 

 

11 Finance income 

     
2013/14 

 
2012/13 

     
£000 

 
£000 

        Interest on bank accounts 
    

32 
 

109 

     
32 

 
109 

 
12 Finance costs – interest expense 

     
2013/14 

 
2012/13 

     
£000 

 
£000 

        Loans from the Independent Trust Financing Facility 
    

40 
 

1 

Finance leases 
    

67 
 

90 

Working Capital Facility 
    

1 
 

0 

Other 
    

1 
 

1 

     
109 

 
92 
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13. Property, plant and equipment 
 
13.1 Property, plant and equipment 2013/14 

 

Land  

 

Buildings 
excluding 
dwellings 

 

Dwellings  

 

Assets under 
construction 

and POA 

 

Plant and 
machinery  

 

Transport 
equipment  

 

Information 
technology  

 

Furniture 
& fittings  

 

Total 

 
£000  

 
£000  

 
£000  

 
£000  

 
£000  

 
£000  

 
£000  

 
£000  

 
£000  

Cost or valuation at 1 April 2013 20,400 
 

104,683 
 

6,259 
 

2,858 
 

36,672 
 

485 
 

10,696 
 

10,245 
 

192,298 

Additions - purchased  0 
 

28 
 

0 
 

10,107 
 

1,763 
 

57 ` 660 
 

0 
 

12,615 

Additions - donated  0 
 

0 
 

0 
 

0 
 

273 
 

0 
 

1 
 

5 
 

279 

Additions - leased 0 
 

0 
 

0 
 

0 
 

0 
 

0 
 

0 
 

0 
 

0 

Impairments  0 
 

(787)  
 

(10)  
 

0 
 

0 
 

0 
 

0 
 

0 
 

(797)  

Reversal of impairments 0 
 

760 
 

0 
 

0 
 

0 
 

0 
 

0 
 

0 
 

760 

Reclassifications 0 
 

5,189 
 

122 
 

(7,273)  
 

1,129 
 

0 
 

666 
 

167 
 

0 

Revaluation  520 
 

(2,103)  
 

(158)  
 

0 
 

0 
 

0 
 

0 
 

0 
 

(1,741)  

Disposals  0 
 

(9)  
 

0 
 

0 
 

(342)  
 

(399)  
 

(2,338)  
 

(6,980)  
 

(10,068)  

Cost or Valuation at 31 March 2014 20,920 
 

107,761 
 

6,213 
 

5,692 
 

39,495 
 

143 
 

9,685 
 

3,437 
 

193,346 

                  Depreciation at 1 April 2013 0 
 

284 
 

96 
 

0 
 

29,002 
 

477 
 

7,568 
 

9,290 
 

46,717 

Provided during the year  0 
 

4,147 
 

256 
 

0 
 

2,540 
 

1 
 

1,159 
 

261 
 

8,364 

Impairments  0 
 

0 
 

0 
 

0 
 

0 
 

0 
 

0 
 

0 
 

0 

Reversal of impairments 0 
 

0 
 

0 
 

0 
 

0 
 

0 
 

0 
 

0 
 

0 

Revaluation  0 
 

(4,065)  
 

(296)  
 

0 
 

0 
 

0 
 

0 
 

0 
 

(4,361)  

Disposals  0 
 

(5)  
 

0 
 

0 
 

(342)  
 

(399)  
 

(2,338)  
 

(6,980)  
 

(10,064)  

Depreciation at 31 March 2014 0 
 

361 
 

56 
 

0 
 

31,200 
 

79 
 

6,389 
 

2,571 
 

40,656 

                  Net book value  
                 - Owned at 1 April 2013 20,400 

 
103,317 

 
6,123 

 
2,816 

 
4,667 

 
0 

 
2,488 

 
922 

 
140,733 

- Finance lease at 1 April 2013 0 

 
0 

 
0 

 
0 

 
2,074 

 
0 

 
622 

 
0 

 
2,696 

- Government Granted at 1 April 2013 0 

 
0 

 
0 

 
0 

 
0 

 
0 

 
0 

 
0 

 
0 

- Donated at 1 April 2013 0 
 

1,082 
 

40 
 

42 
 

929 
 

8 
 

18 
 

33 
 

2,152 

- Total at 1 April 2013 20,400 
 

104,399 
 

6,163 
 

2,858 
 

7,670 
 

8 
 

3,128 
 

955 
 

145,581 

                  - Owned at 31 March 2014 20,920 
 

106,310 
 

6,157 
 

5,692 
 

6,049 
 

58 
 

2,841 
 

842 
 

148,869 

- Finance lease at 31 March 2014 0 

 
0 

 
0 

 
0 

 
1,295 

 
0 

 
441 

 
0 

 
1,736 

- Government Granted at 31 March 2014 0 
 

0 
 

0 
 

0 
 

0 
 

0 
 

0 
 

0 

 
0 

- Donated at 31 March 2014 0 
 

1,090 
 

0 
 

0 
 

951 
 

6 
 

14 
 

24 
 

2,085 

- Total at 31 March 2014 20,920 
 

107,400 
 

6,157 
 

5,692 
 

8,295 
 

64 
 

3,296 
 

866 
 

152,690 
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13.2 Property, plant and equipment 2012/13 

 

 

Land  

 

Buildings 
excluding 
dwellings 

 

Dwelling
s  

 

Assets under 
construction 

and POA 

 

Plant and 
machiner

y  

 

Transport 
equipmen

t  

 

Informatio
n 

technology  

 

Furniture 
& fittings  

 

Total 

 
£000  

 
£000  

 
£000  

 
£000  

 
£000  

 
£000  

 
£000  

 
£000  

 
£000  

Cost or valuation at 1 April 2012 
20,37

0 
 

106,805 
 

6,086 
 

1,372 
 

35,518 
 

485 
 

10,112 
 

10,218 
 

190,966 

Additions - purchased  0 
 

21 
 

0 
 

4,250 
 

1,128 
 

0 
 

275 
 

2 
 

5,676 

Additions - donated  0 
 

27 
 

0 
 

42 
 

247 
 

0 
 

17 
 

7 
 

340 

Additions - leased 0 
 

0 
 

0 
 

0 
 

145 
 

0 
 

26 
 

0 
 

171 

Impairments  0 
 

(354)  
 

(1)  
 

0 
 

0 
 

0 
 

0 
 

0 
 

(355)  

Reclassifications 0 
 

2,245 
 

147 
 

(2,806)  
 

130 
 

0 
 

266 
 

18 
 

0 

Revaluation  30 
 

(4,061)  
 

27 
 

0 
 

0 
 

0 
 

0 
 

0 
 

(4,004)  

Disposals  0 
 

0 
 

0 
 

0 
 

(496)  
 

0 
 

0 
 

0 
 

(496)  

Cost or Valuation at 31 March 2013 
20,40

0 
 

104,683 
 

6,259 
 

2,858 
 

36,672 
 

485 
 

10,696 
 

10,245 
 

192,298 

                  Depreciation at 1 April 2012 0 
 

207 
 

56 
 

0 
 

26,893 
 

475 
 

6,400 
 

9,029 
 

43,060 

Provided during the year  0 
 

4,173 
 

230 
 

0 
 

2,605 
 

2 
 

1,168 
 

261 
 

8,439 

Impairments  0 
 

413 
 

0 
 

0 
 

0 
 

0 
 

0 
 

0 
 

413 

Reversal of impairments 0 
 

(248)  
 

0 
 

0 
 

0 
 

0 
 

0 
 

0 
 

(248)  

Revaluation  0 
 

(4,261)  
 

(190)  
 

0 
 

0 
 

0 
 

0 
 

0 
 

(4,451)  

Disposals  0 
 

0 
 

0 
 

0 
 

(496)  
 

0 
 

0 
 

0 
 

(496)  

Depreciation at 31 March 2013 0 
 

284 
 

96 
 

0 
 

29,002 
 

477 
 

7,568 
 

9,290 
 

46,717 
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13.3  Property, plant and equipment (contd) 

 
Of the totals at 31 March 2014, £200,000 related to land valued at open market value, 
none related to buildings valued at open market value and none related to dwellings 
valued at open market value. 
 
During the year assets have been donated by the following organisations; 
Medway NHS Foundation Trust Charitable Fund  £7,609 
Medway League of Friends     £211,026 
Oliver Fisher Special Care Baby Unit    £60,251 
 
 

13.4 Impairments charged to operating surplus / (deficit) 
 

 
2013/14 

 
2012/13 

Property, plant and Equipment £000 
 

£000 

Changes in market price 558 
 

413 

Reversal of impairments (760)  
 

(248)  

    TOTAL (202) 
 

165 

     
 

13.5  Economic lives and valuations  
 

Information on the economic life of property, plant and equipment is included in the 
accounting policies. 
 
During the year the land, buildings and dwellings were valued by the Valuation Office 
Agency on a Modern Equivalent Asset basis. 

 
14 Inventories 
 
14.1 Inventories 

 
£000 

 
£000 

    Drugs 1,483 
 

1,370 

Consumables 4,318 
 

4,222 

    TOTAL  5,801 
 

5,592 

      

14.2 Inventories recognised in expenses 

 

 
2013/14 

 
2012/13 

 
£000 

 
£000 

Carrying value as at 1st April 5,592 
 

5,460 

Additions 38,976 
 

38,340 

Inventories recognised as an expense in the year (38,767)  
 

(38,208)  

    Carrying value as at 31st March 5,801 
 

5,592 
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15 Trade receivables and other receivables 
 

 
31 March 2014 

 
31 March 2013 

 
£000 

 
£000 

Current: 
   NHS receivables 17,277 

 
9,394 

Provision for impaired receivables (285) 
 

(426) 

Prepayments, accrued income and deferred expenditure 3,237 
 

1,231 

PDC dividend receivable 0 
 

128 

Other receivables 2,792 
 

5,050 

    TOTAL 23,021 
 

15,377 

    

 
31 March 2014 

 
31 March 2013 

 
£000 

 
£000 

Non-Current: 
   Provision for impaired receivables (89) 

 
0 

Other receivables 565 
 

0 

    TOTAL 476 
 

0 

 

 The majority of trade is with Clinical Commissioning Groups, as commissioners for NHS patient 
care services. As Clinical Commissioning Groups are funded by Government to buy NHS patient 
care services, no credit scoring of them is considered necessary. 
 
Road Traffic Accident receivables were included entirely as current receivables at 31 March 
2013. At 31 March 2014, an estimate of the amount likely to be recovered after more than one 
year has been included as non-current. No adjustments have been made to the classification as 
at 31 March 2013. 

 
16 Provision for impairment of receivables 

 
 

 
31 March 2014 

 
31 March 2013 

 
£000 

 
£000 

    Balance at 1 April  426 
 

349 

Increase / (decrease) in provision 170 
 

77 

Amount utilised (222)  
 

0 

Balance at 31 March  374 
 

426 

 
 

This principally relates to a provision for doubtful debts of 15.8% (2012/13 12.6%) for Road 
Traffic Act income. 

 
17 Analysis of receivables past due impaired and non-impaired 

 
  

 
31 March 2014 

 
31 March 2013 

 
£000 

 
£000 

Ageing of past due impaired receivables 
   Over 180 days 374 

 
426 

 
374 

 
426 
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Ageing of past due non-impaired receivables 
   0 - 30 days 309 

 
961 

30-60 Days 76 
 

382 

60-90 days 113 
 

221 

90- 180 days 313 
 

572 

over 180 days 1,197 
 

1,013 

 
2,008 

 
3,149 

 

18 Other Current Assets 

     
31 March 2014 

 
31 March 2013 

     
£000 

 
£000 

        EU Emissions Trading Scheme 
   

0 
 

6 

  

19 Trade and other payables 

       
     

31 March 2014 
 

31 March 2013 

      
£000 

 
£000 

Current 
       NHS payables 
    

2,031 
 

4,573 

Non - NHS trade payables - revenue 
   

15,106 
 

12,683 

Non - NHS trade payables - capital 
   

5,127 
 

3,348 

Social security costs 
    

1,486 
 

1,403 

Other payables 
    

303 
 

304 

PDC Payable 
    

109 
 

0 

Accruals 
    

8,439 
 

4,692 

      
                

 
               

TOTAL 
    

32,601 
 

27,003 

  

Non - NHS payables include £1,898,294 outstanding pensions contributions at 31 March 2014 
(31 March 2013 £1,699,266). 

 

20 Other liabilities 

      
31 March 2014 

 
31 March 2013 

      
£000 

 
£000 

Current 
       Deferred Income Goods and Services 

   
1,655 

 
0 

Other Deferred Income 
    

17 
 

36 

         TOTAL 
    

1,672 
 

36 

 

21 Borrowings 

      
31 March 2014 

 
31 March 2013 

      
£000 

 
£000 

Current 
       Other loans 
    

40 
 

40 

Obligations under finance leases 
   

864 
 

965 

Foundation Trust Financing Facility 
   

1,128 
 

229 

      
2,032 

 
1,234 

Non Current 
       Other loans 
    

155 
 

218 

Obligations under finance leases 
   

837 
 

1,705 

Foundation Trust Financing Facility 
   

8,779 
 

1,372 

      
9,771 

 
3,295 
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22 Finance lease obligations 
 

Amounts payable under finance leases 

   
Minimum Lease Payments 

 

Present value of minimum 
lease payments 

   

31 March 
2014 

 

31 March 
2013 

 

31 March 
2014 

 

31 March 
2013 

  

 
£000  £000 

 
£000 

 
£000 

          Within one year 

  
864 

 
965 

 
864 

 
965 

Between one and five years 
  

894 
 

1,820 
 

837 
 

1,705 
Less future finance charges         

  
(57)  

 
(115)  

 
0 

 
0 

Present value of minimum 
lease payments 

  
1,701 

 
2,670 

 
1,701 

 
2,670 

          Included in: 

           Current borrowings 

 

 

    
864 

 
965 

  Non-current borrowings 

      
837 

 
1,705 

       
1,701 

 
2,670 

 
The finance leases relate to plant and machinery, the largest are for a MRI Scanner, and IT 
hardware and are for a five year period. 

  
23 Provisions for liabilities and charges 

 

 
Current 

 
Non-Current 

 

31 March 
2014 

 

31 March 
2013 

 

31 March 
2014 

 

31 March 
2013 

 
£000 

 
£000 

 
£000 

 
£000 

Pensions relating to staff 73 
 

73 
 

725 
 

724 

Legal claims 78 
 

99 
 

0 
 

0 

Dilapidation 0 
 

0 
 

114 
 

114 

        TOTAL 151 
 

172 
 

839 
 

838 

 
  

 

Pensions 
relating to 

staff 

 

Legal 
claims 

 

Dilapidation 
provision 

 

Total 

 
£000 

 
£000 

 
£000 

 
£000 

        At 1 April 2013 797 
 

99 
 

114 
 

1,010 

Change in the discount rate 27 
 

0 
 

0 
 

27 

Arising during the year 26 
 

34 
 

0 
 

60 

Utilised during the year (74) 
 

(24) 
 

0 
 

(98) 

Reversed unused 0 
 

(31) 
 

0 
 

(31) 

Unwinding of discount 22 
 

0 
 

0 
 

22 

At 31 March 2014 798 
 

78 
 

114 
 

990 

Expected timing of cashflows: 
      Within one year 73 
 

78 
 

0 
 

151 

Between one and five years 278 
 

0 
 

0 
 

278 

After five years 447 
 

0 
 

114 
 

561 

 
798 

 
78 

 
114 

 
990 
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The provision for pensions relating to other staff reflects the liabilities due to early retirements 
prior to 6 March 1995. The legal claims provision reflects liabilities arising from Public and 
Employee Liability claims. 
          
The dilapidation provision relates to the cost to bring the leased property at Stirling Park back 
to its original condition. 
          

£45,725,636 is included in the provisions of the NHS Litigation Authority at 31 March 2014 in 
respect of clinical negligence liabilities of the Trust (31 March 2013 at £37,219,378). 
 

24 Cash and cash equivalents 
 

  

At 1 
April 
2013 

 Cash 
changes 
2013/14 

 

At 31 
March 

2014 

  
£000 

 
£000 

 
£000 

       Government Banking Service cash at bank 
 

6,956 
 

(751) 
 

6,205 

Commercial cash at bank and in hand 
 

155 
 

(71) 
 

84 

       Cash and cash equivalents as in Statement of Cash Flows 
and Statement of Financial Position 

 
7,111 

 
(822)  

 
6,289 

  

25 Capital Commitments 
 

There were no commitments under capital expenditure contracts at 31 March 2014 (£0 at 
31 March 2013). 

 

26 Contingencies 
 

The contingent liabilities relating to the Trust as at 31 March 2014 were £28,105 (£32,000 at 
31 March 2013) relating to NHS Litigation Authority Legal Claims. 
 
The Trust has continued to pursue, through mediation, the performance and resolution of 
defects/snags arising from a previous contract for the redevelopment of Medway Hospital. 

 
27 Related Party Transactions  
 

The Medway NHS Foundation Trust is a corporate body established by order of the 
Secretary of State for Health. 
        
During the year none of the Board Members or members of the key management staff or 
parties related to them has undertaken any material transactions with the Trust. 

        
The Department of Health is regarded as a related party.  During the year the Trust has had 
a significant number of material transactions with the Department, and with other entities for 
which the Department is regarded as the parent Department.  These entities are listed 
below: 

        
NHS England and Clinical Commissioning Groups        
NHS Trusts and NHS Foundation Trusts        
NHS Arms Length Bodies        
Other Government Departments        
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The main entities with which the Trust had material transactions are within the Kent and 
Medway Health Economy, or are Arms Length Bodies and are: 

 
 

 
2013/14 2013/14 31 March 2014 31 March 2014 

 
Payments 

to 
Related 

Party 

Receipts 
from 

Related 
Party 

Amounts owed 
to related Party 

Amounts due 
from Related 

Party 

 
£000 £000 £000 £000 

     NHS England 16 29,020 0 7,666 

     Clinical Commissioning Groups 
    NHS Dartford, Gravesham And Swanley 

CCG 0 9,395 0 150 
NHS Medway CCG 0 131,835 1,228 4,086 
NHS Swale CCG 0 44,362 427 1,603 
NHS West Kent CCG 0 6,422 88 292 
     

NHS Trusts     

Dartford and Gravesham NHS Trust 3,251 804 345 75 
Kent and Medway NHS and Social Care 
NHS Trust 361 1,575 46 425 
Kent Community Healthcare 1,330 401 195 170 
Maidstone and Tunbridge Wells NHS Trust 3,797 702 701 306 
Brighton and Sussex University Hospitals 
NHS Trust 

8 2,567 7 81 

     NHS Foundation Trusts 
    East Kent Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust 211 1,991 91 273 

     NHS Arms Length Bodies 
    NHS Business Services Authority 0 0 0 0 

NHS Litigation Authority 5,102 0 0 6 

NHS Pensions Agency 23,681 0 0 0 

Health Education England 25 3,290 0 509 

     Other Government Departments 
    HM Revenue and Customs 10,090 0 3,392 373 

Medway Council 0 2,300 0 0 

     The Trust has also received income from charitable funds where the Trust is the corporate 
Trustee 

 Medway NHS Foundation Trust Charitable 
Fund 0 97 4 0 
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2012/13 2012/13 31 March 2013 31 March 2013 

 
Payments 

to 
Related 

Party 

Receipts 
from 

Related 
Party 

Amounts owed 
to related Party 

Amounts due 
from Related 

Party 

 
£000 £000 £000 £000 

     Strategic Health Authorities 
    South East Coast Strategic Health 

Authority 0 687 0 124 

     Primary Care Trusts 

    Eastern and Coastal Kent Primary Care 
Trust 0 49,603 150 2,035 
Medway Primary Care Trust 0 145,988 1,500 3,750 
West Kent Primary Care Trust 118 16,682 88 1,008 
   

  NHS Trusts   

  Dartford and Gravesham NHS Trust 3,117 718 370 199 
Kent and Medway NHS and Social Care 
NHS Trust 417 1,337 60 155 

Kent Community Healthcare 1,118 248 204 46 
Maidstone and Tunbridge Wells NHS 
Trust 3,498 774 1,194 370 
Brighton and Sussex University Hospitals 
NHS Trust 1 4,536 0 137 

     NHS Foundation Trusts 

    East Kent Hospitals NHS Foundation 
Trust 206 1,946 63 286 

     NHS Arms Length Bodies 

    NHS Business Services Authority 0 0 0 0 

NHS Litigation Authority 5,516 0 0 6 

NHS Pensions Agency 12,732 0 1,701 0 

     Other Government Departments 
    HM Revenue and Customs 9,814 0 2,914 0 

Medway Council 1,467 0 0 0 

     The Trust has also received income from charitable funds where the Trust is the 
corporate Trustee 

 Medway NHS Foundation Trust Charitable 
Fund 0 162 0 0 
 

28 Financial Instruments  
 
Financial reporting standard IFRS 7 requires disclosure of the role that financial instruments 
have had during the period in creating or changing the risks an entity faces in undertaking its 
activities.  The Trust actively seeks to minimise its financial risks.  In line with this policy, the 
Trust neither buys nor sells financial instruments.  Financial assets and liabilities are 
generated by day-to-day operational activities rather than being held to change the risks 
facing the Trust in undertaking its activities. 
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The Trust holds surplus cash based on forecasted cash flows with the Government Banking 
Service in order to minimise the PDC dividend charge. 
  
Interest-Rate Risk 

 
All of the Trust's financial liabilities carry nil or fixed rates of interest. The only element of 
the Trust's assets that are subject to a variable rate are short term cash investments.  The 
Trust is not, therefore, exposed to significant interest-rate risk.   

 
Foreign Currency Risk 

 
The Trust has negligible foreign currency income or expenditure. 

 
Credit Risk 

 
The Trust operates primarily within the NHS market and receives the majority of its income 
from other NHS organisations.  There is therefore little risk that one party will fail to 
discharge its obligations with the other.  Disputes can arise, however, around how the 
amounts owed are calculated, particularly due to the complex nature of the Payments by 
Results regime.  For this reason the Trust makes a provision for irrecoverable amounts 
based on historic patterns and the best information available at the time the accounts are 
prepared.  The Trust does not hold any collateral as security. 

 
Liquidity Risk 
 
The Trust's net operating costs are incurred under contracts with local Clinical 
Commissioning Groups, which are financed from resources voted annually by Parliament.  
The Trust received such contract income in accordance with Payments by Results (PBR), 
which is intended to match the income received in year to the activity delivered in that year 
by reference to the National Tariff procedure cost.  The Trust receives cash each month 
based on an annually agreed level of contract activity and there are monthly payments 
made to adjust for the actual income due under PBR.  The Trust has continued to put in 
place a £17,000,000 working capital facility with its current Bankers, which has been 
utilised during the year.  This was fully repaid as at the 31st March 2014. 

 
The Trust presently finances its capital expenditure from internally generated funds or 
funds made available from Government, in the form of additional Public Dividend Capital, 
under an agreed limit.  In addition, the Trust can borrow from the Foundation Trust 
Financing Facility and commercially to finance capital schemes.  Financing is drawn down 
to match the capital spend profile of the scheme concerned and the Trust is not, therefore, 
exposed to significant liquidity risks in this area. 
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Financial assets by category 
 
The Trust does not hold any financial assets or liabilities that are held at fair value through 
Income and Expenditure.  All financial assets are shown within loans and receivables and 
financial liabilities are shown as other. 
 

  

Loans and 
receivables 

 
Book Value 

 
Fair Value 

  
£000  

 
£000  

 
£000  

At 31 March 2014 
      Trade and other receivables 
 

22,320 
 

22,320 
 

22,320 

Cash and cash equivalents 
 

6,289 
 

6,289 
 

6,289 

  
28,609 

 
28,609 

 
28,609 

       At 31 March 2013 
      Trade and other receivables 
 

14,018 
 

14,018 
 

14,018 

Cash and cash equivalents 
 

7,111 
 

7,111 
 

7,111 

  
21,129 

 
21,129 

 
21,129 

 
 

Almost all financial assets are recoverable within one year, except  RTA debt  £476,000 
where the fair value is not materially different to the carrying value. 
 
 
Financial liabilities by category 

 

  
Other 

 
Book Value 

 
Fair Value 

  
£000  

 
£000  

 
£000  

At 31 March 2014 
      Borrowings excluding finance leases 
 

10,102 
 

10,102 
 

10,102 

Finance leases 
 

1,701 
 

1,701 
 

1,701 

Trade and other payables 
 

32,492 
 

32,492 
 

32,492 

  
44,295 

 
44,295 

 
44,295 

       At 31 March 2013 
      Borrowings excluding finance leases 
 

1,859 
 

1,859 
 

1,859 

Finance leases 
 

2,670 
 

2,670 
 

2,670 

Trade and other payables 
 

24,089 
 

24,089 
 

24,089 

  
28,618 

 
28,618 

 
28,618 

       

       Maturity of financial liabilities 
      

    

31 March 
2014 

 

31 March 
2013 

    
£000 

 
£000 

       In one year or less 
   

36,098 
 

25,321 

In more than one year but not more than two years 
   

1,191 
 

1,233 

In more than two years but not more than five years 
   

2,156 
 

1,606 

In more than five years 
   

4,850 
 

458 

    
44,295 

 
28,618 
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29 Third Party Assets  
 

The Trust held £4,353 cash at bank and in hand at 31 March 2014 (£9,471 at 31 March 
2013) which relates to monies held on behalf of patients.  This has been excluded from 
cash at bank and in hand figure reported in the accounts. 

 

30 Losses and Special Payments  
 

 
2013/14 2012/13 

 
Number £000 Number £000 

1 Cash Losses 
  

2 >1 

     2 Fruitless payments, abandoned capital 
schemes and constructive losses 

    
     3 Bad debts and claims abandoned 

    a Private Patients 18 1 
  b Overseas visitors 21 139 29 41 

c Others 1682 488 
  

     4 Damage to buildings, 
fittings,furniture,equipment;loss of equipment 
and property 2 >1 

  
     5 Compensation payments made under legal 
obligation 

    
     6 Extra contractual payments to contractors 

    
     7 Ex Gratia payments 

    a Loss of personal effects of staff and patients 10 2 8 2 
b Clinical negligence with advice 4 6 

  c Personal injury with advice 5 32 15 74 
d Other negligence and injury 3 >1 2 2 
e Other employment payments 

    f  Patient referrals outside the UK and EEA 
guidelines 

    g  Other 2 7 6 1 
h  maladministration, no financial loss 

  
1 >1 

     8  Special Severance Payments 
    

     9 Extra statutory and extra regulationary 
payments 

    
     TOTALS 1747 676 61 120 

 
There were 0 cases where the net payment exceeded £100,000 (2012/13: 0 cases). 
 
These amounts are reported on an accruals basis but excluding provisions for future losses. 

 
Clinical negligence cases are managed by the National Health Service Litigation Authority and 
transactions relating to such cases are held in their accounts.  The Trust pays a premium for 
their services and excesses on some cases.  Therefore, these cases have not been accounted 
for in the Trust’s accounts. 



 

  



 

  




